
 
Argyll and Bute Council 
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid 
 
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry 
 

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT 
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435 

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD 
 

14 April 2021 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
A meeting of the PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE will be 
held BY SKYPE on WEDNESDAY, 21 APRIL 2021 at 11:00 AM, which you are requested to 
attend. 
 
 

Douglas Hendry 
Executive Director 

 

 
BUSINESS 

 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 3. MINUTES  

  (a) Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at  
11.00 am (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

  (b) Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at  
2.00 pm (Pages 7 - 14) 
 

  (c) Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at  
2.30 pm (Pages 15 - 18) 
 

  (d) Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at  
3.00 pm (Pages 19 - 20) 
 

 4. PEARSON PROPERTY PROMOTIONS LIMITED: SITE FOR THE ERECTION OF 
OFFICE DEVELOPMENT (CLASS 4) AND PUBLIC HOUSE (SUI GENERIS)/FOOD 
AND DRINK (CLASS 3) WITH ACCESS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS: LAND TO 
THE NORTH AND WEST OF IONA STABLES, CARDROSS (REF: 20/00911/PPP) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 21 – 56) 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 5. ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL: EXTENSION TO EXISTING CAR MARSHALLING 
AREA AND FORMATION OF VEHICULAR ACCESS: LAND NORTH WEST OF 
THE PIER, CRAIGNURE, ISLE OF MULL (REF: 20/00940/PP) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 57 – 78) 
 

 6. MACLEOD CONSTRUCTION LIMITED: NORTH EASTERN EXTENSION TO 
EXISTING SAND AND GRAVEL QUARRY, KILMARTIN QUARRY, KILMARTIN 
(REF: 20/01794/MIN) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 79 – 110) 
 

 7. CLACHAN VILLAGE HALL COMMITTEE: ALTERATIONS AND CHANGE OF USE 
OF DWELLINGHOUSE TO FORM COMMUNITY HUB: ACHNAHA, CLACHAN, 
TARBERT (REF: 20/02353/PP) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 111 – 134) 
 

 8. COLONSAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY: MASTERPLAN TO PDA 
8/1 FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AS IDENTIFIED IN THE ADOPTED 
ARGYLL AND BUTE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN: LAND WEST OF HAZEL 
COTTAGE, SCALASAIG, ISLE OF COLONSAY (REF: 21/00166/MPLAN) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 135 – 146) 
 

 9. COLONSAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY: ERECTION OF 6 
DWELLINGHOUSES AND 3 HOUSES OF MULTIPLE OCCUPATION, FORMATION 
OF VEHICULAR ACCESS AND INSTALLATION OF SEWAGE TREATMENT 
SYSTEM: LAND WEST OF HAZEL COTTAGE, SCALASAIG, ISLE OF COLONSAY 
(REF: 21/00064/PP) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 147 – 162) 
 

 10. ARDFIN ESTATE LTD: PROPOSAL OF APPLICATION NOTICE FOR THE 
FORMATION OF A NEW PRIVATE PITCH PUTT: ARDFIN ESTATE, JURA 
HOUSE, CRAIGHOUSE, ISLE OF JURA (REF: 21/00448/PAN) 

  Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth (Pages 163 – 168) 
 

 
Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 

 
 Councillor Gordon Blair Councillor Rory Colville (Vice-Chair)
 Councillor Mary-Jean Devon Councillor Audrey Forrest
 Councillor George Freeman Councillor Kieron Green
 Councillor Graham Hardie Councillor David Kinniburgh (Chair)
 Councillor Donald MacMillan BEM Councillor Roderick McCuish
 Councillor Jean Moffat Councillor Alastair Redman
 Councillor Sandy Taylor Councillor Richard Trail 
  
 
 Contact: Fiona McCallum                  Tel. No. 01546 604392  



MINUTES of MEETING of PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING 
COMMITTEE held BY SKYPE 

on WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021 
  

 
Present: Councillor David Kinniburgh (Chair) 

 
 Councillor Gordon Blair 

Councillor Rory Colville 
Councillor Mary-Jean Devon 
Councillor Audrey Forrest 
Councillor Kieron Green 
 

Councillor Graham Hardie 
Councillor Donald MacMillan BEM 
Councillor Alastair Redman 
Councillor Sandy Taylor 
Councillor Richard Trail 
 

Attending: Fergus Murray, Head of Development and Economic Growth 
Stuart McLean, Committee Manager 
Peter Pain, Development Manager 
Matt Mulderrig, Development Policy and Housing Strategic Manager 
Sandra Davies, Major Applications Team Leader 
Tim Williams, Area Team Leader – Oban, Lorn and the Isles 
Fiona Scott, Planning Officer – Oban, Lorn and the Isles 
 

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence was received from Councillors Lorna Douglas, George 
Freeman, Roderick McCuish and Jean Moffat. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 3. MINUTES  
 

a) The Minutes of the Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee held 
on 17 February 2021 at 11.00 am were approved as a correct record. 

 
b) The Minutes of the Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee held 

on 17 February 2021 at 2.00 pm were approved as a correct record. 
 
c) The Minutes of the Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee held 

on 17 February 2021 at 2.30 pm were approved as a correct record. 
 
d) The Minutes of the Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee held 

on 17 February 2021 at 3.00 pm were approved as a correct record. 
 
e) The Minutes of the Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee held 

on 17 February 2021 at 3.30 pm were approved as a correct record. 
 
 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3a



 4. MR PETER DAALMAN: ERECTION OF RETAINING WALL TO INCLUDE 
RECESS FOR BIN AND SOLID FUEL STORAGE AREAS AND INSTALLATION 
OF FLUSH KERBS: 38 ELLENABEICH, ISLE OF SEIL (REF: 20/01847/PP)  

 
The Area Team Leader spoke to the terms of the report.  Planning permission is 
sought for the erection of a low retaining wall adjacent to the gable elevation of 38 
Ellenabeich, Isle of Seil, which is a category B Listed Building situated within the 
Ellenabeich Conservation Area and Knapdale and Melfort Area of Panoramic 
Quality. The site plan shows flush kerbs to the perimeter of the applicant’s land 
surrounding an existing car parking area for the dwellinghouse with a new grey 
pebble gravel finish laid within these kerbs to repair the existing hard surface.   The 
pebble gravel does not form part of the planning application, this repair/resurfacing of 
an existing hard standing area being deemed ‘de minimis’ in nature and not requiring 
the benefit of planning permission.  As a result of the comments made by the 
Conservation Officer during the processing of the application, the height of the wall 
has been reduced by 35cm.  The proposal has elicited 22 objections from 18 
households.  In this instance it is not considered that the objections raise any 
complex or technical issues that have not been addressed in the report of handling 
and it is not considered that a discretionary local hearing would add value to the 
planning process. 
 
In this instance the proposed very small scale development is wholly in accordance 
with the adopted Local Development Plan and it was recommended that planning 
permission be granted subject to the conditions and reasons detailed in the report of 
handling. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee agreed to grant planning permission subject to the following 
conditions and reasons: 
 
1. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details specified 

on the application form dated 30/09/20; supporting information and, the approved 
drawings listed in the table below unless the prior written approval of the Planning 
Authority is obtained for an amendment to the approved details under Section 64 
of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 

 

Plan Title. Plan Ref. 
No. 

Version Date 
Received 

Location Plan  2023 01   09/11/20 

Site Plan As Existing  2023 02   09/11/20 

Site Plan As Proposed  2023 03  A   

External Wall As Proposed  2023 04  A   

Retaining Wall As Existing  2023 05   09/11/20  

 
Reason:  For the purpose of clarity, to ensure that the development is 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  

 
2. Before any works commence on site, full details of the materials to be used for 

the slate wall copings and the flush kerbing shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the planning authority. The required materials shall include the 
submission of samples where such submission is considered necessary by the 

Page 4



planning authority. Thereafter, the development shall be implemented using the 
materials as agreed. 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure that the materials to be used in the development are 
appropriate to their setting within the conservation area and in respect of any 
impact upon the setting of the adjacent listed building. 

 
(Reference: Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth dated 2 March 
2021, submitted) 
 

 5. PROPOSED PROGRAMME OF PLANNING TRAINING FOR MEMBERS  
 

Over the past 8 years a series of training sessions have been delivered for all 
elected Members with an aim to improve the knowledge of the planning system on a 
wide range of issues.  A report seeking endorsement of the training programme from 
April 2021 to March 2022 was considered.  It is intended to deliver training by way of 
virtual sessions associated with the PPSL calendar meetings until such time as face 
to face gatherings are allowed. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee: 
 
1. agreed to continue with an ongoing programme of planning related training for 

Members of the PPSL Committee, which should also be open to any other 
Members not currently involved in planning decision making; and 

 
2. endorsed the initial subject areas for training and the provisional dates for 

delivery, on the understanding that the programme may be varied to take account 
of any additional training requirements Members may wish to identify, along with 
any other particular training needs identified by Officers as a consequence of 
matters emerging during the course of the year. 

 
(Reference: Report by Head of Development and Economic Growth dated 1 March 
2021, submitted) 
 

 6. EXTENSION OF RELAXATION OF PLANNING ENFORCEMENT IN RESPONSE 
TO COVID-19  

 
Consideration was given to a report seeking approval to further extend existing 
planning relaxations relating to recovery of town centre business activity, and 
approval for the continued application of an addendum to the Council’s Enforcement 
& Monitoring Charter. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee agreed to: 
 
1. note the guidance provided by the Scottish Government’s Chief Planner on 

relaxation of planning enforcement in response to Covid-19; 
 
2. approve that the Planning Position Statement (Appendix A) (setting out the 

relaxation of planning controls within designated town centres as previously 

Page 5



approved by the Council Leadership Group in July 2020, and subsequently 
extended on 29 October 2020), be extended until 30 September 2021; and 

 
3. approve the addendum to the Enforcement & Monitoring Charter (Appendix B) for 

a further temporary period expiring 30 September 2021, subject to periodic 
review in the event of updated guidance being provided by the Scottish 
Government. 

 
(Reference: Report by Executive Director with responsibility for Development and 
Economic Growth dated 9 March 2021, submitted) 
 

 7. INDICATIVE REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY: SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT 
FEEDBACK  

 
The PPSL Committee approved the Argyll and Bute Indicative Regional Spatial 
Strategy (iRSS) in September 2020 which was subsequently submitted to the 
Scottish Government.  A report advising on the feedback received from the Scottish 
Government on the Council’s iRSS was before the Committee for consideration. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee noted the content of the Scottish Government feedback and agreed 
that the Argyll and Bute iRSS should not be further amended at this stage. 
 
(Reference: Report by Executive Director with responsibility for Development and 
Economic Growth dated 24 February 2021, submitted) 
 

 8. APPEAL AGAINST PPSL DECISION - MR RAPALLINI - CLYDE BAR, 
HELENSBURGH (REF: 20/01028/PP)  

 
A report advising on the outcome of an appeal against the decision of the PPSL 
Committee in relation to planning permission reference 20/01028/PP to extend 
permitted opening hours to a beer garden at Clyde Bar, 62 West Clyde Street, 
Helensburgh, was before the Committee for information. 
 
Decision 
 
The Committee noted the contents of the report and the outcome of the appeal 
supporting the decision of the PPSL Committee. 
 
(Reference: Report by Executive Director with responsibility for Legal and Regulatory 
Support dated 1 March 2021, submitted) 
 

Page 6



MINUTES of MEETING of PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING 
COMMITTEE held BY SKYPE on WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021 

 
 

Present: Councillor David Kinniburgh (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Gordon Blair 
Councillor Rory Colville 
Councillor Mary-Jean Devon 
Councillor Kieron Green 
Councillor Graham Hardie 
 

Councillor Donald MacMillan BEM 
Councillor Roderick McCuish 
Councillor Alastair Redman 
Councillor Sandy Taylor 
 

Attending: Stuart McLean, Committee Manager 
Sheila MacFadyen, Senior Solicitor 
Sgt Wendy McGinnis, Police Scotland 
 

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lorna Douglas, Audrey 
Forrest, George Freeman, Jean Moffat and Richard Trail. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 3. CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982: REQUEST FOR SUSPENSION 
OF TAXI DRIVER LICENCE (NO. 5977) (R GRAHAM, CAMPBELTOWN)  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  In line with recent legislation for Civic 
Government Hearings, the parties (and any representatives) were given the options 
for participating in the meeting today.  The options available were by Video Call, by 
Audio Call or by written submission.  For this hearing Police Scotland opted to 
proceed by way of Audio Call and Sgt McGinnis joined the meeting by telephone.   
 
The Committee had agreed at a hearing on 17 February 2021 to continue 
consideration of this matter to give the Licence Holder the opportunity to attend as it 
had been intimated at that time that notification of the hearing had not been received 
by the Licence Holder within the requisite period of notice of 14 days. 
 
It was noted that the Licence Holder was not present for this hearing.  The Council’s 
Senior Solicitor, Sheila MacFadyen, advised that a recorded delivery letter notifying 
Mr Graham of this hearing had been received at the address on his Licence within 
14 days but he had not been in touch to confirm whether or not he would be in 
attendance.  Mrs MacFadyen advised that an attempt to contact Mr Graham by 
phone had been made in respect of the previous meeting but there was no reply.  A 
phone call had not been made on this occasion. 
 
The Committee were asked to consider how they would wish to proceed. 
 
The Committee agreed to proceed with the hearing. 
 

Page 7 Agenda Item 3b



The Chair then outlined the procedure that would be followed and invited Sgt 
McGinnis to speak in support of the Chief Constable’s complaint. 
 
POLICE SCOTLAND 
 
Sgt McGinnis referred to a letter dated 15 January 2021 which advised that the Chief 
Constable requested, in terms of Paragraph 11(1) of Schedule 1 of the Act, that the 
Committee suspend Mr Graham’s licence.  The Chief Constable complained, in 
terms of Paragraph 11(2)(a) of Schedule 1 of the Act that Mr Graham was no longer 
a fit and proper person to hold the licence.  In support of the Chief Constable’s 
request the letter referred to an incident which occurred on 1 October 2020 whereby 
Mr Graham was charged with contravening Section 38 of the Criminal Justice and 
Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 and also charged under the Police and Fire Reform 
(Scotland) Act 2012, Section 90(2)(a).  The letter also referred to an incident which 
occurred on 14 November 2020 whereby Mr Graham was charged with four 
contraventions of Section 38 of the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2010.  He was also charged under the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) act 2012, 
Section 90(1)(a) and 90(2)(a).   
 
Sgt McGinnis advised that following submission of that letter, the Procurator Fiscal 
had rolled these 2 cases together and proceeded with 8 charges – 3 under Section 
38 of the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010, 2 for resisting arrest, 2 
coronavirus charges and one for Police assault.  A pleading diet was set for 1 April 
2021. 
 
MEMBERS’ QUESTIONS 
 
Councillor McCuish asked Sgt McGinnis if the Police knew where Mr Graham was.  
Sgt McGinnis said that they were aware of his home address and that she would be 
happy to check if that corresponded with the address held by the Council and, if 
necessary, the Police could assist with delivering any letters. 
 
Councillor Blair expressed concern that attempts had not been made before this 
meeting to find out if Mr Graham would be in attendance.  He questioned why an 
attempt to contact him by phone had been made last time but not this time. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh advised that Councillor Blair’s concerns were noted and would 
be taken on board by the Legal Team.  He said that it had been confirmed that 
notification of this hearing had been received at the address on the Licence and that 
there was no reason to suspect that the Licence Holder had moved to a different 
address. 
 
Councillor Taylor commented on the pattern of behaviour reflected in these charges 
and that, for his part, it was clear the Committee had to take some action.  He sought 
clarification on how the Police came to be alerted to these incidents.  Sgt McGinnis 
advised that the first incident was witnessed by Police Officers and the second was 
reported by a member of the public. 
 
Councillor Hardie sought and received confirmation that 2 of the charges against Mr 
Graham were under Section 38 of the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2010 – breach of the peace aggravated by sexual orientation.  Sgt McGinnis 
explained that this was when there was threatening or abusive behaviour by way of 
making reference to someone’s sexual orientation and that it became a hate crime. 

Page 8



 
SUMMING UP 
 
Police Scotland 
 
Sgt McGinnis advised that the 2 incidents were similar in nature and, the fact that 8 
charges were being proceeded by the Procurator Fiscal, indicated that they have 
taken on board the seriousness of these incidents.  She confirmed that Police 
Scotland stood by the request to suspend the Licence. 
 
Sgt McGinnis confirmed that she had received a fair hearing. 
 
DEBATE 
 
Councillor Colville said that 1 April was not far away and advised that he thought it 
would be better to await the outcome of that Court Hearing before jumping to any 
conclusions.  He commented that he thought he would be correct to say that if the 
Committee agreed to suspend the Licence, determination of the length of the 
suspension could not be taken without the Licence Holder or representative being 
present to address the Committee. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh sought clarification on that point.  Mrs MacFadyen advised that 
normally the Licence Holder or their representative was given the opportunity to 
respond to a suspension.  She said it would be better if they were given that 
opportunity.  She pointed out that the Licence expired on 21 March 2021 and that it 
was open to Mr Graham to apply for renewal of that Licence. She confirmed that no 
application to renew the Licence had been received at this point. 
 
Councillor Redman said that he would support what Councillor Colville said and that 
it was best to wait. 
 
Councillor Taylor said that Mr Graham had been given notice that his Licence could 
be suspended and that he had denied himself the right to respond by not attending 
the hearing today.   Councillor Taylor advised that it was his opinion that this was 
someone that had a clear disregard for the law at a time when there was great 
concern in the community with regard to adhering to coronavirus restrictions.  He 
also referred to Mr Graham disrespecting Police Officers, which resulted in the 
assault and resisting arrest charges.  He said he was quite clear where the 
Committee should be going with this but was concerned that this could be done 
legally and to the best effect. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh said that he accepted everything that Councillor Taylor said 
but wished to point out that Mr Graham had not been found guilty of any charges yet. 
 
Councillor McCuish said that he was in agreement with Councillor Taylor.  He 
advised that Mr Graham had been given ample opportunity to appear before the 
Committee.  He commented that if a person’s livelihood was threatened by a 
suspension he believed they would make sure they were in attendance.  He 
acknowledged that the charges had still to be proven but said there appeared to be a 
pattern of offending. 
 
Councillor Roderick McCuish lost connectivity at this point and outwith the meeting 
advised the Chair that he would take no further part in the proceedings. 

Page 9



 
Councillor Green said he did not think the Committee could not take a decision just 
because someone possibly refused to be heard.  He commented that Mr Graham 
had been given reasonable opportunity to attend.  He said that to the best of his 
knowledge the Committee could not compel Mr Graham to attend.  He advised that 
he had noted the comments made about a pattern of behaviour and there being a 
risk to the public and that he would be taking that into account. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh said that he fully agreed that suspension was not about 
confirming guilt but about protecting customers and patrons. 
 
Councillor Devon sought and received confirmation from Councillor Kinniburgh that 
the Committee could take a decision to suspend the Licence and that decision would 
not be about confirming guilt but would be made to protect customers and patrons.  
He said that decision could have been taken after hearing from the Licence Holder. 
 
Councillor Devon said that she fully supported what Councillor Taylor had said. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh also confirmed that he fully supported what Councillor Taylor 
had said but he had wanted to make it clear that the Licence Holder had not yet 
been found guilty. 
 
Councillor Hardie said that he also agreed with Councillor Taylor.  He said that this 
person had been given plenty of opportunity to represent himself.  He commented 
that the charges, though not proven yet, were very serious.  He confirmed that he 
agreed with Councillor McCuish and Councillor Taylor. 
 
Councillor Taylor referred to an earlier comment that he had made about suspension 
not being about confirming guilt, but about the protection of patrons and customers. 
 
Councillor Colville said that he suspected that he was aware of the background to 
this but he was not certain.  He advised that he was not saying there was mitigation 
there but felt the Committee needed to have further details on how this had arisen.  
He said that he did not believe that this gentleman had been before the Committee 
before.  He pointed out that in the past the Committee had been fairly consistent in 
similar situations, by taking the decision to wait, especially when Court proceedings 
were so close.  He said that he would move that the Committee take no action until 
the outcome of Court proceedings were known. 
 
Sgt McGinnis pointed out that it was a pleading diet on 1 April and not the actual trial 
date.  On 1 April 2021 the defendant would only be pleading guilty or not guilty. 
 
Councillor Redman said his view remained the same.  He advised that this was a 
common law society and that every man was innocent until proven guilty.  He said 
that he realised this hearing process was different but he did not think the Committee 
should condemn a man until he had his day in Court.  He said that he would likely 
second Councillor Colville’s Motion. 
 
Councillor Taylor referred to the Committee being fairly consistent in the past about 
waiting on the outcome of Court proceedings.  He said that on these occasions the 
Police were not directly involved but in this case the Police had intervened and 
Police Officers were assaulted.  He pointed out that the Committee were here to 
determine whether or not the Licence Holder was a fit and proper person to hold the 

Page 10



Licence and they were not here to judge the incidents.  He referred to the Licence 
Holder having no respect for the law or no respect for Police Officers.  He said this 
was about protecting society given his inappropriate behaviour.  He advised that as a 
taxi driver you were privileged to be granted a Licence to look after and protect 
others but when you yourself were the person that endangered others then that 
privilege should be taken away.  He said he was quite clear this was not something 
the Committee had looked at before. 
 
Councillor Blair said he agreed with Councillor Taylor that this was about the 
protection of patrons and customers.  He said that the behaviour of this individual 
had resulted in the Police being involved and for him to continue to behave in this 
way was unacceptable.  He confirmed that he would be content with the Committee 
withdrawing his Licence as this would be doing what was right for patrons. 
 
Councillor Redman said that what was right and what was wrong could be an 
interpretation or opinion.  He said that he made his opinions based on what was real 
and not how he felt.  He said that he tried not to bring raw emotion into a decision.  
He confirmed that he stood by his original comments that he believed in common law 
and that it was his view that every man was due their day in Court.  He said that he 
realised this Committee was not a Court and advised that the business of pre-
emptive punishment based on feelings was worrying and that the Committee should 
not take this up. 
 
Councillor Devon advised that taking everything that had been said into account she 
was not comfortable with allowing the Licence Holder to continue. 
 
Councillor Green said that the Committee had a duty to protect society at large as 
well as taking account of the individual driver.  He advised that if this was a Council 
employee in a similar situation they might end up being suspended from their job.  
He said that the Committee had the power to protect the public and that this should 
be done on this occasion. 
 
Councillor Taylor said his decision was not based on emotion.  He said this was not 
about the Committee being a trial and finding the Licence Holder guilty.  He said this 
was about assessing whether or not he was a fit and proper person to hold a 
Licence, given the evidence about his behaviour.    He said there was evidence of 
repeated behaviour.  In terms of employment law, if a person committed a serious 
breach they would be suspended while an investigation took place.  He advised that 
the suspension in this case was not a punishment but a measure to protect the 
public.  
 
Councillor Hardie agreed with Councillor Green, that as a Committee, the Members 
had a duty to protect the public.  He advised that from what he had heard he would 
support a Motion to suspend the Licence. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh advised that he had listened to all that had been said and that 
he was in full agreement with Councillor Taylor and others that the Committee were 
here to determine whether or not Mr Graham was a fit and proper person.  He 
referred to there appearing to be a repeated pattern of behaviour.  He said that he 
respected that the case had still to be go Court but by the same token, taking 
account of a pattern of behaviour forming by the Licence Holder, the fact that this 
was the second invitation to attend a hearing and he had not done so, he was 
minded to move suspension of the Licence. 

Page 11



 
Motion 
 
To agree to suspend Mr Graham’s Taxi Driver Licence as he was no longer a fit and 
proper person to be the holder of that Licence. 
 
Moved by Councillor David Kinniburgh, seconded by Councillor Graham Hardie. 
 
Amendment 
 
To agree not to suspend the Licence and await the outcome of Court proceedings 
before taking a decision. 
 
Moved by Councillor Rory Colville, seconded by Councillor Alastair Redman. 
 
A vote was taken by calling the roll. 
 
Motion   Amendment 
 
Councillor Blair  Councillor Colville 
Councillor Devon  Councillor Redman 
Councillor Green 
Councillor Hardie 
Councillor Kinniburgh 
Councillor MacMillan 
Councillor Taylor 
 
The Motion was carried by 7 votes to 2 and the Committee resolved accordingly. 
 
The Committee then debated the duration of the suspension. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh said that he thought the Licence should be suspended for the 
unexpired portion of the Licence and that if the Licence Holder applied for another 
licence in the future that his application should come before the Committee for 
consideration irrespective of the outcome of Court proceedings. 
 
Councillor Taylor supported Councillor Kinniburgh. 
 
Mrs MacFadyen sought clarification on whether or not this was an immediate 
suspension.  She pointed out that Police Scotland had not requested the immediate 
suspension of the Licence and that the incidents had taken place last year.  She 
confirmed that it was open to the Committee to suspend the Licence with immediate 
effect for the unexpired portion of the Licence if they felt the circumstances met the 
test for immediate suspension.  The Committee could also agree to have the 
suspension take effect after the appeal period of 28 days. 
 
DECISION 
 
The Committee agreed that Mr Graham’s Taxi Driver’s Licence be suspended with 
immediate effect for the unexpired portion of the Licence and should Mr Graham re-
apply for a Taxi Driver’s Licence in the future, his application should come before the 
Committee for determination irrespective of the outcome of the Court proceedings. 
 

Page 12



(Reference: Report by Head of Legal and Regulatory Support, submitted) 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of MEETING of PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING 
COMMITTEE held BY SKYPE on WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021  

 
 

Present: Councillor David Kinniburgh (Chair) 
   

 Councillor Gordon Blair 
Councillor Rory Colville 
Councillor Kieron Green 
Councillor Graham Hardie 
 

Councillor Donald MacMillan BEM 
Councillor Alastair Redman 
Councillor Sandy Taylor 
 

Attending: Stuart McLean, Committee Manager 
Sheila MacFadyen, Senior Solicitor 
Derek Barbour, Applicant 
Kenneth McAuley, Objector 
 

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mary-Jean Devon, Lorna 
Douglas, Audrey Forrest, George Freeman, Roderick McCuish, Jean Moffat and 
Richard Trail. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 3. CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982: APPLICATION FOR 
AMENDMENT TO TAXI CAR LICENCE NUMBER 4902 (D BARBOUR, 
HELENSBURGH)  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  In line with recent legislation for Civic 
Government Hearings, the parties (and any representatives) were given the options 
for participating in the meeting today.  The options available were by Video Call, by 
Audio Call or by written submission.  For this hearing the Applicant and Objector 
opted to proceed by way of Audio Call and both joined the meeting by telephone.   
 
The Chair then outlined the procedure that would be followed and invited the 
Applicant to speak in support of his application. 
 
APPLICANT 
 
Mr Barbour said that he wanted to apply to have Mr Singh as a business partner on 
his Licence because he needed another driver.  He advised that he has been a taxi 
driver for nearly 30 years and has had his own Operator Licence for about 20 years.  
Since lockdown happened, he said that he had found it difficult to make enough 
money with not being on the radio system.  He said that he had been off work for a 
while as he did not wish to catch Covid-19.  He advised that certain members of his 
family were vulnerable and that he could not take the risk of passing any infection on 
to them.  He said that he now needed to get back to work and in order to do so he 
would need to get a radio system.  He advised that having Mr Singh as a business 
partner would enable him to share the cost of overheads, maintenance, and the 
general running costs of the car and business.  He advised that he has known Mr 

Page 15 Agenda Item 3c



Singh for close to 10 years and knew that he was a reliable and dependable 
character.  Mr Singh used to live in Helensburgh and worked at a takeaway 
business, the Palace, Sinclair Street, Helensburgh.  He had moved away but had 
always expressed an interest in driving taxis and working for Mr Barbour.  Mr 
Barbour advised that at that time he was working full time so could not accommodate 
Mr Singh.  Nowadays, he said that he wished to reduce his hours of working and as 
Mr Singh had tired of working 7 nights a week at the takeaway business, and was 
still interested in driving his car and sharing the costs, this would be more of a 
commitment.  He advised that in the past he’d had drivers working for him on 
commission but that had not really worked out as it was difficult to get good, 
dependable drivers who would show a commitment.  He said that if Mr Singh was 
involved in the business he would have that commitment.  He said that he used to do 
deliveries for him when he had his takeaway business and he knew that he was a 
decent person and that he would be an asset to the taxi trade in town. 
 
QUESTIONS FROM OBJECTOR 
 
Mr McAuley advised that he had been under the impression that Mr Barbour was 
giving up and that his objection was in no way a personal thing.  He sought and 
received confirmation from Mr Barbour that he was not giving up his taxi business. 
 
OBJECTOR 
 
Mr McAuley said his objection had been based on a number of things.  Firstly, the 
LVSA survey stated that there were too many taxis and that was pre-Covid.  He 
advised that if Mr Barbour was giving up his business, he felt that he should be 
handing the plate back to the Council to address the balance of too many taxis as, 
certainly since Covid, the taxi business had been decimated and was on its knees.  
He advised that was why he had objected and that it was nothing personal to Mr 
Barbour or Mr Singh. 
 
QUESTIONS FROM APPLICANT 
 
Mr Barbour referred to being a taxi operator for at least 20 years and asked Mr 
McAuley why he thought he should hand back his plate and not anyone else 
because of the situation of Covid and too many taxis.  Mr McAuley said he wasn’t 
aware of anyone else possibly giving up.   He said that anyone that was thinking of 
giving up should hand their plate back to the Council.  Whether due to Covid or any 
other reason, he said he believed that a plate should be taken back into the Council 
to redress the balance of too many taxis. 
 
Mr Barbour wondered why Mr McAuley had not come and spoken to him personally.  
He referred to Mr McAuley stating in his letter that money would be changing hands.  
He asked Mr McAuley where he had got this information from.  Mr McAuley said this 
was something that another Applicant had stated at their hearing.  He said he was 
not sure how this person knew this, but that was why he had put this statement into 
his letter.  He advised that the other Applicant did not show any evidence to support 
his claim but he had stated it very strongly at his own hearing. 
 
 
 
 
MEMBERS’ QUESTIONS 

Page 16



 
Councillor Redman referred to talk about money changing hands and sought and 
received confirmation from Mr McAuley that he did not have any concrete evidence 
about that.  He advised that a previous Applicant had said he knew this was 
happening. 
 
Councillor Green sought and received confirmation from Mr McAuley that if Mr 
Barbour was just wanting a partner he would have no objection to that.  He said he 
had been under the impression that Mr Barbour was giving up. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh sought clarification from the Council’s Senior Solicitor about 
whether or not it was illegal to form a partnership if the intention was to give the plate 
up.  Mrs MacFadyen said a partnership would be to run a business as a partnership.  
She advised that if someone was retiring as a taxi driver then they should hand their 
plate back to the Council.  She confirmed that it was possible to take on a partner to 
run a business together. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh sought and received confirmation from Mr McAuley that he 
had objected as he thought Mr Barbour was retiring and that he was moving his plate 
on to Mr Singh. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh sought and received confirmation from Mr McAuley that as he 
now knew that Mr Barbour was going to continue to drive then his objection no 
longer stood. 
 
Councillor Colville sought and received confirmation from Mrs MacFadyen that the 
partnership agreement had been submitted to the Council as it was a requirement to 
submit this along with this application. 
 
SUMMING UP 
 
Objector 
 
Mr McAuley confirmed that if it was Mr Barbour’s intention to take on a partner and 
continue to drive then he had no problem with that.  He said that he had previously 
been under the impression he was giving up for good. 
 
Applicant 
 
Mr Barbour thanked the Committee for hearing him and giving him the chance to 
explain the situation.  He confirmed that this was about him forming a partnership 
and getting back into work and helping someone else into work.  He said that he was 
sorry that Mr McAuley had not come to speak to him and that he wished he had.  He 
advised that he did not think his partnership would have any detrimental effect on the 
taxi trade in Helensburgh especially now that restrictions were beginning to ease and 
be lifted, with pubs and restaurants shortly able to open again.  He also referred to 
the promise of additional submarines coming to Faslane which he hoped, in the not 
too distance future, would bring more business. 
 
When asked, both parties confirmed that they had received a fair hearing. 
 
 
DEBATE 

Page 17



 
Councillor Redman said that it appeared the objection had been withdrawn.  He also 
referred to hearing that Helensburgh would grow and with an increase in military 
spend, he believed people would need more taxis so he was minded to approve the 
application. 
 
Councillor Green said that as the one objection was no longer in place he was also 
minded to approve the application. 
 
Councillor Kinniburgh acknowledged that Mr Barbour intended to keep working and 
that the partnership agreement had been received by the Council.  He confirmed that 
he would have no hesitation in approving this application. 
 
DECISION 
 
The Committee agreed to approve Mr Barbour’s application for Amendment to Taxi 
Car Licence Number 4902 to add Mr Singh as a partner. 
 
(Reference: Report by Head of Legal and Regulatory Support, submitted) 
 

Page 18



MINUTES of MEETING of PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING 
COMMITTEE held BY SKYPE on WEDNESDAY, 17 MARCH 2021  

 
 

Present: Councillor David Kinniburgh (Chair) 
 

 Councillor Gordon Blair 
Councillor Rory Colville 
Councillor Kieron Green 
Councillor Graham Hardie 
 

Councillor Donald MacMillan BEM 
Councillor Alastair Redman 
Councillor Sandy Taylor 
 

Attending: Stuart McLean, Committee Manager 
Sheila MacFadyen, Senior Solicitor 
Kenneth McAuley, Objector 
George Finlay, Objector 

 
 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mary-Jean Devon, Lorna 
Douglas, Audrey Forrest, George Freeman, Roderick McCuish, Jean Moffat and 
Richard Trail. 
 

 2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

 3. CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982: APPLICATION FOR GRANT OF 
A TAXI CAR LICENCE (M TYREMAN, HELENSBURGH)  

 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  In line with recent legislation for Civic 
Government Hearings, the parties (and any representatives) were given the options 
for participating in the meeting today.  The options available were by Video Call, by 
Audio Call or by written submission.  For this hearing two of the Objectors opted to 
proceed by way of Audio Call and both joined the meeting by telephone. 
 
The Council’s Senior Solicitor, Sheila MacFadyen, advised that the Applicant had 
been in contact to request a continuation of this hearing as a situation had arisen 
which meant he was unable to attend today. 
 
DECISION 
 
The Committee agreed to continue consideration of this application until the 
Committee next met in April 2021. 
 
(Reference: Report by Head of Legal and Regulatory Support, submitted) 
 

Page 19 Agenda Item 3d



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
                                                        Argyll and Bute Council 

Development and Economic Growth   
 
Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as required 
by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning Permission or Planning 
Permission in Principle 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Reference No: 20/00911/PPP   
 
Planning Hierarchy: Major Application  
 
Applicant: Pearson Property Promotions Limited  
  
Proposal: Site for the erection of office development (Class 4) and public house (Sui 

Generis)/food and drink (Class 3) with access and associated works   
 
Site Address: Land to the North and West of Iona Stables, Cardross 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
  
DECISION ROUTE  
 

 
Local Government Scotland Act 1973 

 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 

(i) Development Requiring Planning Permission in Principle 
 

 Erection of office development (Class 4) (Circa 5574sq.m) and 

 Erection of public house (Sui Generis Public House)/food and drink (Class 
3) Circa 2150sq.m site area  

 Formation of car parks and internal access roads 

 Formation of new junction with A814 

 SuDS related infrastructure works 

 Flood Alleviation works including ground raising 

 Associated landscaping works 
 

  
(ii) Other necessary future operations 

 

 Connection to foul water system 

 Connection to  Scottish water network 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 

It is recommended that planning permission in principle be approved subject to conditions 
and that any such recommendation then referred to the Scottish Ministers for 
consideration/determination due to the objection from SEPA to the proposals. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 21 Agenda Item 4



(C) HISTORY:   
 

19/02597/PAN – Erection of office development (Class 4) with hotel (Class 7) 
restaurant/food and drink (Class 3) and public house (Sui Generis) 
 
20/01194/SCREEN - Erection of office development (Class 4) with hotel (Class 7) 
restaurant/food and drink (Class 3) and public house (Sui Generis).  Negative screening 
opinion issued. 

 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(D) CONSULTATIONS:   
 

SEPA (Dated 13.7.20 & 11.9.20): Have objected on two occasions. Last objection is as 
follows: 

 

 We object in principle to the proposed development on the grounds that it may place 
buildings and persons at flood risk contrary to Scottish Planning Policy.   

 

 Given the proposed development would involve an increase in land use vulnerability and 
will necessitate the requirement for engineering works within the functional floodplain, we 
do not consider that it meets with the requirements of Scottish Planning Policy.  We have 
a shared duty with Scottish Ministers and other responsible authorities under the Flood 
Risk Management (Scotland) Act 2009 to reduce overall flood risk and promote 
sustainable flood risk management.  The cornerstone of sustainable flood risk 
management is the avoidance of flood risk in the first instance.  We recommend that 
alternative locations should be considered. 

 

 In the event that the planning authority proposes to grant planning permission contrary to 
this advice on flood risk, the Town and Country Planning (Notification of Applications) 
(Scotland) Direction 2009 provides criteria for the referral to the Scottish Ministers of such 
cases. You may therefore wish to consider if this proposal falls within the scope of this 
Direction. 

 
It is noted that in their most recent Objection (11.9.20) SEPA have confirmed that they do 
not object on technical grounds, and is but on a “matter of principle” in respect of the 
proposed ground raising of proposed. Further detailed commentary in respect of the 
objection are set out at Appendix A,  section F of this report  relating to Flooding and 
Drainage matters. 
 
Development Policy (Dated 2.3.21 and 1.4.21): No Objection subject to conditions. 
 
Council Biodiversity Officer (Dated 1.3.21): No Objection subject to conditions 
suggested by NatureScot to protect the adjoining SPA. 
 
Council Flooding Advisor (Dated 23.6.20): No Objection subject to conditions 
 
NatureScot (Dated 19.06.20): No Objection subject to conditions 
 
Default Objection unless conditions to safeguard Inner Clyde Special Protection Area 
Imposed.  Confirm that they consider an appropriate assessment should be carried out 
due to potential disturbance of Redshank through construction activities but mitigation 
possible through use of conditions on planning permission.  
 
Environmental Health (Dated 30.6.20): No objection 
 
Area Roads Engineer (Dated 02.07.20) No objection subject to conditions 
 
Network Rail (Dated 30.6.20): No objection 
 

Page 22



Scottish Water (Dated 19.6.20): No objection 
 
Economic Growth (25.02.21): No objection. Support given for the proposal. 
 
Helensburgh Community Council – No response received. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(E) PUBLICITY:  Yes 
 

Major Development Press Notice Helensburgh Advertiser – Expired 16.07.2020 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:  Yes 
 
A submission neither objecting to or supporting the proposals was submitted by Dr Harold 
Thompson Dated 29.6.20 
 
He states that FRA submitted has overlooked a fourth drain in the vicinity of the site which opens 
into Red Burn downstream of Culvert 1. This should be investigated. 
 
Officer Comment: This matter has been addressed by correspondence dated 23.7.20 from Kaya 
Consulting clarifying that this matter does not alter the findings of their submissions. The Council’s 
flooding adviser is content with the proposal subject to conditions. 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 23



(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Has the application been the subject of: 
 

(i) Environmental Statement: No  

(ii) An appropriate assessment under the Conservation (Natural Habitats) 

Regulations 1994:   Yes  

 

The Council is in agreement with the views of NatureScot that an Appropriate Assessment 

is required in this instance. It is the Planning Authorities findings in the appropriate 

assessment that that subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, that any potential 

impact on Redshank on the adjoining SPA and SSSI can be adequately mitigated. These 

suggested conditions are in line with the recommendations made by NatureScot and the 

Council’s Biodiversity advisor. 

 

(iii) A design or design/access statement:   Yes 

(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed development eg. Retail impact, 

transport impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage impact etc:  Yes 

 

 Planning Statement ( Dated May 2020) 

 Flood Risk Assessment (Dated May 2020 – V5 Final) 

 Drainage Strategy Statement (Dated 12.6.20) 

 Additional Flooding Submissions (Dated 23.7.20 and 28.10.20)  

 PAC report ( Dated May 2020) 

 Ecological Assessment (Dated May 2020) 

 

The matters contained these submissions are addressed at the appropriate 

sections of the Officer report. 

 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

(i) Is a Section 75 agreement required:  No 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 31 or 

32:  No 

  
____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 24



(J)  Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations over 
and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 
(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account in 

assessment of the application. 
 
Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan adopted March 2015  
 
LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
LDP DM1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection, Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment 
LPD 4 – Supporting the Sustainable Development of our Coastal Zone 
LDP 5 – Supporting the Sustainable Growth of Our Economy  
LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
LDP 7 – Supporting our Town Centres and Retailing  
LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
LDP PROP 2 – The Proposed Allocations 
 
Supplementary Guidance  
 
SG LDP ENV 1 – Development Impact of Habitats, Species and Our Biodiversity 
(i.e. biological diversity) 
SG LDP ENV 2 – Development Impact on European Sites 
SG LDP ENV 3 – Management of European Sites 
SG LDP ENV 4 – Development Impact on Sites of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs) and National Nature Reserves 
SG LDP ENV 20 – Development Impact on Sites of Archaeological Importance 
SG LDP CST 1  - Coastal development  
SG LDP BUS 1 – Business and Industry Proposals in Existing Settlements and 
Identified Business and Industry Areas 
SG LDP BUS 4 – Strategic Industrial Business Locations 
SG LDP DEP 1 – Departures to the Local Development Plan 
SG LDP BAD 1 – Bad Neighbour Development 
SG LDP RET 1 – Retail Development in the Main Towns and Key Settlements – 
The Sequential Approach 
SG LDP SERV 1 – Private Sewerage Treatment Plants and Wastewater (i.e. 
drainage) systems 
SG LDP SERV 2 – Incorporation of Natural Features / Sustainable Systems 
(SUDS) 
SG LDP SERV 3 – Drainage Impact Assessment (DIA) 
SG LDP SERV 5 – Waste Related Development and Waste Management in 
Development 
SG LDP SERV 7 – Flooding and Land Erosion – The Risk Framework for 
Development 
SG LDP SERV 9 – Safeguarding Better Quality Agricultural Land 
SG LDP -  Sustainability Checklist -Climate Change- sustainable siting and design 
SG LDP TRAN 1 – Access to the Outdoors 
SG LDP TRAN 2 - Development and Public Transport Accessibility 
SG LDP TRAN 3 – Special Needs Access Provision 
SG LDP TRAN 4 – New and Existing, Public Roads and Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 5 – Off-Site Highway Improvements 
SG LDP TRAN 6 –Vehicle Parking Provision 
Access and Parking Standards 

Page 25



 
The site is an Allocated Business and Industry Location within the LDP 2015 as 
BI-AL 3/1 for Classes 4, 7 and motor sales. 

 
(ii) List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in the 

assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of Circular 
4/2009. 

 

 SPP Advice  

 Argyll and Bute Economic  Strategy 2019-2023 

 Argyll and Bute Corporate Plan 2018-2022 

 Economic data sets provided by Economic Growth 

 Title restriction on land at sawmill field to ensure it not developed/altered in 
perpetuity and remains as functioning flood plain. 

 Argyll and Bute Local Flood Plan (PVA 11/02 ) – Helensburgh to Loch Long 

 Argyll and Bute Council Rural Growth Deal  
 

 
LDP 2  : Emerging Local Development Plan 
 
Although still at an early stage in the adoption process, where only limited weight can be 
afforded to it. Officers note that the site continues to be allocated by the council for 
business development Class 4, Hotel (Class 7) and ancillary employment related uses. 
 
The site is identified in LDP 2 as site B2001 and this continued allocation within LDP 2 
demonstrates the continued support by Officers and Members for the promotion of 
business/employment use of the site. 
 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental Impact 

Assessment: Yes 

 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 

(PAC): Yes.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  No.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
(O) Requirement for a hearing (PAN41 or other):  No 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

Page 26



 This application is for a permission in principle and not a full planning application. The 
proposals are considered to be in accordance with the allocation of the land within the 
LDP and it will be the detail brought forward at AMSC (Approval of Matters Specified in 
Conditions) which will determine the final layout and appearance of the proposals.  
 
Given this is a gateway site to Helensburgh it is considered that the importance of the site 
will require to be reflected in the quality of any future detailed proposals. Members will 
note that Officers and the Community Council effectively engaged with Bellway Homes on 
the housing site opposite (Sawmill Field) to improve the design of the proposed block of 
flats to ensure that the importance of the gateway nature of the site was properly reflected 
in the detailed design of the proposals.(REF : 19/02604/PP). A similar high quality design 
reflecting the importance of this transitional site from rural to urban character will be 
expected by Officers. 

 
Notwithstanding the above, the objection by SEPA on flooding grounds, as a Statutory 
Consultee is a significant matter which has had to be carefully considered, and weighted 
in the determination of this application. The Council’s development policy advisors have 
carefully considered the proposals against both the policies of the adopted LDP and the 
objectives of the plan. They have advised that the proposals can be supported and raise 
no objections.  
 
The increased flooding associated with the land raising will not cause harm to other users 
or land, and therefore the consequences associated with the development proposals do 
not in officer opinion outweigh the clear benefits associated with the promotion of this 
much needed business site. 
 
Members are also requested to note that SEPA in their objection to the application, fairly 
state that, “It is for the Planning Authority to balance all material considerations including 
flood risk when determining an application.”  Officers are of the opinion that when this 
exercise is undertaken, and for the reasons set out in this report, that planning permission 
should be granted in this instance. 
 
In recommending approval of the the application officers have also had regard to the sites 
current allocated status within the Adopted LDP for employment uses, its historic allocation 
status in the previous LDP for employment uses,  and the continued endorsement of the 
site to provide employment floorspace in emerging LDP 2. 
 
The ambitions to provide such employment opportunities has also been recently confirmed 
in the agreed heads  of terms and detail of the approved Rural Growth Deal  signed in 
February 2021, where providing off-base employment opportunities is considered to be a 
vital component of the Council’s economic development strategy for the Helensburgh 
Area.  
 
If the current proposals are not supported there are no other allocated sites which would 
be suitable to meet this clearly identified need which would result in a significant and 
adverse impact to the Corporate Strategy , Economic Development Strategy, and  LDP 
objectives of promoting this land for employment purposes to serve the Helensburgh Area. 
 
Officers are therefore of the opinion that when all matters are considered and given 
appropriate weight, that in this instance planning permission should be granted 
notwithstanding the objection from SEPA on flooding grounds. 
 
Officers have concluded that the policy framework within which this site is set, as a long 
standing employment allocation, and its current allocation in the adopted LDP render the 
situation unique to this site and no precedent would be set in this instance for other sites 
and Members will not be bound by this decision in respect of future application where 
flooding matters are a significant determining factor. 

Page 27



____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan:  No 

  

The proposed Class 4 office development with associated and incidental Class3 /Sui 

generis use is considered to accord with the current land use allocation within the statutory 

plan for business and employment use of the site.  

 

Officers have considered the proposal against the policies of the plan and consider that, 

the allocation of the site and economic benefits associated with its development, when 

considered against the LDP as a whole is considered to accord with its objectives. Any 

matters of objection on flooding matters from SEPA do not define or cause the application 

to be regarded as a departure for the plan, and importantly the Council’s policy advisor 

does not consider the proposal as a departure from the statutory plan. 

 

The need to refer the application to the Scottish Ministers based upon the SEPA objection 

is clarified at Section (T ) of this report. This is not due to the proposal being considered a 

departure from the plan, but related to the objection from SEPA on flooding maters as a 

statutory consultee and procedural matters associated with this.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

(R) Reasons why planning permission or a Planning Permission in Principle should be 

granted  

 

Notwithstanding the objection by SEPA on flooding grounds, it is considered by Officers 

that the following benefits and planning characteristics of the scheme suggest the proposal 

should be approved as follows: 

 

I. This is a long standing Business allocation site which is identified within the previous, 

current and proposed LDP for such purposes. 

 

II. This is considered an essential economic development site to provide appropriate 

employment opportunities in the Helensburgh Area. Officers consider the 

development of this site, and the approval of this application to be a critical and 

essential element of realising the objectives of the Corporate Plan (2018-2022), 

Economic Development Strategy (2019-2023) and LDP objectives. 

 

Page 28



III. The provision of sites suitable for off-base employment uses is an important 

component of the Council’s Rural Growth deal for the Helensburgh Area and failure 

to approve this site would undermine these objectives. 

 

IV. The proposed development relates to the provision of not just short term construction 

jobs, but long term investment in providing employment opportunities for the area.  

Officers consider this to provide greater weight to the importance of the potential 

economic benefits of the scheme.   

 

V. The displacement of flood water by the use of land raising associated with forming 

the site area will have no adverse impact on surrounding land or uses and will have 

a marginal and inconsequential impact on flooding on the Sawmill Field site.  

 

VI. No precedent will be set in approving this application due to the unique 

circumstances of the case.  

 
It is all of the above matters in their totality that in Officers opinion support the approval of 

the current planning application contrary to the SEPA objection and not any of individual 

criteria on their own.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

(S) Reasoned justification for a departure to the provisions of the Development Plan 
 
 
 N/A 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers:  Yes 

 

Should Members agree with the Officer recommendation to approve this application 

contrary to the objection from SEPA on flooding matters, it will be necessary to notify the 

Scottish Ministers of this intended decision and seek clarification on whether they wish to 

“call in” the application to allow them to determine it under the Town and Country Planning 

(Notification of Applications) (Scotland) Direction 2009. 

  

For the avoidance of doubt, should Members determine to refuse the current application, 

it will not be necessary to notify The Scottish Ministers and the applicants will have the 

right to appeal this decision to the Planning and Environmental Appeals Division (DPEA) 

should they so wish. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 29



 
 
 
Author of Report: David Moore      Date:  18.03.21 
 
Reviewing Officer:  Peter Bain      Date:  1.4.21 
 
 
 
Fergus Murray 
Head of Development and Economic Growth  

 
 
 

 

Page 30



CONDITIONS AND REASONS RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REF. NO. 20/00911/PPP 
 
1. Plans and particulars of the matters specified in conditions 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9,10,11 and 

12  below shall be submitted by way of application(s) for Approval of Matters Specified in 
Conditions in accordance with the timescales and other limitations in Section 59 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 as amended. Thereafter the development 
shall be completed wholly in accordance with the details contained within the approved 
plans and particulars. 

 
Reason: To accord with Section 59 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
as amended. 

 
 
2. Pursuant to Condition 1 - no development shall commence until plans and particulars of 

the site layout, design and external finishes of the development have been submitted to 
and approved by the Planning Authority. These details shall incorporate proposed finished 
ground floor levels relative to an identifiable fixed datum located outwith the application 
site. Thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with the duly 
approved details which shall have regard to special needs access requirements and 
protection and enhancement of green networks established by policies SG LDP TRAN 3, 
and SG LDP ENV 8. 

 
Reason:  To ensure that the development has a layout and design which is compatible 
with its surroundings and in accordance with Local Development Plan policy. 
 
 

3. Pursuant to Condition 1 - no development shall commence until a scheme of boundary 
treatment, surface treatment and landscaping has been submitted to and approved by the 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall comprise a planting plan and schedule which shall 
include details of: 

 
i) Existing and proposed ground levels in relation to an identified fixed datum; 
ii) Existing landscaping features and vegetation to be retained; as required by 

NatureScot in order to minimise disturbance to the SPA 
iii) Location design and materials of proposed walls, fences and gates; 
iv) Proposed soft and hard landscaping works including the location, species and size 

of every tree/shrub to be planted.  This shall include additional tree planting along 
the Cardross Road frontage of the site; 

v) A programme for the timing, method of implementation, completion and 
subsequent on-going maintenance. 

 
All of the hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 

 
Any trees/shrubs which within a period of five years from the completion of the approved 
landscaping scheme fail to become established, die, become seriously diseased, or are 
removed or damaged shall be replaced in the following planting season with equivalent 
numbers, sizes and species as those originally required to be planted unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To assist with the integration of the proposal with its surroundings in the interest 
of amenity and to ensure appropriate natural screening to the SPA is retained. 

 
 
 
4. Pursuant to Condition 1 - no development or works on site shall be commenced until the 

following plans and particulars have been submitted to and approved by the Planning 

Page 31



Authority in consultation with the Road Network Manager. Thereafter the development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  Such details shall 
incorporate: 

 
i) A method statement detailing the proposals for safely accessing the development site 

during the construction phase of each element of the development.  Thereafter the 
construction site access shall proceed in accordance with the approved method 
statement. 

ii)  Details of the new vehicular access to serve the site.  This is required to co-ordinate 
in terms of its location, design and functionality with any approved access for the 
residential site opposite (Sawmill Fields REF: 19/02604/PP) to ensure that any 
junction formed is in accordance with the requirements of the Area Roads Engineer.  
This shall, unless agreed otherwise in writing, comprise a signal controlled junction.   
This access shall be completed to the satisfaction of the planning authority in 
consultation with the Area Roads Engineer prior to the occupation of any floorspace 
associated with this permission; 

iii)  The junction design shall accommodate vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists, linking to 
the existing cycle network.; 

iv)      Details of on-site cycle parking and storage shall be provided 
 

Reason:  In the interests of road safety. 
 

5. Pursuant to condition 1 - no development shall commence until full details of the internal 
road layout within the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Area Roads Engineer.  The internal roads shall 
be constructed in accordance with the principles of Designing Streets.  

 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety and good place making. 

 
6. Pursuant to condition 1 - Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the planning authority, in 

consultation with the Council's Road Network Manager no permitted floorspace shall be 
occupied unless and until the existing 30 miles per hour (mph) speed restriction on the 
A814 has been extended and brought into effect to a location at the eastern end of the 
site, the exact location to be agreed in consultation with the Council's Road Network 
Manager.  
 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety. 

 
 

7. Pursuant to condition 1 - Car parking provision shall be provided in accordance with the 
Argyll and Bute Council supplementary guidance policy SG LDP TRAN 6. Parking 
provision shall be constructed and made available for use prior to the first occupation to 
the building(s) to which it relates and shall be maintained thereafter for the parking of 
vehicles. 
  
Reason:  In the interests of road safety. 

 
8. Pursuant to condition 1 - no development shall commence until details for the 

arrangements for the storage, separation and collection of waste from the site, including 
provision for the safe pick-up by refuse collection vehicles, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority.  Thereafter the duly approved provision shall 
be implemented prior to the first occupation of the building(s) which it is intended to serve. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that satisfactory arrangements have been made for dealing 
with waste on the site in accordance with Policy SG LDP SERV 5 (b). 

 

Page 32



9. Pursuant to condition 1 - no development shall commence until a Site Waste Management 
Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.  The 
provisions of this plan shall be adhered to during the construction period unless any 
subsequent variation thereof is agreed in writing by the Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure the minimisation of waste generated during construction in 
accordance with policy SG LDP SERV 5 (b). 

 
10. The details of any further application pursuant to Condition 1 shall be wholly compliant 

with the recommendation of the Flood Risk Assessment (Dated May 2020 ) submitted in 
support of the application for planning permission in principle and further submissions 
(Dated 23.7.21 and 28.10.20) .  

 

 The finished ground floor level of buildings within the development shall be a 
minimum of 5.79 metres relative to Ordnance Datum  

 

 A severe weather plan shall be developed by the owners/operators of the 
site/buildings. To be submitted to and approved by the planning authority in 
advance of the occupation of any buildings on the site.  

 

 Surface water drainage and SUDS shall implemented in accordance with the 
submitted surface water drainage proposals as set out in the Drainage Strategy 
Statement (12,6,20 – RP01/01) and in accordance with CIRIA C753 and 
Sewers for Scotland 4th Edition, Future details shall incorporate channel 
design for drain 2 and account for management of overland flow pathways 

 
Reason:  In order to ensure appropriate mitigation for flood risk and the provision of 
appropriate SuDS compliant surface drainage for the site. 
 

 
11. Pursuant to condition 1 no development shall commence until full details of the design 

appearance, landscaping and maintenance regime of the proposed SUDs facility has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  In order to ensure that the SUDs facility is both a functional and attractive  
biodiversity /landscape feature. 
 

12. Pursuant to Condition 1 - No development shall take place within the development site as 
outlined in red on the approved plan until the developer has secured the implementation 
of a programme of archaeological works in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, agreed by the West of Scotland 
Archaeology Service, and approved by the Planning Authority. Thereafter the developer 
shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all 
recording and recovery of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all recording 
and recovery of archaeological resources within the development is undertaken to the 
satisfaction of the Planning Authority in agreement with the West of Scotland Archaeology 
Service. 

 
Reason:  In order to protect archaeological resources. 
 

 
 

13. The class 3/Sui Generis public house use approved shall  not exceed either 1000sqm 
gross floorspace nor the 2150sqm site area indicated within the application submissions. 

 

Page 33



Reason: To ensure that the scale of the proposal is in accordance with the requirements 
of SG LDP RET 1 and the sequential approach, and also to ensure future detailed 
proposals for this designated employment site are brought forward to secure the dominant 
use of the site for Class 4 business uses in accordance with the LDP allocation  and 
objectives for the site. 
 

14.  No development of the class3/sui generis use shall commence until such time as the 
development of at least one of the indicated two office blocks has also commenced. 
 
Reason: To avoid only a class 3 or sui generis uses coming forward in isolation.  

 
15. Any Class 3, or sui generis public house floorspace developed, shall not: 

 

 Be subdivided into two or more separate planning units 
 

 In respect of any class 3 use, have the ability to utilise any permitted development 
rights to change from Class 3 to either Class 2 or Class 1 use. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that the scale and nature of the permitted Class3/sui generis 
public house use of the site remains in accordance with the requirements of policy SG 
LDP RET 1, and the recommendations of the Council’s Development Plan Policy Advisor.  
 

16. As set out in the attached Appropriate Assessment, all construction activity shall be 
scheduled outside the redshank wintering period (i.e. confined to the months of May to 
August inclusive)  

 
Or 
 
That all of the following measures are adopted – 
 
Prior to any development work commencing during the maximum extent of the redshank 
wintering months of September to April inclusive, a visual screen should be put in place 
sufficient to visually obscure all site operations during remediation and development from 
the point of view of redshank feeding within areas of the SPA out to a distance of 
150metres from the site boundary. The visual screening will only be necessary for areas 
where further site investigation suggests that existing riverside vegetation may currently 
be inadequate to screen the site up to the top level of the new buildings. Any screens 
installed should be adequately maintained throughout all development activities taking 
place during these wintering months. 
 
That all piling during the months of September to April inclusive is undertaken using the 
Helical Displacement method with no piling undertaken during hours of darkness. 
 
That any site lighting is directed away from the Clyde foreshore/the SPA 
 
That SEPA Guidelines for controlling run off, drainage and pollution are adhered to in full. 
 
Reason: To ensure no unacceptable impacts on the adjoining Inner Clyde Special 
Protection Area and to accord with the requirements of the Appropriate Assessment 
findings and recommendations. 

 
 
NOTES TO APPLICANT 
 

1. This consent constitutes a Planning Permission in Principle under Section 59 of the Town 
and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 as amended and as such does not authorise 

Page 34



the commencement of development until matters requiring the further consent of the 
Planning Authority have been satisfied. 
  

2. Application(s) for Approval of Matters Specified in Conditions must be made in accordance 
with the provisions of Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (Scotland) Regulations 2008 within the time limits specified in 
Section 59 of the Act. 
  

3. Having regard to Regulation 12, application(s) for the Approval of Matters Specified in 
Conditions must be submitted within 3 years from the date of which Planning Permission 
in Principle was granted. The exception being where an earlier submission for the 
Approval of Matters Specified in Conditions was refused or dismissed on appeal, in which 
case only one further application in respect of all outstanding matters requiring further 
approval of the Planning Authority may be submitted within a period of 6 months from 
determination of the earlier application. Any elements of the Planning Permission in 
Principle for which further approval of the Planning Authority has not been sought within 
the time periods summarised above will no longer be capable of being implemented within 
the terms of this permission. 

  
4. The development to which this planning permission in principle relates must commence 

no later than 2 years from the date of the requisite approval of any matters specified in 
conditions (or, in the case of approval of different matters on different dates, from the date 
of the requisite approval for the last such matter being obtained), whichever is the later. If 
the development has not commenced within this period, then this planning permission in 
principle shall lapse. 

 
5. In order to comply with Section 27A(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 

1997, prior to works commencing on site it is the responsibility of the developer to complete 
and submit the attached ‘Notice of Initiation of Development’ to the Planning Authority 
specifying the date on which the development will start.  

 
6. In order to comply with Section 27B(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 

1997 it is the responsibility of the developer to submit the attached ‘Notice of Completion’ 
to the Planning Authority specifying the date upon which the development was completed. 

Page 35



  
 
 
 
APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/00911/PPP 
 
 
PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

 The adopted Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan 2015 identifies the site as B-AL 3/1.  
The site is identified for uses within classes 4, 7 and for the sale of motor vehicles.. The 
current PPP indicates a proposed class 4 development of some 5574sqm with 2150sqm 
of associated Class 3/Sui Generis Public house use. It should be noted that these figures 
are indicative. 
 
It is noted that the application seeks to obtain permission for not only class 4 uses, which 
accord with the site allocation, but also for a class 3 restaurant or sui generis Public House 
use. This is not a class 7 hotel use and therefore is not strictly in accordance with the site 
allocation uses. However, subject to the scale of such proposals being clearly subordinate 
to the class 4 floorspace in any future detailed proposals for the site, these incidental uses 
are considered to be commonly found in business locations and therefore considered 
acceptable subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions to limit the scale of these 
uses and the phasing of their delivery.. Further detailed commentary on such matters is 
contained at Section L of this report. The proposals are therefore considered to 
substantively accord with LDP PROP 2. 
 
Policy LDP DM1 – Development within the Development Management Zones is supportive 
of ‘large scale’ development within the main towns.  Policy LDP 8 – Supporting the 
Strength of Our Communities is supportive of new sustainable development proposals.  
This is an identified business site deemed suitable for development The site is an 
Allocated Business and Industry Location within the LDP 2015.( BI-AL 3/1 for Classes 4, 
7 and motor sales) which defines the site as suitable for development for such uses on 
point of principle. 

 
Policy LDP STRAT 1 requires developers to have regard to sustainable development 
principles when preparing planning application submissions.  Some of the elements of this 
policy would not apply, as this is an allocation within the LDP with no existing buildings on 
the site.  However, other elements of the policy including the utilisation of public transport 
and active travel networks, biodiversity, landscape character and flooding have all been 
considered during the processing of this planning application.  These issues are assessed 
more fully in this appendix against the more detailed supplementary guidance policies. 
 
The proposals are therefore considered to be in general accordance with LDP STRAT 1 
and LDP DM 1 subject to evaluation against other policies and standards contained in the 
plan. 
 
Policy LDP 10 seeks to maximise resources and reduce consumption.  This requires 
developments to accord with the settlement strategy, utilise sustainable design principles, 
minimise waste, avoid areas subject to flood risk and minimise impact on biodiversity.  
These matters are considered in more detail under the relevant supplementary guidance. 

 
B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

Page 36



The application site covers an area of approximately 1.74 hectares and is located at the 

eastern side of the settlement of Helensburgh.  The proposed mixed‐use development 
involves the construction of 2 no. 30,000 sq. ft. office pavilions and a sui generis public 
house or a Class 3 restaurant, as well as associated access roads and car parking. A 
further 0.6 ha plot will be reserved for future development. 
 
Ground levels within the site vary between highs of approximately 8m AOD at the north-
eastern site corner to lows of approximately 3m AOD at the south-western site corner, 
adjacent to the Red Burn. Ground levels within the site generally slope in a southerly and 
south-westerly direction towards the raised railway embankment, where they then run in 
a westerly direction parallel to this embankment. 
 
The site is bounded to the north by the A814, Cardross Road which is the main road which 
connects the town to Dumbarton and the east. To the south by a railway line with the Clyde 
Estuary Special Protection Area (SPA) beyond this. To the west is the Red Burn and 
beyond this is a Morrisons Supermarket (formerly Waitrose).  
 
The Iona Stables complex itself is within an enclosed area located at the eastern boundary 
of the site. This is a complex of stables and single storey buildings and does not form part 
of the current PPP application site. 
 
The site is currently open fields which are used for the grazing. The site has a generally 
open aspect to the main public vantage points on the A814 Cardross Road from where it 
will form a prominent location as the first site coming into Helensburgh and the last site 
leaving it on the southern side of the road. The importance of the site as a “gateway 
location” is therefore an important consideration for any future detailed proposals should 
this PPP be approved. 

 
As this is a PPP detailed design, layout and landscaping matters will be subject to AMSC 
conditions requiring further submissions for approval in accordance with normal practice. 

 
C. Built Environment and Landscape Character 
 

The site is currently undeveloped. However the land to the west has been developed for 
a large retail unit (formerly Waitrose) and planning permission has been granted for a large 
scale 143 unit housing development on the Sawmill Field site which sits opposite the site.  

 
The site forms part of the urban edge of Helensburgh and will form an important gateway 
site into the town from the countryside beyond and will be widely visible from the train line 
which forms a southern boundary with the site. Therefore a high quality of urban design 
and landscaping will be required to reflect the importance and prominence of the site in 
moving detailed proposals forward. 
 
Policy LDP 3 requires that developments should protect, conserve or where possible 
enhance the established character of the built environment.  Policy LDP 9 – Development 
Setting, Layout and Design requires inter alia that development is sited and positioned so 
as to pay regard to the context within which it is located, that the layout and density shall 
effectively integrate with the urban, suburban or countryside setting, and that the design 
of the development is compatible with its surroundings. Based upon the limited detail 
submitted, it is considered that site would be capable of accommodating a development 
which could satisfy Policies LDP 3 and LDP 9.   
 
By virtue of its inclusion within the LDP as a business allocation, it has already been 
accepted that this is a suitable development site in landscape terms and subject to an 
acceptable layout and appropriate landscaping secured at the AMSC stage, the proposal 
would accord with policy SG LDP ENV 14. 

Page 37



 
D. Natural Environment 
 

The site itself contains no protected species or high value biodiversity features as clarified 
in the submitted ecological survey.  However the adjoining Inner Clyde SPA has required 
an Appropriate Assessment to be undertaken to ensure that the proposals would not have 
any impacts upon, in this instance Red Shank winter feeding behaviour.  
 
Both NatureScot and the Council’s biodiversity advisor take the view that during the 
construction phase, overwintering Redshank might be liable to acoustic and / or visual 
disturbance when the trains are not passing.  Also, any significant water pollution from the 
construction site could damage the quality of feeding habitat locally.   
 
For these two reasons NatureScot have advised that the proposal is likely to have a 
significant effect on the SPA interest unless appropriate conditions and controls are placed 
upon any permission. Unless they are satisfied with the proposed conditions their default 
position is of objection.  In these circumstances an Appropriate Assessment is therefore 
required to be carried out by Argyll and Bute Council as the competent authority. 
 
The Appropriate Assessment has been carried out and is attached as Appendix B to this 
report. Officers are of the opinion that subject to the imposition of mitigation conditions, 
suggested by NatureScot and agreed by the Council’s Biodiversity advisor, that the 
proposals can be permitted. Officers have recommended the imposition of an appropriate 
condition, in accordance with the expressed views of NatureScot in order to ensure no 
unacceptable impacts upon the SPA. 
 
There has been a specific requirement to ensure that existing trees along the boundary 
with the SPA are protected to maximise screening between the development site and the 
SPA. A condition to this effect is proposed and therefore the proposals are considered to 
be in accordance with policy SG LDP ENV 6 to safeguard these trees. 
 
More generally, additional boundary landscaping, internal landscaping, and the retention 
of screening trees along the boundary with the SPA and railway line will be factors in 
evaluating the detail of the scheme to maximise biodiversity potential of the site. Such 
matters are capable of effective control at AMSC stage to ensure amenity and biodiversity 
interests are addressed by future development. 
 
Through the provision of the submitted Ecological Report, and proposed conditions it is 
considered that policies SG LDP ENV 1 can be complied with. By seeking to impose 
appropriate conditions to protect the SPA in accordance with the views of NatureScot and 
the council’s biodiversity advisor the proposal is considered to be in accordance with SG 
LDP ENV 2, SG LDP ENV 3 and SG LDP ENV 4. 
 
 

 
F. Flooding and Drainage 
 

This is considered by Officers to the most significant matter which could potentially count 
against the approval of this application, given the objection in principle by SEPA to land 
raising associated with the proposal within an area subject to flooding.  

 
The applicant has commissioned a Flood Risk Assessment from Kaya Consulting Ltd 
which has been submitted in support of the application. This has concluded that the wider 
area between the proposed development and the Red Burn is at risk from coastal and 
fluvial flooding and therefore mitigation measures to protect future development from 
flooding impacts have been required. These include land raising. 

 

Page 38



The following documents and responses/submissions have been made in respect of 
flooding and drainage issues: 
 

 Planning Statement May 2020 (Iceni)- Paras 4.24 to 4.31 

 Drainage Strategy Statement (Blyth &Blyth) Dated 12.6.20 Kaya Consulting 

 Flood Risk Assessment May 2020 V5 (Pts 1 & 2) 
 

There have also been a number of additional exchanges in respect of flooding matters to 
seek to resolve any outstanding technical issues and the objections raised by SEPA as 
follows;  
 

 23.6.20:  Council Flooding Advisor Comments (Dated 23.6.20) No Objection to 
technical solution. 

 13.7.20: SEPA Objection Principle and technical issues raised 

 11.9.20: SEPA Second Objection. Now restricted to Principle of landraising. 
(Previous technical concerns addressed). 

 28.10.20 – Response to second SEPA Objection by applicant to Council 
 
Evaluation of Flooding Matters 
 
Although this is a PPP, it is considered fundamental in considering whether this application 
is acceptable in principle to evaluate the issue of flooding in some detail given the objection 
by SEPA to the landraising associated with the current planning application.  
 
It is considered appropriate for the purposes of determining this application to separate 
the flooding matters into two distinct criteria; 
 
a) Technical submissions to show workable solutions exist 
b) Compliance with national and LDP flooding policy advice 
 
Commentary on each of these criteria is set out below 
 
a) Technical Compliance with required standards and policies of the LDP 

 
 
The proposals would involve the raising of a platform within the site to levels of 5.6m AOD, 
to enable the development of 3 development plots for large, commercial buildings. The 
proposals would involve a large, car park being located adjacent to the platform at existing 
ground levels of between 3m AOD and 3.7m AOD. The total volume raised within the 
floodplain would equate to approximately 6000m³over an area of 3700m². (This is 
indicated at Figure 15 of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment). 
 
The applicant has outlined the following flooding impacts of the land raising in the Flood 
Risk Assessment (Part 2) submissions 
 

In the Q200T1 scenario water levels would be anticipated to increase no more than 
0.03m within the site and 0.03m a short distance upstream of the site. At all locations 
the Q200T1 flood levels are lower than the Q1T200 flood level, so the increase would 
not impact on design flood levels (which are based on the coastal flood). The 
supermarket adjacent to the site is thought to be raised well above the flood levels 
and this increase will not impact on this area. 
 
Immediately to the north of the site there is an increase of between 0.02-0.03m 
predicted, an increase from 4.36m AOD to 4.38m AOD. Again, the Q200T1 flood level 
is not the design event for this area, so the development would not impact on the peak 
200-year flood levels. Given the slope of land upstream of the site, an increase in 

Page 39



water levels of 0.02-0.03m would produce a very small increase in the fluvial 
floodplain extent as shown in Figures 16 & 17. The educational facility is much higher, 
meaning there is no significant impact on this location. 
 
Proposals have been submitted by a national housebuilder to develop the area 
immediately to the north of the site. The housebuilder kindly provided the current 
proposed development levels plan for the site. This showed that the development, 
including all roads and access roads, have been designed to be located above the 
5m contour, with ground levels raised to a minimum of 7.5m AOD. This means the 
increase in water levels in this area will not have a significant impact on development 
for the Q200T1 event. In the climate change scenario (Q200T1CC) water levels in this 
area could increase by up to 0.04m to a maximum water level of 5.68m AOD. This is 
still below the proposed ground levels of a minimum of 7.5m AOD and well below the 
proposed Finished Floor Levels of the development, which are a minimum of 8.15m 
AOD. This means the development to the north would maintain the required minimum 
freeboard of 0.6m. Therefore, the proposals for land-raising to enable development of 
the site will not have a significant impact on the proposed developed to the north. 

 
In respect of the technical ability of the proposal to address drainage and flooding the 
Council’s Flooding advisor has confirmed that he raises no objection to the proposals 
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. These have been placed on the 
proposed grant of planning permission and will ensure flooding matters are properly 
addressed in respect of technical submissions. 
 
The applicant provided further clarification on technical matters to SEPA following the 
initial objection (dated 13.7.20) and state in the most recent submission dated 28.10.20 
that 
 
In their response (2.7) SEPA acknowledge that Kaya has supplied further information in 
our updated Flood Risk Assessment and note that they “did not object on technical 
grounds” and that their response was based on “a matter of principle”. This indicates that 
SEPA are happy with the technical information provided and there is no further technical 
information that could be provided to change their position.  

 
Members are requested to note that an area of land on the Sawmill Field site has been 
secured through title restriction on the land as part of land disposal to facilitate the 
formation of the vehicular access to this site by the Head of Property in consultation with 
Planning Officers to ensure that this land remains unaltered and available as a flood plain 
to accommodate the small amount of additional flooding on this site associated with the 
land raising on the Iona Stables site. The area concerned already floods and there will be 
no impact upon the housing development currently being constructed. This title restriction 
on altering this land ensures that additional flooding capacity, with no adverse impacts, 
has been secured in perpetuity to assist in addressing flooding matters associated with 
the development of the Iona stable site. (This is further clarified in Figures 16 and 17 and 
Page 45 of the submitted Flood Risk Assessment). 

 
As highlighted in Section 5.5 of the submitted flood risk report, the proposed development 
will require raising part of the 200-year floodplain adjacent to the site, although the amount 
of land-raising has been minimised. The results of the agreed and accepted modelling 
suggest that the proposed development would have a minimal impact on local water 
levels. The maximum increase in water levels in a 1 in 200-year event, both within and 
outwith the site, is not expected to exceed 0.03m. As outlined in Section 5.5, increases 
are not predicted to significantly affect flood risk to others. 
 
The applicant further clarifies at section 6.1 of the Flood Risk Assessment that; 
 

Page 40



The main car park will be located in the functional floodplain at existing ground levels 
of between 3m AOD and 3.7m AOD. Additional parking is proposed on the proposed 
development platforms. Based on SEPA’s Land Vulnerability Guidance car parking is 
not included as a vulnerable land use and is normally considered as Water 
Compatible. This means SEPA normally permit the development of car parks in the 
floodplain. Proposed development plans suggest that car parking spaces have been 
located outwith the T1 coastal floodplain. However, in a larger event, say a T25 event, 
much of this lower level car park could be underwater up to depths in excess of 0.4m. 
Flood depths within the lowest parts of the car park could exceed 1.5m in 1 in 200-
year events. 
 
It is therefore recommended that an emergency evacuation plan is put in place to 
permit cars to be moved in advance of flooding. This should tie in with the SEPA Flood 
Warning Scheme for Helensburgh. It is recommended that a single party, whether the 
factor or the main tenant, is made responsible for enforcing the emergency evacuation 
plan and ensuring that vehicles and people can be moved in advance of flooding. 
Flood warning signs should also be provided in the car park. 
 

The Council’s flooding advisor is in agreement with this approach and has recommended 
an appropriate condition to secure a flood plan is brought forward, which will be placed 
upon any grant of planning permission. Importantly in respect of technical matters, the 
Councils Flooding Advisor raises no objection to the proposals subject to the imposition 
of appropriate conditions, and SEPA have also agreed that technical matters in respect of 
flooding have been adequately addressed.  
 
Their continued objection is to the raising of land within the functioning flood plain contrary 
to policy principle. The dispute in this case is therefore about compliance with policy, and 
not that a workable technical solution cannot be provided. 
 
For clarity, Officers have checked and confirm that the proposed development will not 
impact upon or undermine any proposals which are being brought forward and under the 
Argyll and Bute Local Flood Plan (PVA 11/02) – Helensburgh to Loch Long with the 
Council’s Flooding Officer. The applicants has also had regard to these matters, and in 
the design proposals as set out at page 27 of the submitted Flood Risk Analysis. 

 
b) Planning Policy Evaluation  

 
As stated above, Officers are content that a technical solution which causes no material 
harm to other land or uses is possible and SEPA themselves accept that the proposed 
technical solution is able to address flooding matters. Their Objection is therefore to the 
principle of land raising within area subject to flooding  
 
This policy objection has been addressed in considerable detail in the comments provided 
by the Council’s Policy advisor. Given the importance of this matter to the determination 
of the application, and for ease of reference by Members, his detailed comments on this 
matter are set out below: 
 
 

The Business and Industry Allocation BI –AL 3/1 was included as an allocation in the 
Argyll and Bute Local Plan which was adopted in 2009.  Its origins as a proposed 
allocation date back to the Consultative Draft Argyll and Bute Local Plan of 2003.  The 
Consultative Draft Local Plan reflecting a need to find additional land for employment 
related development in the Helensburgh and Lomond area which was identified in the 
Argyll and Bute Structure Plan 2002 and indeed the Draft version of the Structure Plan 
which dated from 2000. 
 

Page 41



The allocation BI- AL 3/1 was carried forward unchanged to the Argyll and Bute Local 
Development Plan 2015, and is rolled forward in the Proposed Local Development 
Plan 2 as B2001.  The Proposed Local Development Plan 2 recognises the reduced 
size of the site following the development at Iona Stables and also the supermarket 
development on the western section of the site, the gross size of the allocation now 
being 3.8 ha compared to the 6.7 ha originally allocated to give a net capacity of 3.5 
ha.   
 
When the site was identified as an allocation for Business and Industrial Development 
in the Draft Argyll and Bute Local Plan, it was recognised that the identification as an 
allocation for these purposes would necessitate its removal from the greenbelt, and 
inclusion within the developed area of Helensburgh.  The necessity to identify 
additional land for business and industrial development and the suitability of this area 
for this purpose was fully explored as part of the Local Plan examination process and 
the site’s status as an allocation for business and industrial development confirmed in 
the Adopted Local Development Plan.  As a Local Development Plan allocation the 
site has been recognised as land which; “is required to facilitate key development 
strategies which come forward through the Local Development Plan Process”. 
 
In addition to its status as an allocation the Local Development Plan the development 
will help support the achievement of the vision and key objectives which include “the 
overall vision for Argyll and Bute is one of an economically successful, outward 
looking and highly adaptable area”, Key Objective A  “to make Argyll and Bute’s Main 
Towns …increasingly attractive places where people want to live work and 
invest;”.  Para 4.1.8 of the Adopted Local Development Plan identified key actions to 
be undertaken during the period of the plan by the Council and its partners: …To 
ensure that there is sufficient industrial and business land available at a local and 
strategic level and look also to promote the marketability, serving and landscaping of 
key sites through public and private funding.    The proposal is also consistent with 
Policy LDP5 – Supporting the Sustainable Growth of Our Economy which states that 
Argyll and Bute Council will give particular priority to new business and industry 
development in our business allocations. …  
 
He continues; 
 
….The Local Development Plan through Policy LDP 10 Maximising our Resources 
and Reducing Our Consumption, seeks to support sustainable development and to 
recognise the effects of climate change.  The policy contains 11 criteria against which 
proposals should be assessed, for most of these the proposals can be assessed 
positively (e.g. settlement strategy), however one of the criteria relates to avoiding 
areas subject to flood risk or erosion.  SEPA have identified that parts of the site lie 
within a 1:200 year risk area for river flooding and more extensively a 1:200 year risk 
from coastal flooding.   In this regard the proposals require to be assessed in more 
detail against Supplementary Guidance Policy SG LDP SERV 7...   
Flooding  
Development on the functional flood plain will be considered contrary to the 
objectives of this plan. In exceptional circumstances, where land is required to 
facilitate key development strategies which come forward through the Local 
Development Plan process, land raising may be acceptable provided effective 
compensatory flood storage can be demonstrated and it will not lead to flooding 
elsewhere, and the objectives of the EU Water Framework Directive are not 
compromised in so doing. Where redevelopment of existing sites within built 
up areas at risk from flooding is proposed, the planning authority will take into 
account the impact on flood risk elsewhere and the mitigation measures 
proposed.  
Guidance on the type of development that will be generally permissible within 
specific flood risk areas is set out below. However it should be noted that in all 

Page 42



cases where the potential for flooding is highlighted, the planning authority will 
exercise the ‘precautionary principle’ and refuse development proposals where 
such proposals do not comply with parts (A); (B); (C); (D) and (E) as set out 
below and/or on the advice of the Scottish Environment Protection Agency 
(SEPA):  
(A)All types of development within “little or no risk areas” (of less than 1:1000 
annual probability of Flooding) are acceptable in terms of this policy unless 
local circumstances and/or the nature of the development dictate otherwise; 
(B)All types of development, excluding essential civil infrastructure, within “low 
to medium risk areas” of between 1:1000 and 1:200 annual probability of 
flooding) are acceptable in terms of this policy unless local circumstances 
dictate otherwise; 
(C)Within “medium to high risk areas” (1:200 or greater annual probability of 
flooding) only those categories of development indicated in (C) (i), (ii) and (iii) 
may be acceptable: 
               

i) Residential, commercial and industrial development within built-up areas 
providing flood prevention measures to the appropriate standard (1:100 year 
return period)already exist or are under construction. Water resistant materials/ 
construction together with a suitable freeboard allowance as appropriate;  

ii) Development on undeveloped and sparsely developed areas within the 
functional floodplain and comprising: 
•Essential development such as navigation and water based recreation use, 
agriculture and essential transport and some utilities infrastructure; and an 
alternative lower risk location is not achievable; 
•Essential infrastructure should be designed and constructed to remain 
operational during floods; 
•Certain recreational, sport, amenity and nature conservation uses providing 
adequate evacuation procedures are in place; 
•Certain job related residential use with a locational need; 
•In all cases loss of storage capacity in the functional flood plain is minimised 
and  
suitably compensated for, and any such measures would not compromise the 
objectives of the EU Water Framework Directive. Where compensatory flood 
water storage is deemed necessary it should be designed to provide like for like 
storage, that is volume for volume and level for level;  
•In all cases new development should not add to the land which requires 
protection by engineered flood prevention measures. 
 
iii)Development, which is in accord with flood prevention or management 
measures as specified in association with a Local Development Plan Allocation 
or development brief. 
 
Development of the site can be supported by the policy, in that by reason of its 
identification as an allocation it has been identified as land which is required to 
facilitate key development strategies through the Local Development Plan process, 
so that land raising may be acceptable provided effective compensatory flood storage 
can be demonstrated and it will not lead to flooding elsewhere.  This approach was 
used to justify the new swimming pool development on the pier head at Helensburgh, 
which was subject to much more significant coastal flooding, but similarly had been 
identified as an allocation in the Local Development Plan.   
 
I note that SEPA have objected in principle to the proposed development, on the basis 
that they do not consider that exceptional circumstances apply in this 
instance.   However, the site is the only site which is identified as an allocation for 
business and industrial development in the Helensburgh area, and significant 
opportunities and benefits to the local economy and community have been presented 

Page 43



to the area by the £1.3 Billion investment in HMNB Clyde as the UK’s submarine base. 
These can only be fully realised once the identified shortfall of accommodation for 
business and employment purposes has been addressed.   I am not aware of any 
other sites in the Helensburgh and Lomond area which would be available to meet 
the need for business and employment land, particularly with the locational 
advantages of Colgrain, given its accessibility to retail and education facilities, 
housing, railway station, bus routes and active travel networks, such that its 
development really would help to contribute to the development of a sustainable 20 
minute neighbourhood subject to the satisfactory mitigation of flood risk, which I 
believe can be achieved with the scheme proposed by the applicant. 

 
The Council’s policy advisor has therefore confirmed that he considers that the proposals 
are in accordance with the LDP objectives and policies, as well as providing wider 
employment and economic benefits. No objections are therefore raised in respect of the 
proposal and this is a significant matter in recommending that the proposals should be 
supported. Further commentary in respect of the potential economic benefits of the 
proposal, which are a material planning consideration are set out at section G below.  
 
Further development plan policy officer commentary in respect of the compliance with 
policy SG LDP RET 1 and the allocated uses for the site in the current LDP are contained 
at section L of this report. 

 
 
G. Economic Benefits of the Proposal  
 

As the application site is an allocated business and employment site within the current 
LDP, and as has been previously stated, the proposals are considered to be in accordance 
with the allocation of the LDP. The planning policy advisor, in supporting the proposal, has 
confirmed that 

 
In addition to its status as an allocation the Local Development Plan the development will 
help support the achievement of the vision and key objectives which include “the overall 
vision for Argyll and Bute is one of an economically successful, outward looking and highly 
adaptable area”, Key Objective A “to make Argyll and Bute’s Main Towns …increasingly 
attractive places where people want to live work and invest;”.  Para 4.1.8 of the Adopted 
Local Development Plan identified kay actions to be undertaken during the period of the 
plan by the Council and its partners: …To ensure that there is sufficient industrial and 
business land available at a local and strategic level and look also to promote the 
marketability, serving and landscaping of key sites through public and private funding.    
The proposal is also consistent with Policy LDP5 – Supporting the Sustainable Growth of 
Our Economy which states that Argyll and Bute Council will give particular priority to new 
business and industry development in our business allocations.  
 
Actions to help take forward the Key Objectives of the Development Plan have been 
included with in the Argyll and Bute Rural Growth Deal which has recently been agreed 
with both the UK and Scottish Governments.   Rural Growth Deal Project 9 seeks to create 
a centre of excellence and community growth, by realising the local community 
opportunities to support the MoD Maritime Change Programme which will see HMNB 
Clyde become the UK Submarine Centre of Specialisation.   There are opportunities to 
provide services and technical support as well as business supply chain opportunities, 
and in order to capitalise on these the Rural Growth Deal identifies the need to create 
additional business and industry space in the Helensburgh area, the project has therefore 
proposes the delivery of a new, mixed use, high specification Business Park in the 
Helensburgh area.  The site at Colgrain is the only site identified as an allocation in the 
Local Development Plan for such purposes. 
 

Page 44



Economic growth have also been consulted on the application given the potential 
importance of such matters in reaching a decision in this instance. In their response they 
state that: 
 
…..Helensburgh Central specifically, has had a rising unemployment rate since August 
2018 and the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on all of the wards in 
Helensburgh and Lomond. On this basis, it would be anticipated that the proposed 
development will assist the local economy in terms of job opportunities post pandemic.  

 
The importance of the site in respect of economic development is also reflected in the 
recently agreed Rural Growth Deal  with specific reference being made to the importance 
of the provision of this “off base” employment site to potentially facilitate supporting 
employment uses for the base and the wider Maritime Change Agenda.  

 
As the only designated employment site, failure to bring forward the application site would 
have serious consequences for employment strategy in the Helensburgh Area and 
undermine a plan led approach to the provision of an effective supply of employment land 
to meet the needs of the area. 
 
Officers consider that as this is an allocated employment site, the long term job creation 
opportunities and economic benefits of its development carry significant weight in 
favouring the approval of the current planning application, notwithstanding the objection 
in principle by SEPA on flooding matters. It is this judgement and weighting of the merits 
of the application that lead officers to consider that in this specific instance, having regard 
to the status of the site that planning permission should be granted. 
 
The proposal is considered to comply with and support the objectives as set out in policies 
LDP 5, LDP 8, SG LDP BUS 1 and SG LDP BUS 4. 

 
H. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters. 
 

Policy SG LDP TRAN 2 requires development proposals to have regard to selecting and 
orientating development sites such that advantage can be taken of existing or potential 
public transport services.  Regular bus services are accessible from the application site 
with bus stops on Cardross Road within easy walking distance.  In addition, Craigendoran 
Train Station is within a 10 to 15 minute walk from the site.  This policy also requires that 
the internal provision is made for pedestrians and cyclists.  This issue will be considered 
fully at the AMSC stage. 
 
Development layouts are required to special needs access provision when arranging 
development layouts.  Policy SG LDP TRAN 3 addresses the special needs of the 
disabled, older people, the very young, pedestrians and cyclists whilst also requiring 
suitable provision to be made for service vehicle access and turning.  This issue also 
requires to be addressed at the AMSC stage and a condition is proposed. 
 
In accordance with policy SG LDP TRAN 4 the proposal will require to be served by an 
adopted road network.  The development would be accessed from the A814.  

 
It is noted that the recommended condition from the Area Roads Engineer also references 
the proposed access to the Sawmill field housing site opposite. Details of the proposed 
access for this site are, at time of writing, submitted to the planning authority but not as 
yet approved for planning and RCC purposes. The location of the access has however 
been approved providing certainty on this matter which has not historically been the case 
when considering both sites.  

 
An appropriate condition to secure an acceptable roads access and safe pedestrian and 
cycle movements has been proposed by the Area Roads Engineer the wording of which 

Page 45



ensures that any details submitted will require to have regard to, and work in conjunction 
with, any details approved in respect of the new access to the Sawmill Field housing site 
opposite.  
 
The Road Network Manager has no objections subject to conditions and the proposal 
accords fully with policies SG LDP TRAN 4 and SG LDP TRAN5. 

  
I. Infrastructure 
 

Due to the lack of proximity of an existing surface water sewer network, a surface water 
connection is proposed to the Red Burn watercourse via an outfall pipe from the surface 
water network provided for the new development. The development site and the wider 
area between the site and the Red Burn are in the same ownership so that a wayleave for 
the proposed outfall route can be arranged in straightforward manner. 
 
A housing development is proposed for the Sawmill Field site to the north of the A814, 
opposite the proposed development. A pumped foul system is proposed for this site and 
this will be vested in Scottish Water. Should this be constructed and adopted by Scottish 
Water, it is proposed to connect to this drainage system, via gravity or alternatively by a 
relatively short pumped rising main. Alternatively, an independent private packaged 
pumping station and long rising main will be required to be installed to transfer flows direct 
to the Scottish Water sewer in Cardross Road. 
 
Scottish Water have confirmed by consultation response dated 19.06 20 that the existing 
wastewater network has sufficient capacity to serve the site and has raised no objections 
to the proposals 

 
J. Green Networks 
 

Policy LP ENV 8 encourages developments to contribute towards the creation, retention 
and improvement of green networks within and surrounding Helensburgh.  Developers are 
expected to demonstrate that their developments safeguard and enhance the 
environmental integrity and functionality of the green network. There are no core paths in 
the vicinity of the site and access to the shore is blocked by the A814 and the railway line.  
At the detailed AMSC phase consideration will however be given to facilitating links 
between the development and cycle track and footways. 

 
K.  Waste 
 

Policy LDP SERV 5(b) requires detailed application for medium or large scale 
developments to provide details of the arrangements for storage, separation and collection 
of waste to be submitted.  The policy also requires the submission of a Site Waste 
Management Plan which shall ensure the minimisation of waste during the construction 
phase. A condition is recommended to ensure that this issue is fully addressed at the 
AMSC stage.   

 
 
L. Other Material Planning Considerations 
  

This is an application where Officers consider that compliance with the site allocation for 
business and employment use within the adopted and previous LDP and the economic 
benefits of the proposal, on the balance of planning judgement, outweighs the objection 
by SEPA on the principle of land raising associated with the development.  
 
Given the proposal also seeks to gain planning permission for a class 3 restaurant or sui 
generis public house use it is also necessary to evaluate the proposals against both the 
site allocation uses, and also policy SG LDP RET 1 in respect of the sequential approach 

Page 46



for retail developments. Again the Development Plan Policy officer has provided detailed 
commentary on these matters in his response dated 1.4.21.  
 
With respect to a class 3/sui generis public house use not being specifically referenced in 
the current site he states that: 
 

The public house/restaurant use is not explicitly provided for in the allocation, but these 
are the types of use which would normally be provided for as part of a use class 7 
(hotel) use, in addition to hotel bedrooms.   The provision of hotels can take a wide 
range of business models and include those where only bedroom accommodation is 
provided, with other services such as bars and restaurants being provided in separate 
adjacent buildings, to others where bars, restaurants, conference and leisure facilities 
are provided and where bedroom accommodation is an almost ancillary part of the 
operation.   Not all of the allocation is included within the application site which extends 
further to the east towards the entrance to Iona Stables, and the indicative plan shows 
that remaining part of the allocation can be accessed from the proposed layout, and is 
outwith SEPA’s 1:200 flood risk area. 
 

 In respect of policy SG LDP RET 1 he confirms that: 
 
 The public house/restaurant is a sui generis/ Class 3 use, which would normally be 

expected to be an appropriate town centre use, with class 3 being one of the classes 
specified in SG LDP RET 1, this seeks to establish a sequential approach to site 
selection for class 1,2 and 3 uses, in order to direct these uses firstly to the town centre, 
the  edge of town centre and then other locations in the town which are accessible.  The 
policy provides an exception for certain types of small scale retail development where 
these are designed to serve a local residential area or are associated with tourist 
facilities, farm or factory shops.   While no details of the floorspace of the public 
house/restaurant have been provided, in my experience these types of facility often 
range between 400 – 750 square metres, and would constitute a medium scale of 
development in terms of policy SG LDP RET 1.   This scale of development could be 
supported by the policy at this location on the basis that there are no suitable sites 
capable of accommodating the scale of the proposed development within the defined 
town centre or edge of town centre.   The policy also requires consideration of the likely 
impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre from development in such out of 
centre locations.  As the public house and restaurant are part of a larger scheme to 
provide over 5,500 square meters of office accommodation, it is considered likely that 
many of its customers will be those working in the new offices, and as such impacts on 
the town centre are likely to be reduced.   

  
 In order to ensure compliance with SG LDP RET 1 the Planning policy Officer has 

commented that a number of matters require to be addressed by use of conditions: 
 

It is however important that in order to ensure impacts on the town centre are minimised 
that the public house/ restaurant be part of a phased scheme for the overall 
development, and that its maximum gross floorspace be limited to not more than 1000 
square metres.  I would also recommend removing the permitted development rights 
so that changes of use from class 3, to class 2 or class 1 are not permitted, and also 
preventing subdivision into smaller units, as class 1 or 2 uses, or the provision of two 
or more smaller units, could have impacts on the town centre which would require to 
be assessed by means of an application. 
 
Conditions are therefore proposed to ensure that: 
 

 The class3 / sui generis public house use cannot be built in advance of the 
development of at least one of the  office blocks commencing  

Page 47



 

 the gross floorspace of the class 3/sui generis building will be limited to a 
maximum of 1000sqm gross floorspace    

 

 Subdivision  of the unit will be stopped by condition  
 

 Change of use from class 3 to class 2 or class 1 under existing permitted 
development rights will be removed. 

 
It is therefore the judgement of Officers, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions, 
that the proposal complies with Policy LDP 7 and the wider objectives and policies of the 
adopted LDP.  
 
In respect of SG LDP BAD 1, the proposed site of the class 3/sui generis public house use 
is considered to be sufficiently distant from any existing or proposed residential occupiers 
to ensure that unacceptable amenity impacts would not occur and it is noted that 
Environmental Protection have raised no objections to the proposal. 
 
It is however also considered important to acknowledge and give weight to other council 
policy objectives set out in a number of approved council documents, as set out below: 
 
Argyll and Bute Corporate Plan 2018 – 2022 
 
The vision is set out at Section 1.0. Stating 
 
Argyll and Bute is an area of Scotland with outstanding places, people and potential for a 
prosperous future for everyone. Our Council, along with our Community Planning 
Partners, is committed to ensuring that Argyll and Bute’s Economic Success is built on a 
Growing Population 
 
An important component of growing the population is ensuring that job opportunities are 
created. The first of the stated six outcomes at section 2.0 of the plan is that: 

 
Our Economy is diverse and thriving  
 
Section 2.1 states that over the five year plan period an agreed corporate priority is to  

 
make the most of our assets to build the local economy 
 
As an allocated site within the LDP, the promotion of business and employment related 
development on this site is considered to be wholly in accordance with, and an important 
mechanism to deliver job opportunities in accordance with the vision of the corporate plan.  

 
Argyll and Bute Economic Strategy 2019-2023 
 
The introduction to this document clarifies the importance of ensuring jobs are both 
protected and created within Argyll and Bute stating: 
 
A prosperous and inclusive economy lies at the heart of council priorities and this is 
reflected in the Argyll and Bute Outcome Improvement Plan 2013 – 2023 that has been 
agreed with the Scottish Government. 
 
One of the key issues identified is supporting priority sectors such as engineering, 
renewables, defence and marine industries, stating at Page 19 that; 
 

Page 48



…The Maritme Change Programme also represents a significant expansion of the 
activities of HMNB Clyde with £1.3B capital investment up until 2030. This expansion 
linked to new training opportunities with the base and with potential to expand in 
the wider community offers a hugely significant opportunity to both grow our population 
and create a full range of new job opportunities including in highly technical areas. 
 
It is further clarified at page 20 that: 

 
Argyll and Bute’s population continues to decline in common with a number of Scotland’s 
west coast Local authorities…..A key priority of the council is to reverse this long term 
trend and having a growing economy is fundamental if we are to attract and retain 
people to our region. 

 
Page 21 further states that: 
 
To remain competitive in the global economy Argyll businesses need to play to their 
main strengths and continue to add value to the services they offer and their products 
through innovation, often involving academic collaboration. In Argyll our areas with 
greatest potential lie with aquaculture, marine science, creative industries, food and 
drink products and engineering associated with the defence industries. 
 
Consequently, we are looking to develop a number of business clusters that can 
accelerate growth through mutual cooperation, creating higher value jobs requiring 
greater skill sets and add to our key economic outputs. 

 
Our role here is to attract sufficient private and public investment to establish a number 
of business clusters with the ability to accelerate growth in higher value jobs. 

 
The importance of the LDP allocation of sites for development and the critical role this 
plays in delivering economic growth potential is set out at Page 24 of the Economic 
Strategy, stating that 

 
If businesses are to grow and new houses are to be built there needs to be a plentiful 
supply of deliverable development land in the places where people want to invest and 
live. In Argyll and Bute we do have a plentiful supply of land available but in many cases 
it is too costly to provide the necessary infrastructure to allow development to take place.  
 
A number of areas also have a shortage of suitable and affordable business premises at 
the right price and location to enable businesses to grow. Our role here is to raise the 
profile of our area as a place to invest and ensure through the Local Development Plan 
process that appropriate employment space is available. 
 
Members will note that the importance of this site in seeking to provide suitable land for 
such job and growth opportunities has been clearly referenced in respect of commentary 
from the Planning Policy Officer.  
 
Granting Planning permission for these proposals is considered by officers to be of critical 
importance in meeting these Corporate and Economic Strategy objectives of the Council 
given the lack of alternative sites in the area. Compliance with these approved documents 
is considered to be a material planning consideration which adds weight to the judgement 
that in this instance planning permission should be granted. 

 
 
M. Conclusion. 
 

All aspects of this PPP are considered to be readily addressed subject to the imposition 
of appropriate conditions to cover flooding, design, access, parking and development 

Page 49



specific issues.  In this case it is considered that the weight of considerations favours a 
recommendation to grant planning permission in principle for the reasons stated in this 
report. 

Page 50



  
APPENDIX B HABITATS REGULATIONS APPROPRIATE ASSESSMENT (AA) 
 

HABITAT DIRECTIVE 92-43-EEC 
THE CONSERVATION (NATURAL HABITATS AND C.) REGULATIONS 1994  
AS AMENDED 
 
The Habitat Regulations 1994 apply to the Inner Clyde SPA which is designated under 
European legislation for its population of wintering redshank, Tringa totanus. 
 
An AA is required to be undertaken in cases where any plan or project which: 
(a)  either alone or in combination with other plans or projects would be likely to have a 
significant effect on a European site designated for nature conservation; 
 
and 
 
(b) is not directly connected with the management of the site. 
 
NatureScot have taken the view that during the construction phase, overwintering redshank 
might be liable to disturbance.  Also, any significant pollution from the construction site could 
damage the quality of feeding habitat locally.  For these two reasons NatureScot have advised 
that the proposal is likely to have a significant effect on the SPA interest unless appropriate 
conditions and controls are placed upon any permission. Unless they are satisfied with the 
proposed conditions their default position is of objection.  In these circumstances an AA is 
therefore required to be carried out by Argyll and Bute Council as competent authority. 
 
Nigel Rudd Ecology has provided appropriate Ecological Assessment as supporting 
information (May 2020) in order to inform and assist with the Council’s Appropriate 
Assessment.  
 
The Inner Clyde SPA accommodates one of Britain’s highest densities of overwintering 
redshank and as the closest part of the SPA is located some 30 metres from the site, 
NatureScot have required an analysis of the extent to which the current habituation of 
redshank to railway noise might raise their threshold for disturbance by abrupt construction 
noise. 
 
The potential impacts of the development in relation to the Inner Clyde SPA conservation 
objectives have been considered.  Each conservation objective and any likely impacts are 
summarised below: 
 
To maintain the population of redshank as a viable component of the site: Any disturbance will 
be short term and over a single winter season.  In addition, the area adjacent to the site forms 
only a small part of the SPA and there are other areas of available habitat located nearby.   
Research has indicated that redshank numbers return to previous levels following construction 
and subject to mitigation measures recommended in the supporting report redshank would 
not be affected as a viable component of the site. 
 
To maintain the distribution of redshank within the site in the long term:  The area is already 
subject to background noise and it is not considered that small scale and temporary 
construction noise would have any significant effect on the distribution of the species in the 
long term subject to measures recommended in the supporting report. 
 

Page 51



To maintain the distribution of extent of habitats supporting redshank: There will be no impact 
to the habitats within the SPA subject to strict adherence to appropriate pollution prevention 
measures in accordance with SEPA guidelines. 
 
To maintain the structure, function and supporting processes of habitats supporting redshank: 
It is considered that there is no potential for the proposed development to prevent the 
maintenance in the long term of the structure, function and supporting processes of habitats 
supporting the SPA subject to acceptable pollution prevention measures in accordance with 
SEPA guidelines. 
 
No significant disturbance to redshank:  Based upon desk study research and in consideration 
of the maximum train noise recorded at 84dB, it can be assumed that noise at this level on the 
site would not be likely to have the potential to significantly affect roosting or feeding redshank 
on the shore next to the site.  Where maximum noise levels could be higher, mitigation 
measures will be in place to limit noise to no more than 70dB. 
 
Potential for visual disturbance is considered to be minimal due to the site sitting lower than 
the railway line, however, further mitigation is proposed in this respect. 
 
Consideration also has to be given to the cumulative impacts of developments. The Sawmill 
Field housing site located to the north of the current application site is sufficiently distant from 
the SPA to have no impact upon it and is therefore not material to the consideration of the 
potential impacts of the current proposals on the SPA..  . 
 
The following mitigation measures are proposed in the supporting information: 
 

5.13 The potential adverse effects on the habitats can be readily mitigated by ensuring 
there is no discharge of untreated surface water runoff from the site to the SAC 
mudflats. This will be implemented through the surface water drainage plan which will 
be approved by SEPA. Contamination of the SAC by windblown material will be dealt 
with by secure containment of construction materials and dampening down of bare 
ground areas of the site during extended dry periods of weather. 
 
5.14 Disturbance of redshank using the mudflats to the south of the Site is more likely 
to occurring during the construction phase of development, when operations will be 
carried out that generate intermittent noise or vibration. Increased human activity 
will be introduced at this time. The simplest way to avoid disturbing the visiting 
birds would be to only undertake this work between May to August. This is unlikely 
to be acceptable so other measures should be employed. 
 
5.15 Disturbance by movement and some sound can be achieved by screening the 
Site from the SAC using visual and sound attenuation barriers. There are two existing 
screening elements between the Site and the SAC, tree cover to the north of the 
railway line, and the railway embankment itself. 
 
5.16 Construction activity inevitably involves the use of equipment that generates 
intermittent and loud noises and potentially vibrations. The presence of the 
measures set out above will not address operations such as percussive piling or 
drilling which can generate both loud noises and shock vibrations. These factors 
can be addressed by style of construction and foundation excavation employing 
designs which do not result in excessive noise generation, or where this is not 
possible creating piling supports using CHD (Continuous Helical Displacement) 
which is very quiet relative to other methods, generates no percussive vibrations 
and is much quicker than other methods, such that the work can be completed in a 
shorter time further reducing the potential impacts. 

Page 52



 
5.17 It is proposed that the impacts on the SAC are minimised by retaining the tree 
cover between the Site and the railway line, installing screens between the Site and 
the SAC, employing sound attenuation technology to site machinery and using CED 
technology. 
 
5.18 It is SNH’s experience that adopting an approach as recommended in 5.17 
addresses the Appropriate Assessment of Effects requirement and avoids the need 
for an excessively restrictive condition on a planning consent. It will be the 
responsibility of the main contractor and the developer to ensure that the approach 
is adhered to and it is recommended that an Ecological Clerk of Works to inspect, 
where necessary supervise, and to keep a record of compliance with the proposed 
working methods. 
 
5.19 There is one Local Nature Conservation Site within 1km of the Site. The LNCs is 
not directly connected with the development site and will be unaffected by 
development as proposed. 
 
Summary 
5.29 Development of the Cardross Road Site has the potential to adversely affect the 
population redshank visiting the Inner Clyde SAC. It is proposed that the potential 
effects will be mitigated by the timing of operations and the use of methods which 
reduce disturbance of the birds. It is considered employing of the measures discussed 
above will ensure there is no significant adverse effect on the redshank population and 
no compromise of their conservation status, such that the integrity of the SAC is not 
compromised. 

 
 
NatureScot have advised that the Planning Authority can consider their objection withdrawn 
if: the following condition is imposed on any grant of planning permission;. 
 
All construction activity shall be scheduled out with the redshank wintering period ( ie 
confined to the months of May to August inclusive  
 
Or 
 
That all of the following measures are adopted – 
 
• That prior to any development work commencing during the maximum extent of the 
redshank wintering months of September to April inclusive, a visual screen should be put in 
place sufficient to visually obscure all site operations during remediation and development 
from the point of view of redshank feeding within areas of the SPA out to a distance of 
150metres from the site boundary. The visual screening will only be necessary for areas 
where further site investigation suggests that existing riverside vegetation may currently be 
inadequate to screen the site up to the top level of the new buildings. Any screens installed 
should be adequately maintained throughout all development activities taking place during 
these wintering months. 
 
• That all piling during the months of September to April inclusive is undertaken using 

the Helical Displacement method with no piling undertaken during hours of darkness. 
 
• That any site lighting is directed away from the Clyde foreshore/the SPA 
 
• That SEPA Guidelines for controlling run off, drainage and pollution are adhered to in 

full 

Page 53



 
 
 
 
 
 
Officers propose to impose such a condition on any grant of PPP and therefore it is considered 
that any potentially harmful impacts of the development on the SPA are capable of acceptable 
mitigation through the use of this planning condition. 
 
In conclusion, an AA has been undertaken in relation to the conservation objectives of the 
Inner Clyde SPA.  This has revealed that subject to mitigation measures, secured through 
planning conditions, that the proposal would not have an adverse impact on these objectives. 
 

Page 54



Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Argyll and Bute Council 
Development and Economic Growth 

 
Delegated or Committee Planning Application Report and Report of handling as required 
by Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning Permission or Planning 
Permission in Principle 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Reference No: 20/00940/PP 
 
Planning Hierarchy: Local Development  
 
Applicant:  Argyll and Bute Council  
  
Proposal: Extension to existing car marshalling area and formation of vehicular 

access 
 
Site Address:  Land North West of The Pier, Craignure, Isle of Mull  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
  
DECISION ROUTE  
 
Local Government Scotland Act 1973 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 
 (i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission 
  

 Extension of vehicle marshalling area  

 Formation of new vehicle access  

 Closure of existing vehicle access and reinstatement of foot path 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Having due regard to the Development Plan and all other material considerations, it is 
recommended that Temporary planning permission be Granted as a minor departure 
from the Local Development Plan. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(C) HISTORY:   
 
 No Recent Planning History   
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  

Page 57 Agenda Item 5



(D) CONSULTATIONS:   
 
 Area Roads Officer  
 

Response dated 04.07.20 advising that there are no objections to the development 
proposed, subject to conditions that the new vehicle access onto the A849 Salen-
Craignure-Iona Ferry Road be formed in accordance with Operational Service Drawing 
SD08/001a, with appropriate visibly splays of 53 metres by 2.4 metres being formed north 
and south of the junction.  

 
Planning Authority Comment:  Conditions to this effect have been recommended and 
appended to this report.   
 

  Scottish Environmental Protection Agency (SEPA)   
 

Letter received, dated 30.07.20 confirming no objections to the development proposed on 
flood risk grounds. SEPA confirms that the site is located within the medium likelihood 
(0.5%) annual probability or 1 in 200 year return period flood extent area, and may be at 
medium to high risk of flooding. However, as the application refers to an alteration and/or 
small scale extension to an existing building, these forms of development are generally 
outwith the scope of Scottish Planning Policy, provided they do not have any detrimental 
impact on the functional floodplain.  Having reviewed the application in detail SEPA are 
satisfied the development will not represent a significant loss of floodplain storage, 
conveyance or increase in local flood risk.  
 
Planning Authority Comment:  The development proposed is small scale and will not 
result in any above ground development which would alter the flow or storage of flood 
water, beyond what already exists.  Whilst the formation of a new vehicle crossing and 
service lane will introduce an additional area of hard surface, the area of ground covered 
by this development is small and unlikely to have any impacts beyond the site. A significant 
part of the development (approximately 40% by area), will be retained as ‘grasscrete’, 
being a porous surface, thereby allowing natural drainage.    
 
Nature Scotland   
   
Letter Received 26.08.20 stating that there are no objections to the development. The 
proposal does not meet our minimum criteria for consultation.  

 
 Planning Authority Comment:  No additional comments made.  
 

Local Development Plans  
 
Email dated 28.08.20 – Confirmed to the Planning Authority that the area of ground, the 
subject of this application, is designated as being an Open Space Protection Area (OSPA). 
Local Development Plans further confirm that no records exist to demonstrate the exact 
purpose or reason for the original land designation.  However, in their opinion, the purpose 
of the OPSA “is to provide protection to an area of greenspace amenity on the shore side 
of the A849. This area provides visual amenity functions for the settlement of Craignure 
as well as the recreational functions provided by Core Path route C022 and the slipway 
that are both just to the north west of the application site”.    
 
Planning Authority Comment:  Policy LDP STRAT 1 of the Local Development Plan 
(LDP) sets out that in preparing new development proposals developers should seek to 
demonstrate amongst other matters, to avoid the loss of important recreational and 
amenity open space. Furthermore, supplementary guidance SG LDP REC/COM 2 
provides that the development of formally established public or private recreational areas 
and areas of open space protection shown to be safeguarded in the LDP proposal maps 

Page 58



shall not be permitted except where it can be adequately demonstrated that there would 
be no loss of amenity through either partial or complete development and that an 
alternative provision of equal benefit and accessibility be made available.  
 
The development proposed cannot fully meet policy SG LDP REC/COM 2 in that the  
Economic Development Unit has identified no alternative Council-owned land existing at 
Craignure which could be re-purposed  to provide an alternative area of recreational or 
amenity space to offset the loss of part of this existing amenity land. This application must 
therefore be assessed a minor departure to the LDP. However, whilst the development 
does not technically comply with LDP Policy SG REC/COM 2, is it considered only a slight 
departure for the technical reason described. The development as a whole will not result 
in any permanent loss of landscape value, nor will there be any restrictions to the use of 
the land by the public.  Changes in the appearance of the site will be temporary and will 
not significantly alter the level of amenity currently enjoyed from within the public domain.     
 
In order for the Planning Authority to consider a minor departure from the LDP as being 
acceptable, material planning considerations must be weighed against any potential harm 
arising from the departure to planning policy. In this case, there is a clear operational need 
for the additional marshalling space to address a known road safety concern. As such, 
those matters in the opinion of the Planning Authority outweigh any potential negative 
impacts resulting from the temporary change to a small section of the OSPA. It has been 
confirmed to the Planning Authority that the development proposed is a temporary 
proposal only, subject to a 5 year term, at which time the ground area will be reinstated 
through the breaking up and removal of the service lane, new vehicle access junction and 
‘grasscrete’, to be covered in topsoil and re-seeded.    
 
Marine and Coastal Development Policy Officer 
 
Email response received, dated 09.09.20, No objections - the proposal is not likely to pose 
any obvious major marine or coastal issues.     
 
Planning Authority Comment:  Supplementary Guidance Policy SG LDP CST 1 seeks 
to support sustainable development by safeguarding the special coastal qualities within 
Argyll and Bute citing that the preferred location for development requiring a coastal 
location is within the Settlement Development Management Zone, excluding natural 
foreshore. The site is not natural foreshore and is located within the Settlement Zone. 
Furthermore, in this instance there is a clear operational purpose and need by Ferry 
operators to formalise additional marshalling space with or immediately adjacent to land 
already used for this purpose.  There is no other land available within Craignure for this 
purpose without establishing a second remote additional marshalling space. Calmac 
Ferries Limited have confirmed that in order to establish a second remote marshalling 
area, this would require a doubling of staff at Craignure, additional space to permit traffic 
to move safely between marshalling areas if required, and depending on location and 
distance from each area (and how those areas were managed), delays would potentially 
occur during loading with traffic being required form both areas at different times. This 
would potentially impact operational services, and be unlikely to resolve existing road 
safety issues on the A849 public road, (discussed below), which have given rise to this 
application.       
 
Biodiversity Officer  
 
Email response received 19.03.21 stating no objections to the development subject to 
further clarification on the points raised: 1) that in order to retain a greener site in terms of 
that amenity appeal, the applicant needs establish more resilience into the development 
design, and 2) Otters are known to frequent this coastal location and as a European 
Protected Species it will be necessary to complete an Otter Survey, prior to the 

Page 59



determination of this application, and the applicant will need to adopt any 
recommendations made to incorporate those into the application proposal.    
 
Planning Authority Comment:  As a result of the comments received by the Biodiversity 
Officer the applicant has revised the proposal to include additional landscape details 
including in particular the use of ‘grasscrete’ within the area identified as “overflow 
marshalling”, previously identified as including the use of Type 1 gravel only.  This, once 
established, will significantly improve the overall appearance of the development from the 
public realm whilst retaining large areas of green space when not being used by 
marshalled vehicles. In addition an Otter Survey has now been completed, dated 23.03.21 
which confirms that whilst Otters use this area regularly they are unlikely to be affected by 
this development.  No Otter holts or rest ups have been found within 250 metres of the 
proposed development and there are no recommendations of this report. The Council’s 
Biodiversity Officer has not raised any concerns with the conclusions of this report.        

 
 

The above represents a summary of the comments made.  Full details of the consultation 
responses are available on the Council’s Public Access System by clicking on the 
following link http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/content/planning/publicaccess. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(E) PUBLICITY:   
 

The proposal has been advertised in terms of Regulation 20 of the Development 
Management Procedures 2013 and Neighbour Notification procedures, overall closing 
date 07.08.2020.  

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:   
 

17 objections from 11 households have been received regarding the proposed 
development. Objections have also been received from the Mull and Iona Ferry 
Committee, the Craignure Bay Community Group and the Mull Community Council.  

  
 Miss Laura Wilson, 15 Balvonie Street, Inverness, dated 15.02.21 
Mrs Lindsay Warner, 5 Leven Terrace, Ballachulish, 12.02.21 
Ms Fiona Langton, Pennygate Lodge Craignure, dated 12.02.21 
Ms Carol Perry, 5 Java Houses, Craignure, dated 12.02.21 
Mrs Rhona Wilson, The Old School, Craignure, dated 12.02.21 
Mr Anthony McGill, Caol Muile, Craignure, dated 12.02.21 
Mrs Annie Hickson, The Barn, Craignure, dated 11.02.21  
Mr Norman Hickson, The Barn, Craignure, dated 11.02.21 
Mr William McClymont, Linnhe View, Craignure, dated 17.08.20 
Mrs Fiona Stewart, Sheanbeg, Port Appin, Argyll, dated 18.08.20 
Mr Norman Hickson on behalf of the Craignure Bay Community Group, dated 18.08.20 
Mr Alex Crichton, by email, dated 18.08.20 
Mrs Nicola McClymont (on Behalf of David Roberts), Goldings, Craignure, dated 17.08.20 
Mrs Sandra Crichton, by email, dated 18.08.20 
Mr David Roberts, Goldings, Craignure, dated 19.08.20 
Mr Joe Reade, on behalf of the Mull and Iona Ferry Committee, dated 19.08.20 
Mr Nicholas Duffin, on behalf of the Mull Community Council, dated 20.08.20     

 
Summary of Issues Raised 
 
Landscape, Amenity and Overall Appearance    
 

Page 60

http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/content/planning/publicaccess


 The proposed re-aligned access and space for vehicles to queue before being 
checked in is a much-needed development, and we support the objective of the 
application, which will address a clear road-safety issue.  However, we are 
disappointed that the development as designed will bring environmental blight to 
a small and confined village already dominated by the needs of the ferry pier.  The 
majority of the development space will be devoted to ‘overflow parking’ and 
surfaced crudely with crushed rock. With no defined border between the surfaced 
lane and the overflow area, it is inevitable that cones, tape and other markers or 
moveable items will be needed to control vehicles, creating significant visual blight.  
The space is likely to be used for Calmac Staff vehicles and equipment and may 
adopt the appearance of undefined ground. There is no identifiable need for 
overflow parking, and I suggest it is instead a convenient designation for cost 
saving.  Instead the area marked out for overflow parking should be used for 
landscaping and planting that will serve to enhance the village rather than degrade 
it. 
 

 The plans do not include any form of landscaping and would be detrimental to 
Craignure Village. We would ask for further communication with both groups, as 
although we realise an extension is necessary, it could be achieved much more 
sympathetically for the village as a whole. 

 
Planning Authority Response: Following the receipt of the consultation response from 
the Council’s Biodiversity Officer and a review of objections received, the Economic 
Development Unit has revised the site layout details to improve the overall appearance of 
the development. In particular, native planting has now been proposed to be incorporated 
along the north boundary to the site, and the overflow marshalling area, previously 
indicated as being covered in Type 1 gravel material only, will be more fully developed to 
include ‘grasscrete’ (a system of concrete mesh blocks designed to provide a hard running 
surface for vehicles but allowing grass to grow through, thus giving the appearance of a 
vegetated surface). This will allow for the formation of additional hardstanding, (required 
for use as ‘overflow capacity space’ for cars only), whilst incorporating greater resilience 
in the development to retain much of the green space appearance which is currently 
observed.  The overflow capacity area will not be used for long-term vehicle parking, with 
clarification being provided by the Economic Development Unit to confirm that this space 
will only be used in instances where existing marshalling space cannot be utilised due to 
operational reasons, (discussed in more detail below), or in the event that additional un-
booked vehicles arrive at the ferry terminal with a desire to travel. Rather than turn this 
“stand-by” traffic away the ferry, operators prefer that it be accommodated as at the time 
these vehicles arrive it is not known how much booked traffic may not turn up (no-show), 
and therefore allow the stand-by traffic to be shipped. Consequently, whilst additional 
landscaping in this open area of ground may further improve the appearance of the 
development, this must be balanced against the clear operational need to use this area at 
times by ferry operators. A condition has been recommended and appended to this report 
that the area only be used for operational purposes and not for general parking.    

 
 

Policy Issues and Integrity of the Council   
   

 I believe there will be an attempt to make convenient use of the un-consulted, un-
adopted draft LDP 2 policies to force through this development because this new 
document has made an attempt to remove the strong presumption against 
development within open space protection areas.  If this application is not refused 
it will fundamentally undermine the current LDP and open the door to multiple 
applications within areas previously protected.  This is opportunistic piecemeal 
development.  

 

Page 61



 This application is contrary to policy in the existing local development plan. It steals 
amenity land from the community and intrudes upon the adjacent residential 
properties. The design and quality of the proposal is not at all acceptable even as 
an interim measure. Once again it appears that Argyll and Bute Council project a 
Planning Strategy and standards that they do not follow themselves.   

 
Planning Authority Response:  This application has been assessed as a minor 
departure to the LDP, notably Policies LDP STRAT 1 and SG LDP REC/COM 2. However, 
in the opinion of the Planning Authority, the operational need for the development at this 
location outweighs those negative impacts caused by the temporary change to a small 
section of the Open Space Protection Area. It is not considered that the development 
proposed will set a precedent for any further development at this location or other locations 
within Argyll and Bute due to the clear and site specific operational need as set out and 
discussed in the main body of this report below. 
       
Loss of Greenspace and Amenity Land  
 

 Craignure has limited amenity space and it is vital that this area is protected to stop 
Craignure from losing its village identify and turning into industrial sprawl. The land 
is readily accessible and useable for recreational purposes by the public. It is also 
a significant passive amenity space which contributes to the landscape character 
and setting of the built environment and biodiversity.  As such it is a resource which 
cannot easily be replaced.    

 

 It is the people of any community which make it, not the public transport 
infrastructure. This plan is further pushing out the needs of residents, with no 
thought or care to preserving our amenities.   

 

 The ferry traffic lanes are already a ‘nuisance neighbour’ as it is, therefore we do 
not appreciate it encroaching further into our residential area, the village is 
already decimated by industry.   
 

 My quality of life will be detrimentally impacted by having both heavy traffic 
queuing and parking directly in front of my home and if there are high sided 
commercial vehicles joining that queue, or parking, then I will have no view 
whatsoever, the thought of which distresses me greatly.   
 

Planning Authority Response: The area of ground covered by this application comprises 
a small flat section of land, approximately 54 metres in length, located adjacent to the 
foreshore at Craignure immediately to the north of the existing hardstanding vehicle 
marshalling area for the Criagnure to Oban Ferry. The land is currently not maintained in 
any formal way and is currently covered in grass. The area provides direct access to the 
foreshore and a small slipway at this location. The land in total comprises approximately 
5% of the total OPSA land area.  Having regard to the temporary development proposed, 
the works being undertaken will not directly restrict the ability of the public to access the 
foreshore or existing slipway at this location, nor will it compromise the use of the rest of 
the OPSA, and specifically the core path recreational walkway (C022) located to the north 
of the development within the woodland area encompassing much of the rest of the OPSA 
between Craignure and the Craignure Hotel. Furthermore, any changes in amenity will not 
alter the existing levels of amenity currently enjoyed from within the public realm. That is, 
this development is not proposing any significant above ground development other than 
the relocation of ticket kiosk. As such view through and beyond the site will be retained.   
Ferry Infrastructure and appropriate access to the Islands by operators is essential to 
secure and promote economic development of the Islands and to tackle issues of falling 
populations. Therefore, the operational needs in this case are considered to outweigh any 
temporary negative impacts.      

Page 62



 
 

Impacts to Existing Services  
 

 The area is also a site of Scottish Water Assets for the dwellings opposite, all of 
which do not appear on the visible layout document, this is greatly of concern.   
 

 The current layout is detrimental to the CalMac visitor experience as you are 
pushing vehicles further from the commercial area of the village and public 
amenities.  Which for many families travelling with children is problematic, 
particular during all weather conditions.    

 
Planning Authority Response: Much of the physical works being undertaken as part of 
this development are to improve the means by which vehicles are marshalled, and 
managed into the existing marshalling space, rather than seeking to move vehicles further 
away from existing public amenity services. Whilst some overflow or stand-by vehicles will 
be required to temporarily marshal further from Craignure Village, if space does not allow 
within the existing waiting area, this will only be during peak periods and for short periods 
of time. The additional distance being created by this temporary situation is considered 
minimal and acceptable in the context as a temporary proposal. Such matters will be better 
addressed as part of the wider full redevelopment in the future.  
 
In terms of existing Scottish water assets located within the area of ground to be occupied 
by this development, this would be a matter for the Economic Development Unit to confirm 
and negotiate with Scottish Water outwith the planning process.  It is not considered that 
the currently proposed and relatively small scale development will have any obvious 
impact on any existing water infrastructure. 

 
Impacts to Wildlife and Biodiversity  
 

 Mull is an area for wildlife enthusiasts and this development site may impact on 
those values.   
 

Planning Authority Response: The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has reviewed this 
application and raised no objections. An Otter Survey has been completed which has 
confirmed that there are no otter holts or hold ups within 250 metres of the development 
site and whilst Otters do regularly use this area of coast, they will not be impacted by the 
development.    

 
The above represents a summary of the issues raised.  Full details of the letters of 
representation are available on the Council’s Public Access System by clicking on the 
following link http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/content/planning/publicaccess. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
 Has the application been the subject of: 
 

(i) Environmental Statement:         No  
(ii) An appropriate assessment under the Conservation    No  

(Natural Habitats) Regulations 1994:    
(iii) A design or design/access statement:        No  
(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed development    No 

e.g. retail impact, transport impact, noise impact, flood risk,  
drainage impact etc:   

____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 63

http://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/content/planning/publicaccess


 
(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

(i) Is a Section 75 agreement required:       No  
____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of    No  

Regulation 30, 31 or 32:   
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(J)  Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations over 

and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 
(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account in 

assessment of the application. 
 

Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan, 2015  
 
 LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
 LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones (Key Rural  
Settlement – Craignure)  
 LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment 
LDP 4 – Sustainable Development of our Coastal Zone 
LDP 5 - Supporting the Sustainable Growth of our Economy  
LDP 8 - Supporting the Strength of our Communities  
 LDP 9 - Development Setting, Layout and Design 
LDP 11 -  Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure  
 
Supplementary Guidance  
 
SG LDP ENV 1 -  Development Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 6 - Development Impact on Trees / Woodland 
SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape  
SG LDP BUS 5 - Economically Fragile Areas 
SG LDP REC/COM 2 - Safeguarding Sports Fields, Recreation Areas and Open 
Space and Protected Areas  
SG LDP DEP - Departures to the Local Development Plan 
SG LDP SERV 7 - Flooding and Land Erosion – The Risk Framework for 
Development 
SG LDP TRAN 4 - New and Existing, Public Roads and Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 8 -  Piers and Harbours 
SG LDP CST 1 – Coastal Development 
 
 

(i) List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in the 
assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of Circular 
3/2013. 
 

Argyll and Bute Sustainable Design Guidance, 2006  
Scottish Planning Policy (SPP), 2014 
Argyll and Bute Proposed Local Development Plan 2 (November 2019) 
Consultation Responses  
Third Party Representations 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 64



(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an    No  
Environmental Impact Assessment:   

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application  No 

consultation (PAC):   
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:       No  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:       Yes  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(O) Requirement for a hearing:          No  
 

In deciding whether to hold a discretionary hearing Members should consider: 
 

 How up to date the Development Plan is, the relevance of the policies to the proposed 
development, and whether the representations are on development plan policy 
grounds which have recently been considered through the development plan process.  
 

 The degree of local interest and controversy on material considerations, together with 
the relative size of community affected, set against the relative number of 
representations and their provenance.  

 
17 objections from 11 households have been received regarding the proposed 
development.  
 
It is the opinion of the Planning Authority that the representations received, together with 
officer assessment of the relevant planning issues contained within this report, provide all 
the information required to enable Members to make an informed decision based on all of 
the material planning considerations in this case, not least the fully adopted ‘Argyll and 
Bute Local Development Plan’ 2015 and the direct relevance of key planning policies 
contained within it. 
 
In this instance it is not considered that the objections raise any complex or technical 
issues that have not been addressed in the current Report of Handling and it is not 
considered that a discretionary local hearing would add value to the planning process. 
 
The determining factors in the assessment of this application are whether or not it is 
appropriate that the operational need arguments, and any other material planning 
considerations advanced by the Economic Development Unit, in support of the 
development proposal, should outweigh those temporary negative impacts resulting from 
a change to part of an Open Space Protection Area.  
 
Whilst the development proposal in this case is small scale, it must be assessed as a 
minor departure from the Local Development Plan.   

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

 Temporary planning permission is sought by Argyll and Bute Council to extend the existing 
vehicle marshalling area at the Craignure Ferry terminal on the Isle of Mull.  The works 
proposed will involve; 
 

Page 65



 The closure of the existing vehicle entrance to the marshalling area.  

 The formation of a new vehicle junction onto the A849 Public Road.  

 The formation of a new overflow capacity area for cars in circumstances where 
the existing marshalling area is at capacity on arrival, or in the event they are un-
booked travellers seeking to be placed on stand-by should travel be permitted.         

 
This application seeks a temporary resolution to a known road safety issue, principally 
arising because the existing vehicle marshalling area does not have the required capacity 
to accommodate queueing vehicles, particularly during peak usage periods, where 
vehicles are unable to enter the marshalling area or are forced to reverse out of the area 
and queue on the public road.   
 
A permanent redevelopment of the ferry pier and wider terminal precinct area at Craignure 
is in the development stage at the present time but as yet no details are available to 
confirm when this redevelopment might be delivered.  
 
This development proposal is being applied for as a temporary activity with a 5 year term 
of permission being sought. At the conclusion of this term a full restoration of the 
development site to its existing pre development appearance will be completed.     
 
The determining factors in the assessment of this application are whether or not the 
operational need and road safety benefits set out are sufficient to outweigh any negative 
impacts arising from the temporary change to part of an open space protection area 
(OSPA) and the consequent objections raised by third parties and by the Community 
Council.  The material planning considerations and mitigating factors advanced by the 
Planning Authority in support of this development proposal are;  
 

 The development proposed is both small scale and temporary, and poses no 
significant above ground development, other than repositioning of a small ticketing 
kiosk. Whilst vehicles will be required to queue and at times temporarily park on 
this ground such instances will be short term and transient in nature. 

 The development is to incorporate design details which will include some native 
planting and a significant amount of grasscrete blocks which will retain an area of 
greenspace within the site once fully established.  This will help the development 
to better integrate within its wider setting.  

 The development is a temporary activity with a 5 year term of permission being 
sought.   At the termination of this 5 year period the new vehicle access, service 
lane and grasscrete will be removed with the area being dressed in topsoil and 
seeded with grass, thereby restoring the site to its pre development condition.  

 The development will only impact approximately a 5% area of the OSPA  and will 
not compromise any recreational values attributed to it. Access to foreshore, 
slipway and wider walking routes at Craignure will continue to be available for use 
by the public.  The development will have no impact on the woodland area 
comprising the remaining part of the OSPA.     

 
The negative impacts resulting from any temporary changes to part of the OSPA are 
considered acceptable in this instance, being outweighed by the operational needs 
demonstrated. Access to the islands by ferry operators is vitally important to promote and 
secure economic development and redress falling populations in these locations.  .   

 
It is recommended that planning permission be granted. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan:     No   
 

Page 66



The development represents a minor departure from the Local Development Plan, 
specifically LDP STRAT 1 and Supplementary Guidance Policy SG LDP REC/COM 2. 

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(R) Reasons why planning permission should be granted  
 

 A reasonable and acceptable operational need for the proposal has been 
demonstrated with a requirement to be located on the land applied for; 

 The development is compatible with the scale of the adjacent settlement and will 
not compromise the wider setting in terms of scale and design; 

 Whilst there may be some minor changes to amenity, as assessed from within the 
public domain, those impacts are considered reasonable and will be outweighed 
by the clear operational need for the development; 

 The development requires a coastal location, will be set within an area of existing 
similar development, and will not compromise the character of the coastal zone at 
this location to any materially harmful extent.  

 The development will not materially compromise the existing recreational values 
attributed to the OSPA in which it is to be located, specifically access to the 
foreshore, slipway and wider walking routes will be wholly retained.    

 The development is proposed as a temporary activity with a 5 year term of 
permission being sought only. The ground will be reinstated to its pre-development 
condition at the conclusion of this term.   

   
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(S) Reasoned justification for a departure to the provisions of the Development Plan 
 

 Whilst the development represents a minor departure from the Local Development 
Plan, specifically LDP STRAT 1 and Supplementary Guidance Policy SG LDP 
REC/COM 2, it is considered that the operational needs and economic benefits   of 
the development outweigh those negative impacts resulting from the temporary 
changes to part of the OSPA . 

 The development will not result in any above ground development (other than the 
relocation of a small ticketing kiosk) and as such will largely retain existing levels 
of amenity as assessed and observed within the public realm.  

 The area of land, the subject of this application, is considered to have relatively 
low amenity value in the context of the wider OSPA and as such development of 
this land for a 5 year temporary period, is unlikely to give rise to any significant 
adverse environmental effects.   

____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers or Historic Scotland:    No  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:   Jamie Torrance  Date:  07.04.21  
 
Reviewing Officer:   Tim Williams  Date:  07.04.21 
 
 
Fergus Murray  
Head of Development and Economic Growth 

Page 67



CONDITIONS AND REASONS RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REFERENCE 20/00940/PP 
 
GENERAL 
 
1. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details 

specified on the application form dated 29/05/20; supporting information 
and, the approved drawings listed in the table below unless the prior written 
approval of the Planning Authority is obtained for an amendment to the 
approved details under Section 64 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Act 1997. 
 

Plan Title. Plan Ref. 
No. 

Version Date 
Received 

Craignure Marshalling Area 
Extension – Location Plan 

1 of 3  24.07.2020 

Craignure Marshalling Area 
Extension – Proposed Works 

2 of 3   25.03.2021 

Photograph of existing kiosk 
to be relocated 

3 of 3   24.07.2020 

 
Reason:  For the purpose of clarity, to ensure that the development is 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Note to Applicant: 
 

 This planning permission will last only for three years from the date of 
this decision notice, unless the development has been started within that 
period [See section 58(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) 
Act 1997 (as amended).] 
 

 In order to comply with Sections 27A(1)  of the Town and Country 
Planning (Scotland) Act 1997, prior to works commencing on site it is the 
responsibility of the developer to complete and submit the attached 
‘Notice of Initiation of Development’ to the Planning Authority specifying 
the date on which the development will start. Failure to comply with this 
requirement constitutes a breach of planning control under Section 
123(1) of the Act. 
 

 In order to comply with Section 27B(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Scotland) Act 1997 it is the responsibility of the developer to submit the 
attached ‘Notice of Completion’ to the Planning Authority specifying the 
date upon which the development was completed.  

 
Both the Notification of Initiation and Notification of Completion forms 
referred to above are available via the following link on the Council’s 
website:  
 
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/make-
planning-application 

  
2. The development authorised by this permission shall enure for a period not 

exceeding five years from the date of this permission. Upon the expiry of this 
five year period (or sooner, should operational requirements so dictate), the 
use of the land as a temporary vehicle marshalling area shall cease and the 
new vehicle access shall be removed and the site reinstated in accordance 
with a scheme of restoration as described within Condition 3 below. 

Page 68

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/make-planning-application
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/make-planning-application


 
Reason: In order to underpin the temporary planning permission applied for 
and to ensure the restoration of the part of the open space protection area 
affected by the development.   

 
 

 

3. Notwithstanding Condition 1, prior to the development first being brought 
into use, the developer shall submit to the Planning Authority a scheme of 
land reinstatement/restoration. Such details shall confirm how the site will 
be fully restored to its pre development state, including but not limited to: the 
dismantling, excavation and removal of the new vehicle crossing, service 
access lane and grasscrete blocks from the land and the reinstatement of 
the land and any vegetation. All agreed works shall be completed within 
three months of the expiry of this permission to the satisfaction of the 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to secure an appropriate land restoration scheme and to 
ensure its timely implementation. 

  
ROADS 
 

 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1, the proposed access shall be 
formed in accordance with the Council’s Roads Standard Detail Drawing 
SD08/001a and shall include visibility splays of 53 metres to point X by 2.4 
metres to point Y from the centre line of the proposed access. The access 
shall be surfaced with a bound material in accordance with the stated 
Standard Detail Drawing. Prior to work starting on site the access hereby 
approved shall be formed to at least base course standard and the visibility 
splays shall be cleared of all obstructions such that nothing shall disrupt 
visibility from a point 1.05 metres above the access at point X to a point 0.6 
metres above the public road carriageway at point Y. The final wearing 
surface on the access shall be completed prior to the development first being 
brought into use and the visibility splays shall be maintained clear of all 
obstructions thereafter.  
 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 
 
Note to Applicant:  
 
• A Road Opening Permit under the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 must be 
obtained from the Council’s Roads Engineers prior to the 
formation/alteration of a junction with the public road. 
 
• The access shall be constructed and drained to ensure that no surface 
water is discharged onto the public road. 
 

  
5. Notwithstanding the effect of Condition 1, prior to the development first being 

brought into use, the existing marshalling area vehicle entrance shall be 
closed off and reinstated into a new footway suitable to match and connect 
into the existing path located to the north and south of the existing entrance.   
 
Reason: In order to integrate the development into its surroundings. 

  
  
  
AMENITY   

Page 69



 
6. No development shall commence until a scheme of surface treatment and 

landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include details of: 
 
i) Confirmation of the location, material type and finishing details of the 

‘grasscrete’ surface to be used in the overflow area.   
ii) Details of landscape planting within the site, including confirmation of 

planting density, species type and location. 
iii)    Any proposed re-contouring of the site by means of existing and 

proposed ground levels. 
iv)      Any other proposed hard or soft landscape works. 
 
All of the hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved scheme during the first planting season following the 
commencement of the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To assist with the integration of the proposed development within 
its surroundings in the interest of amenity. 
 

  
RESTRICTION OF USE 
  
7. The overflow marshalling area indicated on the drawings hereby approved 

shall only be used for the temporary parking for cars.  Vehicles may only be 
parked in this identified area when marshalling for ferry departure. For the 
avoidance of doubt the defined overspill area shall not be used as a general 
parking area. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of the locale and to ensure that the 
grasscrete blocks do not become ineffectual in providing appropriate 
amenity value to the development.     

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 70



APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/00940/PP 
 

PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

 In terms of the adopted ‘Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan’ (LDP) 2015, the 
application site is located within the Key Rural  Settlement of Craignure where Policy LDP 
DM 1 gives encouragement to sustainable forms of development up to and including 
medium scale on appropriate sites, subject to compliance with other relevant policies and 
supplementary guidance (SG).  
 
Policy LDP 3 assesses applications for their impact on the natural, human and built 
environment. 
 
Policy LDP 4 supports onshore proposals for the sustainable development of our coastal 
zones, while LDP 5 supports the sustainable growth of the economy. Supplementary 
Guidance SG LDP CST 1 further expands on this policy by seeking to support the 
sustainable development of the onshore coastal zones by safeguarding the special coastal 
qualities. The preferred location for developments requiring a coastal location is the 
Developed Coast, which consists of coastal areas within the Settlement Development 
Management Zone. The proposed development has an operational requirement to be 
within the coastal zone and is within an area of ‘developed coast. The proposed 
development therefore complies with policy LDP 4 and SG LDP CST 1.  
 
The spatial framework for coastal development notes that it is important that the character 
of the Argyll and Bute coast is protected from inappropriate development and that 
development which requires a coastal location is directed in the first instance to areas 
where development has taken place. The LDPs spatial strategy is set out in LDP Policy 
DM1, which alongside this policy aims to direct development requiring a coastal location 
to areas with existing development, or sites where the character of the coastal zone could 
accommodate such development.    
 
This spatial framework is developed further in considering pier and harbour development 
set out within Policy SG TRAN 8.  This provides that development of new or existing pier 
and harbour infrastructure, such as that currently proposed, is to be encouraged, provided 
that such development promotes the retention or expansion of commercial marine related 
uses. Development proposals should be consistent with Policy LDP 4 – Supporting the 
Sustainable Development of our Coastal Zone – and with all other relevant LDP policies 
and SG. Pier and Harbour development is encouraged in the first instance at locations 
where piers and harbour infrastructure already exists.  

  
 The proposed development is required to support an existing ferry pier and its associated 
infrastructure and therefore complies with the provisions of policy SG TRAN 8 and SG 
LDP TRAN 8. 
 
Although the development site is within the settlement area and complies with the relevant 
key planning policies as summarised above, it also forms part of an open space protection 
area (OSPA) designation within the LDP. 
 
Policy LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of Our Communities -  recognises the valued role 
open space, play space, gardens, sports and leisure facilities and key rural services have 
in providing an attractive place to live. Policy SG REC/COM 2 expands and provides 
additional detail on this policy by providing that the development or redevelopment of 

Page 71



formally established public or private playing fields or sports pitches or those recreational 
areas and open space protection areas shown to be safeguarded in the LDP proposals 
maps shall not be permitted except where: In the case of valued recreational areas (public 
or private), including OSPAs, it can be adequately demonstrated that there would be no 
loss of amenity through either partial, or complete development and that an alternative 
provision of equal benefit and accessibility be made available. 
 
Policy LDP 9 seeks developers to produce and execute a high standard of appropriate 
design and ensure that development is sited and positioned so as to pay regard to the 
context within which it is located.  The Sustainable Siting and Design Principles expand 
on this policy requiring all proposals, particularly those with a commercial purpose to 
consider landscape setting, to be compatible with neighbouring uses and to be of a scale 
and proportion that respects or complements a location.  

 
The Development Policy section have confirmed in their opinion that the OSPA is to 
provide protection to an area of informal greenspace amenity on the shore side of the 
A849. This area provides visual amenity functions for the settlement of Craignure as well 
as the recreational functions provided by Core Path route C022 and the slipway that are 
both just to the north west of the application site. In seeking to carry out this development 
within this OSPA, the Economic Development Unit has confirmed that no other Council 
owned land exists within Craignure which might be repurposed to provide a substitute local 
amenity and/or recreation use.   
 
Whilst, in the opinion of officers, the development will have only a small and temporary 
impact on the amenity value of a small part of the existing OSPA (as described below), 
the development proposed cannot fully meet all of the tests within Policy SG LDP 
REC/COM 2. This development must therefore be considered as a minor departure from 
the LDP. 
 
Policy LDP 11 supports all development proposals that seek to maintain and improve 
internal and external connectivity by ensuring that suitable infrastructure is delivered to 
serve new developments. Supplementary Guidance SG LDP TRAN 4 expands on this 
policy seeking to ensure that developments are served by a safe means of vehicular 
access.  The proposed development will secure an improved access and will, therefore, 
comply with policy LDP 11 and SG LDP TRAN 4. 
 

 
 
B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

 
Planning permission is sought to extend the existing vehicle marshalling area at Craignure, 
Isle of Mull.  The area of land to be developed forms part of an OSPA (approximately 5% 
of the total protected area of land) which has been designated to provide amenity and 
recreational value to the settlement of Craignure.   
 
An existing unmanaged grassed area is located adjacent to the foreshore, to the 
immediate north of the existing ferry terminal vehicle marshalling area. It is proposed that 
this area be utilised in part to form a new and temporary vehicle marshalling area, by 
installing a new vehicle crossing at the very northern end of this area with a new service 
lane providing access to the existing hardstanding marshalling area. This will increase 
capacity within the existing marshalling area by enabling better use of this space. It is also 
proposed that this ground be used to provide an overflow area for cars in the event that 
the marshalling area is already at capacity or if vehicles arrive which are un-booked for 
travel and are required to temporarily wait on stand-by.       
 

Page 72



The area of ground required for the proposed development and forming part of the OSPA 
does not appear to be managed in any way and is currently unkempt and covered in wild 
grass. Other than providing a small area of greenspace within Craignure, the area of 
ground does not appear to hold much amenity value in terms of its appearance. However, 
objections to this application do identify this area of ground as a valued recreational and 
passive amenity area.  Owing to its undeveloped state, users of the public road or those 
within the public realm are able to view through this land to the foreshore and Sound of 
Mull beyond.  To the immediate north of this ground is a significant area of woodland 
comprising much of the land along the foreshore between Craignure and Craignure Hotel 
to the north.  This woodland comprises the remaining 95% of the OSPA.  The A849 Public 
Road demarks the western boundary of this area of ground, with two dwellinghouses 
located beyond that directly opposite.  
 
Temporary Development Status:  
 
The Economic Development Unit has set out within supporting evidence as part of its 
operational need justification (detailed below), that this development is intended as a 
temporary measure in order to resolve a road safety issue whilst wider redevelopment 
plans comprising the full redevelopment of the entire ferry terminal precinct within 
Craignure are developed and agreed.   No exact dates or details are known as to when or 
how the full redevelopment plans will be agreed and implemented. However, an 
approximate date of between 5 and 7 years has been indicated. This application is seeking 
a 5 year term, following which the new vehicle crossing will be required to be closed and 
the land appropriately reinstated in accordance with details to be agreed by planning 
condition.  
     
As a result of a Council consultation carried out in 2019 with wider stakeholders toward 
the provision of a permanent solution the following key summation points were raised: 
   
• It has been evidenced that currently, during busy periods, when vessel capacity is 
exceeded, or passengers arrive early for a sailing, vehicles can back up out of the 
marshalling area onto the A849 in both directions - this causes short periods of congestion 
within Craignure Village and delays for non-ferry users travelling along the A849.  
 
• Although the fourth lane is used to marshal larger vehicles including HGVs, buses and 
other large commercial vehicles, it is the same width as the car marshalling lanes. 
Additionally, there is no formal arrangement for marshalling vehicles carrying dangerous 
goods.  The fifth lane, the lane directly adjacent to the A849, is used as a standby lane for 
vehicles that have not made reservations for a particular sailing. It is noted that when this 
lane is full it often backs up onto the A849 even when there is still capacity in the 
marshalling lanes used for vehicles reserved on a particular sailing. This confirms the need 
for there to be contingency within the capacity of the marshalling area as, due to the 
frequency of the service to Oban from Craignure, it is common practice for passengers 
travelling with a vehicle to arrive early for a sailing, in some cases potentially hitting the 
‘back of the queue’ for the previous sailing 
 
• This has been evidenced by cars queueing onto the A849 in both directions and causing 
congestion within Craignure Village. As highlighted, due to the frequent nature of the 
service, passengers travelling by car often turn up early for their sailing or try to get onto 
an earlier sailing than they have booked. This results in the stand-by-lane reaching 
capacity prior to the marshalling area being full, thus exacerbating the congestion issue at 
the mouth of the marshalling area, leading to queuing onto the A849. Therefore, there may 
be justification for a greater degree of over provision of marshalling at Craignure i.e. 
>150% of the capacity of design vessels.    
 
• Although it is noted that there have been no recorded accidents at the vehicle 
marshalling, with current traffic congestion issues, the risk of an accident occurring is high 

Page 73



and the probability of an accident occurring is likely to increase with increasing tourist 
numbers to the island. 

 
Operational Need:  
 
The existing marshalling area in Craignure has a capacity of approximately 92 ‘passenger 
car units’ or ‘pcus’ (a homogenous unit used to express capacity by ferry operators). Whilst 
this represents approximately 130% of the MV Isle of Mull capacity or 115% of MV 
Clansman (being the two existing vessels used for the Mull Ferry serves), in reality 
marshalling capacity can’t always be fully utilised, as shore staff need to segregate 
vehicles into different lanes to allow them to be called forward for boarding when required 
by the loading officer. Vehicles with low headroom are required for the mezzanine deck, 
vehicles carrying passengers with limited mobility require access to the lift on board the 
vessel, wider vehicles such as motorhomes goods vehicles take up more space on board, 
and they all need to be segregated into their own lanes. This in practice means some lanes 
within the marshalling area available at present become ‘sterilised’ and cannot be used to 
their full capacity. In addition to this normal ‘full load’ scenario, it is frequently the case that 
additional, un-booked, traffic will arrive at the port with a desire to travel. This ‘stand-by’ 
traffic needs to be accommodated rather than turned away, as at the time these vehicles 
arrive it is not known how much booked traffic may not turn up (no-show), and therefore 
allow the stand-by traffic to be shipped. 
  
In order to account for the need to segregate different vehicle types, to accommodate 
stand-by traffic and to accommodate traffic numbers in the event of a cancellation, it is 
industry standard to aim to design marshalling areas with 150% capacity of the service 
vessel operating from the port. In the case of Craignure, and its two-vessel service in the 
summer, even this capacity is insufficient, as it is frequently the case that traffic for one 
sailing will arrive before traffic from the previous sailing has cleared the area. Indeed on a 
number of occasions this is unavoidable, as the latest check-in for the next sailing is prior 
to the departure time of the previous sailing. Given this, the marshalling area in Craignure 
is currently under-sized and frequently leads to vehicles queuing on the main road or being 
unable to enter the marshalling area. In addition to the capacity issue, the process of 
checking-in vehicles - which by necessity needs to take place at the entrance to the 
marshalling lanes - frequently exacerbates this, and means that on most sailings in the 
summer, and on many occasions in the winter, traffic will be queued out on the main road. 
During the Mull Rally season for example, traffic has frequently been queued on the main 
road all the way back to the Isle of Mull hotel junction. This presents a frequent and clear 
road safety hazard whilst also causing congestion for travellers on the A849 Public Road.  
  
As part communications with the Economic Development Unit ferry operators considered 
the potential for providing additional marshalling space in a discrete location, remote from 
the existing marshalling area. It was noted that this could have a significant impact on the 
operation of the ferry service, and introduce new challenges. Marshalling areas should 
normally be designed with a single point of access, thus allowing traffic to be controlled by 
one (or two) members of staff. A separate marshalling area would require the same 
manpower thus doubling head count in this area. Depending on how the two areas were 
used (a different area for separate sailings, one area for booked traffic and a second for 
overflow, or one area for cars and a second for HGVs) additional space would be required 
to permit traffic to exit one area accessed in error and move to the second area if required. 
Lastly, and of particular importance to this service, depending on location and distance 
from each other (and on how the areas were to be used), delays could occur in loading, 
with traffic from different areas being required at different times.  
  
Two separate marshalling areas would provide no operational benefit and, depending on 
design, location and use, could produce significant issues. Whilst it could help address the 
issue of capacity, it would do nothing to alleviate the issue with access and would not 
remove the existing problem of traffic backing up and queueing on the main road.  

Page 74



  
The Economic Development Unit therefore concludes that there is a clear operational 
need and benefit to increasing marshalling capacity at the location of the existing 
marshalling area, and in addition and particular to Craignure, the operational changes 
proposed by this development will resolve an evidenced road safety hazard.     
 
Consideration of Alternative Locations:  
 
Ferry Operators in consultation with the Economic Development Unit have previously 
discussed the potential for providing additional marshalling space in a discrete location, 
remote from the existing marshalling area. Ferry operators confirmed that this option could 
have a significant impact on the operation of the ferry service, and introduce new 
challenges. Marshalling areas should normally be designed with a single point of access, 
thus allowing traffic to be controlled by one (or two) members of staff. A separate 
marshalling area would require the same manpower thus doubling head count in this area. 
Depending on how the two areas were used (a different area for separate sailings, one 
area for booked traffic and a second for overflow, or one area for cars and a second for 
HGVs) additional space would be required to permit traffic to exit one area accessed in 
error and move to the second area if required. Lastly, and of particular importance to this 
service, depending on location and distance from each other (and on how the areas were 
to be used), delays could occur in loading, with traffic from different areas being required 
at different times. This would potentially have a knock on effect in operational services in 
delays became frequent.  Two separate marshalling areas would provide no operational 
benefit and, depending on design, location and use, could produce significant issues. 
Whilst it could help address the issue of capacity, it would do nothing to alleviate the issue 
with access and would not remove the existing problem of traffic backing up and queueing 
on the A849 public road. Consequently, there is a clear operational need to position any 
further marshalling capacity in proximity to the existing area designated for this purpose. 
Therefore, the solution proposed by this application will seek to resolve both the road 
safety issues whilst improving operational services.   
 
Impacts to Amenity:  
 
The proposed development, with the exception of the relocation of a small ticket kiosk 
does not propose any above ground development and will therefore retain much of the 
existing levels of amenity as experienced from the public realm. Views and outlook from 
private domestic properties is not a material planning consideration and accordingly this 
assessment has only considered those impacts from the public domain. However, and 
notwithstanding this point, except when vehicles temporarily stop to be marshalled by ferry 
operator staff any existing views will be largely retained.  Whilst it is true that some stand-
by vehicles (cars only), may be required to temporarily park in this overflow area, outwith 
these times/periods the inclusion of grass concrete will retain much of the developed area 
with a grass appearance.  
 

 
Following the review of objections (17 in total) as well as communications with the 
Planning Authority and the Council’s Biodiversity Officer this application was revised to 
alter the surface material used within the new Overflow marshalling area, from Type 1 
Gravel to grasscrete, in addition to setting a temporary 5 year term of permission.  The 
combination of improved greenspace resilience within the development as well as the 
temporary term (with full ground reinstatement agreed following the end of the temporary 
term), are significant material planning considerations in the context of both the overall 
appearance of the development and the settlement strategy.      

 
 Having regard to the operational need for the development at this location, which serves 
to support economically important ferry services to the Isle of Mull, along with 
recommended conditions, which include a temporary term and reinstatement of this 

Page 75



ground to its pre development state, it is considered that the site represents a suitable 
opportunity for development which will have no significant adverse impacts on the setting 
of Craignure at this location.  
 
 
 

Page 76



Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Argyll and Bute Council 

Development & Economic Growth 
 

Committee Planning Application Report and Report of Handling as required by 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning Permission or 
Planning Permission in Principle 
 

 
Reference No: 20/01794/MIN 
Planning Hierarchy: Major 
Applicant: MacLeod Construction Limited 
Proposal: North eastern extension to existing sand and gravel quarry 
Site Address:  Kilmartin Quarry, Kilmartin 
  

  
DECISION ROUTE 
 

Local Government Scotland Act 1973  
 

 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 

(i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission 

 Proposed extension of some 4.8ha to the north east with volume of some 
700,000 tonnes for a period of 20 years 

 
(ii) Other specified operations 

 Use of existing infrastructure including settlement ponds 

 Use of existing access 

 Restoration operations upon extraction 
 

 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 

It is recommended that the application is approved subject to the conditions and 
reasons below and to a discretionary hearing.   
 

 
(C) CONSULTATIONS:   
 

 Scottish Environment Protection Agency, 23 Nov 2020 – No objection and noted that 
the lagoons operate under license.  Although this is dry extraction should the water 
table be encountered then an abstraction license will be required.  Imported material 
for the purposes of restoration can be undertaken as an exemption to the Waste 
Management (Scotland) Regulation 2011.   
 
Nature Scot, 4 Nov 2020 – The proposal falls below the threshold for consultation 
and therefore there are no bespoke comments offered for this proposal.   
 
Historic Environment Scotland, 11 Nov 2020 – No objection in terms of potential 
impacts on listed buildings and Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  Advised that the 
archaeology service be consulted.   

Page 79 Agenda Item 6



 
West of Scotland Archaeology Service, 29 Jan 2021 – No objection subject to 
condition.   
 
ABC Environmental Health, 23 Nov 2020 – Initial responses raised concern over 
noise.  Since the original submission the applicant has installed significant levels of 
noise mitigation and are now content that the developments meets the previously 
approved noise limits.   
 
ABC Access Officer, No response.   
 
ABC Flood Risk Assessor, 2 Nov 2020 – No objections.   
 
ABC Area Roads Officer, 17 Nov 2020 – No objection.  
 
ABC Biodiversity Officer, 26 Nov 2020 – No objection but requests that consideration 
be given for further tree planting to create a wildlife corridor linking east and west 
portions of the site post extraction.   
 
Dunadd Community Council, 13 Nov 2020 – Concerns raised over the suitability of 
the access off the main road and the noise is often excessive.   
 

 
(D) HISTORY:   
 

AG/86/DM4 – Extraction of sand and gravel over an area of 3.9ha – Approved 23rd 
May 1990 

 
AG/89/1256 – Extraction of sand and gravel over an area of 5.8ha – Approved 12th 
July 1993 

 
15/02114/MIN - Extension to existing quarry site – Approved 5th Aug 2016 

 
18/02399/MIN - Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permission (Determination of 
conditions to which Mineral Permission is to be subject - ROMP First Review) for 
Sand and Gravel Extraction Works - Previous References:- AG/86/DM4 and 
AG/89/1256. – Approved 27 Feb 2019 

  
19/00879/PP – Variation of condition 8 (noise) relative to planning permission 
18/02399/MIN - approved 28 Aug 2019 

 

 
(E) PUBLICITY:   
 

 Site notice expiry 1 Dec 2020 
 
Regulation 20 advert expiry 4 Dec 2020  
 

 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:   
 

(i) Representations received from: 
 

 In total there have been 54 objections, 201 in support and a further 26 making 
general comment.  A list of names can be found in appendix B.   

Page 80



 
(ii) Summary of issues raised: 

 
The following comments have been raised in objection or comment: 

 

 Current noise levels are far too high and operations can be heard inside 
homes.  The previous proposal noted that no noise complaints had been 
received at that time.  Any condition of planning approval should include 
a requirement for ongoing noise monitoring.   
Comment: The applicant has invested in noise mitigation measures and 
the most recent assessment demonstrated that these were having the 
desired effect with the works practically inaudible at the survey locations.  
Environmental Health are content with these findings and a planning 
condition will ensure future compliance.   
 

 Potential for adverse impact on tourism at a time when Kilmartin Glen is 
pursuing designation as a UNESCO site.   
Comment:  There is no objective evidence linking an adverse impact on 
tourism and quarry operations.   
 

 The access is dangerous and with tourism expansion potentially bringing 
in more visitors this could be fatal. 
Comment:  The access is shared with a number of users including 
forestry works and a fish farm.  It has been used for a considerable period 
of time.  The Area Roads Engineer has not raised any objections.  The 
applicant is not increasing the intensity of their use of the access for 
approval has previously been granted.   
 

 The quarry access is dangerous to cyclists given it shares the Sus Trans 
cycle route. 
Comment:  The Area Roads Engineer has not raised any concerns over 
road safety.   
 

 Adverse impact on listed buildings, SAMs and archaeology. 
Comment:  The proposal will not have an adverse impact on the setting 
of any listed buildings or SAMs.  WoSAS has not raised an objection to 
the proposal on the grounds of archaeology and the applicant has 
invested in preserving and recording any finds.   
 

 The settlement zone of Kilmartin should be re-considered in LDP 2. 
Comment:  Although LDP 2 has been approved by Members and been 
out for consultation it does not form a weighty material consideration at 
this time.  However, a review of the updated minerals strategy does not 
significantly alter the policy assessment of applications for mineral 
extraction.    
 

 Proposal will create few employment opportunities 
Comment:  The quarry will employ a small number of full time equivalent 
posts.  However, indirectly it will support a significant number of off-site 
jobs through the building industry.   
 

 Application is a bad neighbour proposal and should not be supported on 
the edge of a village setting. 

Page 81



Comment:  The winning and working of minerals is classified a bad 
neighbour development. The noise impact has been assessed in 
considerable detail by Environmental Health officers and is presented in 
Appendix A.   
 

 The proposal should be determined at a public meeting. 
Comment:  The application requires to be determined by the Planning, 
Protective Services and Licencing Committee at a public meeting; the 
Committee has the discretion to hold a pre-determination hearing should 
they consider it appropriate to do so.   
 

 Potential adverse impact on wildlife. 
Comment:  The application presents opportunity for nesting sand 
martins.  The restoration proposals will create an overall biodiversity gain 
as opposed to leaving the site as grazing farmland.  There has been no 
objection to the proposal from the Biodiversity Officer.   
 

 Argyll has a decreasing population and therefore it is imperative to 
support growing industries such as tourism. 
Comment:  This is not a material planning consideration but it is 
recognised that economic opportunities must be considered in the 
determination of any planning application.   
 

 Concerns expressed over potential impact on South Largie Woods. 
Comment: The submission will not have an adverse impact on the 
biodiversity value of the nearby woods.   
 

 Quarrying operations are not compatible with the tourism ambitions of 
Kilmartin Glen. 
Comment:  The quarry has been operating since the early 1980s and has 
done so whilst the area has been promoting tourism.  There is no 
objective evidence to suggest the proposal has an adverse impact on 
tourism.   
 

 There are no plans for restoration on the public file. 
Comment:  The restoration proposals are available on the public file and 
are assessed in Appendix A.   
 

 Concerns over dust impact on residential properties and residents. 
Comment:  This has not been reported to the planning authority or 
Environmental Health previously.  The developer has an active dust 
management plan.   
 

 The quarry operations are currently unsightly and in the UK’s only HOPE 
spot.   
Comment:  Landscape and visual impact are assessed in Appendix A.   
 

 The proposal is contrary to the provisions of the LDP. 
Comment:  The proposal has been assessed against the provisions of 
the LDP in Appendix A.   
 

 There is a record of non-compliance with planning conditions at the 
quarry.   

Page 82



Comment:  The planning authority is not aware of a sustained history of 
non-compliance.  There have been occasional breaches of planning 
control but these have been dealt with by working with the operator and 
are usually resolved quickly.   
 

 What is the carbon footprint of the proposal given the current climate 
emergency? 
Comment:  There is no carbon calculator of the proposal but given the 
quarrying products directly supports the building trade the impact of 
having to import material from elsewhere, Benderloch or Calliburn, would 
result in a higher carbon footprint of individual projects given the 
necessary transportation.   
 

 Processing gravel is water intensive and there have been queries over 
the potential impact on the water table given the lagoons are brackish. 
Comment:  The lagoons are the result of the process and are a necessity 
of the production of sands and gravel.  They are not supposed to support 
habitat.  The developer has confirmed that the operations are above the 
water table.  Any abstraction will need the approval of SEPA and the 
planning authority.   
 

 Loss of pollinators.   
Comment:  The proposal will not have a direct adverse impact on the loss 
of pollinators. There is no evidence to sustain such this comment.   
 

 Impact on carbon rich soils. 
Comment:  According to the national soils map for Scotland the land is 
made up of Podzols.  The Hutton Institute Podzols are generally infertile 
and are physically limiting soils for productive use. They are extremely 
acid, have high Carbon / Nitrogen ratios, are lacking in most plant 
nutrients, except within the upper mineral horizons. Where they are used 
for arable cropping long-term fertilisation is required. They are also used 
for rough grazing and for forestry or recreation.  Humus-iron podzols are 
not particularly rich in carbon when compared to peaty soils.   
 

 Potential impact on the core path network. 
Comment:  The Core Path network will require to be kept open at all 
times.  Any evidence of the path being blocked should be submitted to 
the council to investigate.   
 

 Request for a community fund to be investigated.   
Comment:  There is no requirement in legislation for a community fund 
nor would it be economically appropriate to require the developer to enter 
into such an agreement.  Local community groups may want to contact 
the applicant directly to discuss potential funding.   
 

The following comments have been made in support: 
 

 Without the quarry there would be an added £12+ per tonne of material 
for extra transport costs from Oban or Campbeltown.  This will have a 
significant effect on the costs associated with all building works and 
directly have an adverse impact on the wider economy of Mid Argyll.   
Comment: This is assessed in Appendix A below.   

 

Page 83



 Many of the objectors would likely have bought material from Kilmartin 
instead of Oban because of the price difference. 
Comment:  This is not a material consideration.   

 

 The quarry is well hidden in the landscape and many people are unaware 
it is even there. 
Comment: Landscape and visual impact are considered in Appendix A.   

 

 The material is vital for the local economy. 
Comment:  Economic impact is assessed in Appendix A.   

 

 The carbon footprint of the building industry in Mid Argyll will increase 
without material from this site due to emissions resulting from transport. 
Comment:  This is noted.   

 

 The quarry may not employ lots of people but it indirectly supports a much 
larger industry of employment opportunities. 
Comment:  This is noted.   

 

 Kilmartin glen and Mid Argyll are more than just tourist opportunities. 
Comment:  This is noted.   

 

 Material from the quarry will directly assist in recovery from Brexit and 
covid. 
Comment:  This is noted.   

 

 The quarry supports more long term jobs than tourism which is often 
seasonal.  This will do more for sustaining the population than temporary 
tourist positions. 
Comment: This is noted.   

 

 
(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Has the application been the subject of: 
 
(i) Environmental Impact Assessment Report: No   

  
Water Management 
Ecology 
Noise 
Dust Management 
Archaeology 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
Construction Environment Management Document 
Waste Management 
Planning policy assessment 

(ii) An appropriate assessment under the 
Conservation (Natural Habitats) Regulations 
1994:    

No  

  
(iii) A design or design/access statement:    No  

  

Page 84



(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed 
development eg. Retail impact, transport 
impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage 
impact etc:   

Yes  

 Noise Monitoring Report.  In lieu of current limitations by the pandemic 
and officer resource it was agreed the applicant would arrange for a 
third party consultant to undertake noise monitoring once the 
mitigation measures have been installed.  
Water Management 
Ecology 
Noise 
Dust Management 
Archaeology 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
Construction Environment Management Document 
Waste Management 
Planning policy assessment  

 
(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

Is a Section 75 agreement required:   No 
  

 
(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 

31 or 32:  No 
  

  
(J) Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations 

over and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 
(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account 

in assessment of the application. 
 

Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan (March 2015) 
 LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
 LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
 LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment 
 LDP 5 –Supporting the Sustainable Growth of our Economy 
 LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
 LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
 LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
 LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
 
Supplementary Guidance 
SG LDP BAD 1 - Bad Neighbour Development 
SG LDP BUS 2 - Business and Industry Proposals in the Countryside 
Development 
SG LDP CC 1 - Climate Change and Sustainable Development  
SG LDP ENV 1 - Development Impact on Habitats, Species and our 
Biodiversity (i.e. biological diversity) 
SG LDP ENV 7 - Water Quality and the Environment 
SG LDP ENV 11 - Protection of Soil and Peat Resources 
SG LDP ENV 14 - Landscape 

Page 85



SG LDP ENV 20 - Development Impact on Sites of Archaeological 
Importance 
SG LDP MIN 2 - Mineral Extraction 
SG LDP TRAN 1 - Access to the Outdoors 
SG LDP TRAN 4 - New And Existing, Public Roads And Private Access 
Regimes 

 
 

(ii)  List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in 
the assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of 
Circular 3/2013. 

 
Scottish Planning Policy (2014) 
Planning Advice Note 50 – Controlling the Effects of Surface Mineral 
Workings (October 1996) 
Planning Advice Note 51 – Planning, Environmental Protection and 
Regulation (October 2006) 
Planning Advice Note 1/2013 Environmental Impact Assessment (2013) 
Circular 1/2017 – Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulation 2017 
ABC LDP 2, Proposed November 2020 
Consultee comments  
Third party comments raising material planning considerations 
Argyll and Bute Local Biodiversity Action Plan 

 

 
(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental 

Impact Assessment:  Yes 
 

A negative screening opinion was issued by the planning department on 1st 
November 2019.   

  

  
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 

(PAC):  Yes 
 

 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  No 
 

 
(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No 
 

 
(O) Requirement for a hearing:  Yes – Given the level of public interest from individuals 

and interest groups it is appropriate for Members to consider holding a discretionary 
hearing.  Officers would advise Members that the principle issue here is noise 
impact.  All other operational matters remain as per the existing approval.  
Environmental Health are satisfied with the mitigation measures installed by the 
applicant address the initial concerns raised by third parties.   

 
 
   
  

  

Page 86



(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

 The application seeks to extend the extraction area of Upper Largie quarry by ~4.8ha 
to the north east with volume of ~700,000 tonnes for a period of 20 years.  All other 
respects of the existing permission remain the same, i.e. transportation, processing 
plant, welfare facilities, operating hours etc.   
 
The main issue with this submission has been noise.  The applicant changed the 
plant and in doing so appeared to cause some noise disturbance to residents of 
Kilmartin village.  This represented a breach of the existing planning permission and 
was investigated by officers from Environmental Health.  The applicant has been 
proactive in addressing this issue and has installed significant levels of sound 
proofing around the plant.  A recent survey commissioned by the applicant has 
demonstrated that the site is practically inaudible at sensitive receptors in the village.  
This report has been accepted by Environmental Health who are now satisfied the 
noise issue has been addressed.   
 
There has been a total of 281 representations: 
 

 54 objections 

 201 in support, and 

 26 in neutral comment. 
 
There has been no objection from any consultees.  It should be noted that all 
operational matters remain as per the existing approval.  The only difference is that 
the material is coming from a new reserve.   

 

 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan: Yes  
 

 
(R) Reasons why Planning Permission or Planning Permission in Principle Should 

be Granted: 
 

 The proposal seeks to extend the existing minerals allocation at Upper Largie quarry 
in order to maintain a steady supply for sand and gravel / aggregate material.  The 
only consented reserves over the next ten year period are at Benderloch near Oban.  
All other sites in mainland Argyll are either exhausted or coming to the end of their 
consented lifespan.  In this regard the proposal will be only consented sand and 
gravel reserve in the market area.   

 
All matters such as transportation, permitted annual extraction rate and operating 
hours remain as per the existing permission.  The only change is a new extraction 
area.  Issues such as infrastructure, surface water, archaeology, residential amenity 
and biodiversity have been addressed to the satisfaction of the planning authority 
and consultees.    

 
Given the proposal will not alter the existing operational situation as previously 
approved and will contribute to the required ten year supply as set out in SPP officers 
consider the application consistent with all the relevant policies of the adopted Local 
Development Plan 2015 and there are no material considerations that would warrant 
a negative determination.   

 

 

Page 87



(S) Reasoned justification for a departure to the provisions of the Development 
Plan 

 
 N/A 

 

 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers or Historic Environment Scotland: 

No  
 

 
Author of Report: David Love Date: 1/4/21 
 
Reviewing Officer: Peter Bain Date: 1/4/21 
 
Fergus Murray 
Head of Development and Economic Growth 

 

  

Page 88



CONDITIONS AND REASONS RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REF. NO. 20/01794/MIN 

 
1 PP - Approved Details & Standard Notes  

 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details specified on 
the application form dated 2nd October 2020 the Planning Application Statement and 
associated appendices dated September 2020, and, the approved drawings listed in 
the table below unless the prior written approval of the planning authority is obtained 
for an amendment to the approved details under Section 64 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended). 

 
The developer and subsequent operator(s) shall at all times construct and operate the 
development hereby permitted in accordance with the provisions of the supporting 
documentation accompanying the application with mitigation measures adhered to in 
full, and shall omit no part of the operations provided for by the permission except with 
the prior written approval of the Planning Authority. 
 

Plan Title. Plan Ref. No. Version Date Received 

Location Plan QG199/PA02/F/01 - 5th October 2020 

Land Ownership 
Plan 

QG199/PA02/F/07 - 5th October 2020 

Cross Sections QG199/PA02/F/06 - 5th October 2020 

Site as Existing QG199/PA02/F/02  29th October 2020 

Phase 1 QG199/PA02/F/03 - 29th October 2020 
Phase 2 QG199/PA02/F/04 - 29th October 2020 
Phase 3 QG199/PA02/F/05 - 29th October 2020 
Surface Water 
Features and PWS 
Location 

QG199/WMP/01 - 29th October 2020 

Surface Water 
Plan 

QG199/WMP/02 - 29th October 2020 

Site Location Plan QG199/PA02/F/08 - 29th October 2020 

Extractive Waste 
Management Plan 

QG199/WMP02/F/01 - 5th October 2020 

Landscape 
Restoration 

MDA Fig 1.4 - 5th October 2020 

 
Reason: For the purpose of clarity, to ensure that the development is constructed and 
operated in the manner advanced in the Environmental Statement, upon which the 
environmental effects of the development have been assessed and determined to be 
acceptable. 
 

2 Life Span / Length of Consent 
 
Reinstatement works shall be completed within 9 months after the completed 
extraction of material or should the quarry remain unworked for a continuous period of 
18 months whichever is sooner. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the site is worked as per the approved and to ensure that the 
restoration works are carried out as per the approved details.   
 

3 Extraction Programme 
 

Page 89



The extraction of minerals from the application site shall be limited to the excavation 
shown on the plans hereby approved.  The site operator shall maintain a record of 
outgoings from the site for inspection on request by the planning authority.   
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure an appropriate monitoring 
mechanism for volume of extraction.   
 

4 Hours of Operation 
 
With the exception of the servicing, maintenance and testing of plant, water 
management and other environmental controls, no extraction or processing of 
minerals or other operations shall take place within the site other than between the 
hours of 8am to 6pm Monday to Saturday with no works unless for operational and / 
or maintenance reasons occurring on Sundays and Public Holidays unless the 
Planning Authority has agreed in writing in advance to a temporary variation of any of 
these normally permitted hours of operation, pursuant to the requirements of these 
conditions. 
 
Reason: In order to safeguard the amenity of the locale. 
 

5 In instances where there is a requirement to work outside the hours of operation 
specified in this permission, other than in emergency situations necessary to 
safeguard health and safety, the operator shall confirm in advance in writing to the 
Planning Authority the type of operation proposed to take place, the hours proposed 
to be worked, and the duration of the proposed deviation from the permitted hours of 
operation.  Requests for deviation from normally permitted hours shall be assessed by 
the Planning Authority in terms of the likely consequences for the surrounding 
environment, and shall not be unreasonably withheld. In the event that the operator 
has not received a response from the Mineral Planning Authority within ten working 
days of notification of their request having been received, it shall be taken that the 
request has deemed approval from that date.  

 
Reason: In order to provide for flexibility in the event of unforeseen circumstances. 
 

6 Vehicle Sheeting 
 
No loaded lorries shall leave the site un-sheeted except those only carrying stone in 
excess of 20mm diameter. 

 
Reason: In the interests of road safety and amenity. 
 

7 Control of Dust From Extraction And Processing 
 
The operator shall employ best practicable means to minimise the arising and 
propagation of air-borne dust from extraction, crushing and screening equipment. 
Drilling rigs and processing plant shall not be operated without efficient dust control 
enclosures or other appropriate controls being in place. 

 
Reason: To minimise dust emission in the interests of amenity. 
 

8 The operator shall employ best practicable means to minimise the arising and 
propagation of air-borne dust and during periods of dry weather a water bowser be 
maintained on the site with spraying taking place as necessary to minimise dust 
emissions from haul roads and stockpiles. 

 

Page 90



Reason: To minimise dust emissions in the interest of amenity. 
 

9 Noise 
 
The Noise Rating Level attributable to the operation of the approved development shall 
not exceed 45dB(A) at any residential property measured and assessed in accordance 
with BS4142:2014+A1:2019.   
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenities of the area from noise nuisance 
 

10 Pollution Control 
 
Any oil, fuel or other potential pollutant shall be handled on site in such a manner as 
to prevent spillage or pollution.  In the case of oil and fuel, this shall include storage in 
either double skinned tanks, or properly constructed containment consisting of an 
impervious base and impervious bund walls.  The size of the bund compound shall be 
equivalent to 110% of the capacity of the stored liquids with all fill and draw pipes 
contained by the bunded area. 

 
Reason: In order to avoid contamination of water or soils. 
 

11 Soil Management 
 
Any stripping, transport and deposition of topsoil and subsoil shall be undertaken only 
when ground and weather conditions enable the operator to secure best practice to 
cause least damage to the soil structure.  The position and design of any soil storage 
mounds shall be agreed in writing in advance with the Planning Authority and no soil 
shall be removed from the site or shall be stored on the site other than in the duly 
approved locations. 

 
Reason: In the interests of soil management and site restoration. 
 

12 Archaeology 
 
No ground breaking works shall commence within each phase of extraction until a 
method statement for an archaeological watching brief has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with West of Scotland 
Archaeology Service (WoSAS).  The method statement shall be prepared by a suitably 
qualified person and shall provide for the recording, recovery and reporting of items of 
interest or finds within the application site.  Thereafter the development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the duly approved details with the suitably qualified 
person being afforded access at all reasonable times during ground disturbance 
works. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of archaeological recording and compliance with SPP. 
 

13 On the completion of the archaeological work for each phase of the quarry 
development, the applicant shall seek clarification in writing from the Planning 
Authority before each phase shall be released for quarrying operations.   
 
Reason:  In the interests of archaeological recording, to ensure suitable control over 
the development to protect archaeological finds and ensure suitable recording has 
been carried out.   
 

14 Importation of Material 

Page 91



 
The operator shall not be entitled to import materials onto the site other than those 
required in connection with the operation of the roadstone coating plant. No waste 
materials or any other material for use in the restoration of the quarry void or any other 
restoration works shall be imported into the permitted site without the prior written 
approval of the Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
 

15 Invasive Non-Native Species Control 
 
Within 1 month of the date of this permission the site operator shall submit a detailed 
eradication plan for the control, treatment and removal of Japanese Knotweed from 
the site.  This plan should also update the restoration method statement.  This shall 
be submitted to the planning authority for its approval in consultation with their 
Biodiversity Officer. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of biodiversity enhancement and protection and to prevent 
the spread of Japanese Knotweed.   
 

16 Access 
 
The existing footpaths which crosses the site, path references C297 and C314(a), 
shall be retained on its present alignment and retained free from obstruction unless 
alternative provision has been implemented with the prior written approval of the 
Planning Authority in consultation with the Council’s Access Officer. 
 
Reason:  To ensure the continued access arrangements put in place by the core paths 
networks.   
 

17 Final Removal of Buildings and Plant 
 
All plant and buildings shall be removed from the permitted site within 1 month of the 
permanent cessation of quarrying activities. 

 
Reason: To ensure that redundant structures are removed in the interests of amenity. 
 

18 Restoration Bond 
 
Within 1 month from the date of this consent the developer shall provide the Planning 
Authority with details of the bond or other financial provision which it proposes to put 
in place to cover all decommissioning and site restoration costs on the expiry of this 
permission. No further work shall commence on the site until the developer has 
provided documentary evidence that the proposed bond or other financial provision is 
in place and written confirmation has been given by the Planning Authority that the 
proposed bond or other financial provision is satisfactory. The developer shall ensure 
that the approved bond or other financial provision is maintained throughout the 
duration of this permission. 
 
Reason: To guarantee the restoration of the site following cessation of the 
development. 
 

19 Restoration and Aftercare 
 

Page 92



The entire site shall be reinstated in full should the quarry remain unworked for a 
continuous period of 18 months or upon completion of the extraction as per the 
approved plans.   
 
Reason:  To ensure timeous implementation of the restoration scheme as per drawing 
reference ‘Restorations Proposals – Figure 1, Oct 2018’.   
 

20 The level of the quarry floor on reinstatement shall not be lower than 32.75m AOD and 
the remainder of the detailed reinstatement as shown on the plans hereby approved.   
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure protection of the ground water 
environment.   
 

21 Topsoil for reinstatement purposes shall be stored in mounds no higher than 2.0m and 
shall be kept weed free throughout storage period.  Topsoil is to be stored within the 
confines of the quarry floor. 
 
Reason: In the interests of restoration.   
 

22 No plant or machinery shall be relocated without prior written approved of the planning 
authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of restoration of the site.   
 

23 All stonedyke walls in the vicinity of the quarry shall be retained intact and maintained. 
 
Reason: To ensure a suitable level of restoration and in the interests of visual amenity 
of the area.   
 

24 No signage associated with the quarry (with the single exception of safety signage) to 
be erected without the prior written approval of the planning authority. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity of the wider area.   
 

25 Any planting undertaken in accordance with the requirements of these conditions shall 
be maintained in accordance with good horticultural practice in order to ensure 
successful establishment, including control of weeds, exotics and bracken, and 
grazing by animals.  Any plants which within the first 5 years of planting die, are 
removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of a similar size and species unless otherwise agreed in 
writing in advance by the Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the permitted site is adequately restored in accordance with 
the permitted scheme. 
 

26 No machinery / plant associated with the quarry shall protrude above the height of the 
embankment or be visible from the A816. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity of the wider area.   
 

27 No topsoil / spoil material shall be stockpiled above the height of the plateau or outwith 
the site boundary. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of visual amenity of the wider area.   
 

Page 93



NOTE TO APPLICANT 
 

 The length of the permission: This planning permission will last only for three years 
from the date of this decision notice, unless the development has been started within 
that period [See section 58(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
(as amended).] 
 

 In order to comply with Section 27A(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997, prior to works commencing on site it is the responsibility of the developer to 
complete and submit the attached ‘Notice of Initiation of Development’ to the Planning 
Authority specifying the date on which the development will start.  
 

 In order to comply with Section 27B(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997 it is the responsibility of the developer to submit the attached ‘Notice of Completion’ 
to the Planning Authority specifying the date upon which the development was 
completed. 
 

 The installed noise mitigation measures will need to be maintained in perpetuity to 
ensure compliance with the relevant noise limit conditions.   

 

  

Page 94



APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/01794/PP 
 
PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

 The site is the existing Kilmartin Quarry which has been worked for a significant period 
of time with permissions extending back to 1986.  The portion of the site to which this 
permission relates has been worked with the processing equipment still in situ.  
Permission has been granted for an extension to the west.  Access is taken via the 
A846 main road off a single track to a point just north of the centre of Kilmartin village.   
 
The site is allocated as a minerals allocation in the adopted Local Development Plan 
(LDP) 2015 under reference MIN AL 12-2.  It forms part of the required minerals land 
bank as per the demands of Scottish Planning Policy (SPP).  The operation extracts 
sands and gravels and provides for the wider area given the nearest such resources 
are located at Benderloch and Langa.  It also forms a resource used by MacLeod 
Construction Ltd.  The site originally received consent in in 1986 and has been worked 
ever since.   
 
The proposal seeks to extend the consented allocation to maintain the required 
provision of sand and gravel.  Minerals allocations are based on the consented 
reserves at the time of writing the relevant policy.  In this instance the permitted 
reserves are not adequate to maintain supply and thus the site must be extended to 
maintain the status quo.  In this regard the proposal is considered consistent with 
the provisions of policies LDP DM 1 and SG LDP MIN 2.   

 
B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

 The site is an existing sand and gravel quarry located to the north of Kilmartin.  There 
is a history of permissions dating from 1986 and there is little evidence of upheld 
complaints from SEPA or the planning authority.  Permission exists for an extension to 
the site further north whilst there are unworked deposits to the east.   
 
The site is screened from view by a large well grassed bund to the south.  Access is 
taken from a minor road in the middle of village adjacent the commercial vehicular 
garage.  This access also forms part of the core path network.   

 
C. Natural Environment 

 
The site is currently improved grassland used for agricultural grazing.  It has limited 
capacity to support biodiversity and this is covered in section E below.  The wider area 
is characterised by the former designed landscape of Poltalloch Estate with areas of 
grazing and pockets of woodland.  Kilmartin is well known for its historic environment 
value.   
 

D. Built Environment 
 

The site lies to the west of Kilmartin village where it has operated since approximately 
1986.  The nearest property is some 80m to the east and is owned by the applicant.  
However, the nearest third party property is some 250m to the north east.  The village 
is some 750m to the south east. 
 
There have been significant levels of representation raising concerns around noise. It 
is understood that recent issues came about due to a change in processing plant.  The 

Page 95



recent approval granting a rise in noise levels is consistent with the Scottish 
Government’s PAN on minerals.  The applicant has been in contact with the council’s 
Environmental Health in this matter for some time and has installed mitigation 
measures including a large acoustic barrier to the south east of the main processing 
plant and hopper, the placement of a shroud around the screen, and, to minimise 
impact noise, the lining of a reject chute and the installation of railway sleepers on a 
steel deflector plate.  This has resulted in an apparent noise reduction at the survey 
location of 2 dB(A).  The reduction is further evident when comparing the average 1-
hour operational noise level measured on 5th March 2021, 43 dB LAeq.1h with the non-
operational noise level, of 42.3 dB LAeq 15min measured on 21 July 2020.  
Furthermore, the March 2021 average operational background level of 36dB LA90 is 
5dB(A) lower than the July 2020 average operational background level.   
 
The report demonstrates that noise recorded at a point where the access track splits 
to serve the property known as Cherbin was an average of 43dB LAeq.  The conditions 
requires a maximum of 45dB LAeq at the nearest noise sensitive third party property.  
Officers are content that the report demonstrates the works are within the requirements 
set out within the existing permission.   
 
The report concludes that the sound level was conducted within the vicinity of noise 
sensitive receptors within the vicinity of Kilmartin Quarry to assess compliance with the 
noise limits outlined within the current planning consent.  During the monitoring period, 
the quarry was operational with mobile plant movements around the processing plant.  
The site was operating at full production.  The sound levels measured during the survey 
were below the noise limit stipulated within the planning consent (45bD).  Comparison 
of the result, including short term near source measurements, show there is a notable 
reduction in noise levels and that mitigation measures are effective.  The report 
recommends that the mitigation measures in place are checked regularly and 
maintained in working order to be as effective as possible. 
 
Environmental Health officers have confirmed that they are content with the findings of 
the report and satisfied that the previous breach of planning control with respect to 
noise has been addressed.  They are content to support the mitigation measures.   
 
The proposal is considered to be consistent with the provisions of policies LDP 
8 and SG LDP BAD 1 with respect to impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
residents.   

 
E. Biodiversity 
  

 The applicant has submitted an ecology survey for the extension area.  This included 
a walk over survey with specific assessment of the three broadleaf trees for potential 
bat roosts.  The site lies within an area of improved pasture with small blocks of 
woodland.  The following sub-sections are taken from the applicant’s ecology survey 
and provide a summary of natural environment features and interests across the site.   
 
Trees 
The survey reported that there are two stand-alone mature Sycamore trees and one 
Horse Chestnut within the application area and Ash, Alder, Beech, Birch, Silver Fir and 
Rowan along the southeast margin.  According to the applicant’s submission the first 
three trees support a moderate range of epiphytes and bryophytes typical of more 
exposed situations in Mid Argyll. There were no outward signs of senescence or 
disease on these three mature trees which could stand intact for another 50+ years. 
The Sycamore and the Horse Chestnut tree are not native to the area, but have local 
conservation value as old examples of parkland trees within the original Poltalloch 

Page 96



Estate’s designed landscape. None of the broadleaved trees on or near the site 
boundary have tree preservation orders.  The ecologist’s report advises that the loss 
of these trees is compensated by planting and protecting new broadleaved trees as 
standards that would provide similar landscape/visual features. 
 
Mammals 
The settlement ponds within the worked out quarry to the south are likely to represent 
feeding habitat for otter. This may be used in spring by individuals exploiting spawning 
frogs as well as the brown trout population. There were no signs of otter within the site 
boundary and no evidence of otter couches or holts. The site area therefore represents 
low value habitat for otter. Similarly the lack of aquatic habitats or suitable alternatives 
on this site precluded the presence of water voles and no signs were detected. 
 
There was no evidence of a badger’s set within the site area, but there were feeding 
signs and dung along the pasture near the dyke along the southern margin in 2018. 
There was no evidence of similar signs of badger from the 2020 updated survey visit. 
The site represents low to moderate value for the earthworm and beetle components 
of the diet of the local badger population. This loss would represent a minor to 
negligible impact in relation to the other available pasture in Kimartin Glen. 
 
It is probable that pine marten utilise the woodland and semi-natural habitats around 
the application site, but there were no signs of scat or dens within the mature trees on 
the site itself. All three species will have adapted to the working quarry and its 
expansion would have no significant effects on the viability of these local populations. 
There were no sightings or signs of red squirrel in the trees within the site or adjacent 
woodland but they are known to be present in the area. The isolated Sycamore and 
Horse Chestnut on this site are set back too far from the woodland to represent 
significant features for the local red squirrel population. A single hole possibly suitable 
for red fox or badger was located in the rocky copse to the south east, but did not show 
signs of recent use. This is situated beyond the typical disturbance buffer zones for 
protected species of mammal and would not be affected by the development. 
 
Bats 
One of the two mature Sycamore trees within the site boundary has some potential to 
support roosting bats. Should these trees need to be felled/removed it is advised to 
comply with the legal protection for bats and re-confirm their absence prior to the 
works. If bats are present the applicant is advised to apply for a licence to exclude 
roosting bats.  The insect fauna utilised by bats and associated with the two Sycamores 
and the Horse Chestnut is likely to be of minor importance compared with the 
broadleaved woodland, scrub canopy and open water of the worked out quarry around 
the application area. 
 
Amphibians and reptiles 
The field margins close to the dyke have a low potential to support adders and common 
lizard and none were detected on site in 2018 nor in 2020. The drystane dyke along 
the southern and south eastern margins has the potential as a refugium area for 
reptiles and amphibians. To comply with their legal protection it is advised to 
translocate individuals to a safe zone nearby prior to full supervision of the dyke 
demolition. The loss of the managed pasture habitats is unlikely to reduce the area’s 
ability to maintain the reptile and amphibian populations. In compensation it is advised 
to maintain suitable habitat elsewhere within the planned quarry restoration (a mix of 
tall grass/herbs plus open basking areas of sand or gravel). Palmate and smooth 
newts, common frogs and common toads are likely to use the marshy grassland 
habitats and quarry loch and pools to the south of the application site, but there are no 
suitable breeding sites within the application site. 

Page 97



 
Invertebrates including insets 
The improved grass pasture of the application site is unlikely to support insects or other 
invertebrates on the regional Biodiversity Action Plan. 

 
Birds 
There were no breeding birds within the improved pasture of the application site and 
no evidence of mistle thrush nests within the three mature broadleaved trees on site. 
The original worked void supports a notable diversity of songbird and wildfowl species 
and these are the subject of the approved restoration plan. Some of these such as 
song thrush, mistle thrush, grey wagtail, lesser redpoll, linnet, yellowhammer, house 
sparrow and tree pipit are listed as species of conservation concern and are covered 
in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP). From the previous summer surveys of the 
adjacent woodlands and other habitats this part of Kilmartin Glen supports a range of 
songbirds typical for this part of Argyll.  This included native woodland indicator species 
such a wood warbler, redstart and spotted flycatcher. The nesting pairs of Greatspotted 
woodpeckers are dependent upon the mature mixed oak, beech and birch woodland 
(with senescent trees) around the site. One pair of grey wagtail nest within the old 
quarry area and may forage occasionally with the pasture of the application site. The 
two Sycamores and the Horse Chestnut are likely to be used by tawny owl within the 
local territory/territories however the improved pasture is of minimal/transient value for 
their prey requirements. One of the sycamores contained a hooded crow’s nest in 
2020. The improved pasture of the application site supports foraging meadow pipits, 
Greylag and Canada geese and corvids but the loss of this resource will be insignificant 
in the context of other suitable habitat around the locality. The application site does not 
directly support breeding birds and represents relatively minor value habitat for the 
neighbouring richer bird communities. 

 
The worked out quarry restoration includes the provision for a sand martin colony and 
this has been adjusted not to be affected by the phased workings associated with the 
current application. It is advised that  
 
(i) ground breaking occurs outside of the nesting season mid-April to June for the 

nearest sectors of the sand martin colony and  
(ii) a pre-construction survey for nests is advised to comply with the Wildlife & 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  
 
Proactive dissuasion methods will be employed to attract sand martins to an artificial 
nest colony in an existing quarry void and in the northwest face of the original quarry 
while the sand face is quarried in the three phases of extraction. An additional sand 
martin nest colony will be developed in Phase 1 of the extension and retained 
throughout the development and on restoration. By way of net conservation gain, the 
proposal could include provision of nest boxes for tawny/barn owl/kestrel and song 
birds. 
 
The council’s Biodiversity Officer made comment in general support of the ecology 
report and welcomed the employment of an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW).  
Furthermore, the proposed restoration works are acceptable however there is a 
request that further tree planting be considered to link existing areas of mature 
woodland.  It should be noted that Nature Scot determined not to offer specific 
comment in regard to this proposal. 
 
The application is considered consistent with the provisions of policies LDP 3 
and SG LDP ENV 1 of the adopted LDP.   
 

Page 98



F. Impact on Woodland/Access to Countryside 
 

The proposal will involve the removal of a small number of mature trees including 
Horse Chestnut and Sycamore.  Neither of these are native to the area.  Compensatory 
planting will be secured through the restoration scheme as recommended by the 
applicant’s ecologist.   

 
G. Landscape Character 
 

The proposed extraction area falls within the Upland Parallel Ridges landscape 
character type (type 43) which forms part of the Area of Panoramic Quality (APQ).  The 
LCT is found in two areas in the uplands of north Knapdale, on the west coast of Argyll, 
to the north and south of Moine Mhor. The landscape comprises a distinctive series of 
linear ridges aligned in parallel with the south-west/north-east grain of the coast.  
 
Key Characteristics 

 Upland landscape of long, parallel ridges and narrow, linear lochs and glens. 

 Tightly packed ridges follow a south-west/north-east alignment. 

 Steep, sharp ridge-tops, with dramatic rocky outcrops. 

 Extensive conifer forests. 

 Deciduous, largely ancient oak woodland on steep, sheltered slopes of ridges and 
on loch edges. 

 Small marginal pastures or moorland in isolated patches between the un-forested 
ridges. Dramatic, scenic upland landscape. 

 
The proposal seeks to continue the pattern of extraction north east through the glen 
maintaining the same landscape impact as currently experienced by the quarry.   
 
The applicant has submitted a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) in 
support of the proposals.  Given the existing topography and the creation of the historic 
bund to the south of the site the site is not visible from the public road.  The only 
viewpoint of significance will be from the core path that runs alongside the site to the 
north west.  However, the path already experiences an extraction to the north west and 
the existing restored void to the south east.  The time for both the extension and north 
west areas to be worked at the same time will be minimal with the experience ultimately 
being reduced once the north west extension has been restored.  On balance officers 
consider that the short term adverse impact will be significant but on balance over the 
medium and long term this will be neutral.   
 
The proposal is consistent with the provisions of policies LDP 3, SG LDP ENV 
13 and SG LDP ENV 14 of the adopted Local Development Plan insofar as 
expected landscape and visual impacts will be neutral and maintain the existing 
effects.   

 
H. Minerals 
 

 Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) requires local authorities to provide a supply of 
aggregate materials for a ten year period.  Kilmartin Quarry has formed part of this 
requirement through the course of multiple local plans.  Essentially the extension will 
maintain the status quo of available material as opposed to adding anything new.  
Output, vehicular movements etc. will remain as per the existing situation.   
 
LDP policy SG LDP MIN 2 provides for a general presumption against the opening of 
new, extended or re-opening of abandoned sites where sufficient permitted reserves 

Page 99



already exist within the market area.  The market area is defined as a 30mile radius 
around the site.  In this instance the nearest permitted reserves of material exist at 
Langa and Benderloch.  This is the only sand and gravel resource in the market area.  
Of these sites only Benderloch offers consented reserves in excess of ten years.   
 
Considering the above the proposal is consistent with the provisions of SG LDP 
MIN 2 in that the development seeks to maintain the permitted ten year reserve 
as required by Scottish Government and does not seek to add new material 
where adequate resource already exists.   
 

I. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters. 
 

The applicant intends to maintain the existing access arrangements off the main road 
and continue the same volume of traffic.  In this regard the access and volume of traffic 
is not changing from that already established through the grant of previous 
permissions.   
 
Third party representations have raised considerable concern over the access 
arrangements from the public road.  The council’s Area Roads Engineer has not raised 
any concerns.   
 
Given the applicant is not changing these arrangements it is considered that the 
proposal is consistent with policy SG LDP TRAN 4.   

 
J. Infrastructure including Surface Water Management 
 

The applicant intends to utilise the existing processing plant, weighbridge and welfare 
facilities in the former quarry void.  The access arrangements will be maintained along 
with all existing infrastructure arrangements.  Planning permission for these matters is 
already established through the planning history.   
 
The applicant has provided details of surface water management to prevent diffuse 
pollution and surface water flooding.  The council’s flood risk advisor has offered no 
objection and is satisfied with the submission details.   
 
SEPA has not offered any objection to the proposal and are satisfied with the 
submission details given the works will be above the ground water table.   
 

K. Historic Environment 
 
Kilmartin Glen is rich in history with significant archaeological finds having been 
excavated.  In 2015 the applicant conducted a programme of archaeological field work 
by Clare Ellis of Argyll Archaeology.  The evaluation revealed a suite of prehistoric 
features including: the continuation of the east line of the Neolithic pit-defined cursus; 
two probable Bronze Age burial cairns and two other possible burial features; a buried 
soil containing sherds of probable middle Bronze Age pottery; and a number of other 
postholes and pits. The evaluation also revealed the presence of possible later 
prehistoric and/or medieval features including: a possible kiln; a probable rectangular 
structure or structures; and a number of pits containing remnants of metalworking. 
 
As part of this application WoSAS has offered comment on the proposal seeking a 
planning condition for a written scheme of investigation.   
 

Page 100



Historic Environment Scotland (HES) has not offered any objection on the grounds of 
potential impacts on nationally important listed buildings or Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments (SAMs).   
 

L. Waste Management 
 

The European Union Directive 2006/21/EC on the management of waste from the 
extractive industries [the Mine Waste Directive “MWD”] sets out requirements for the 
management of material such as overburden, rock, and process wastes, arising from 
the prospecting, extraction, treatment and storage of mineral resources and the 
working of mines and quarries.  

 
The Scottish Government has transposed the MWD through the Planning System in 
The Management of Extractive Waste [Scotland] Regulations 2010 “The MWD 
Regulations”. Scottish Government Guidance on the topic is provided by “Guidance on 
the Management of Extractive Waste (Scotland) Regulations 2010.”  

 
The requirements imposed by the MWD Regulations are dependent on the 
characteristics of the waste material at individual sites and also the manner and length 
of time for which it is to be stored. The development has been carefully planned to 
ensure the best use is made of soils, overburden, and by-products from extraction and 
processing in accordance with the aims of the MWD Regulations. This also limits the 
materials and activities subject to the regulations. The management of soils, 
overburden and by-products from extraction and processing and proposals for 
compliance with the MWD Regulations are summarised below. 

 

Nature of the 
Extractive Waste 

Process and / or activities 
that may give rise to the 
Extractive Waste 

List of Waste Description 

Topsoil Stripping of soils and 
placement in screening 
bunds / storage 

Waste from mineral 
metalliferous excavation 

Waste crushed rock 
from processing 

Separation of unsellable 
mineral following dry 
processing 

Waste from physical and 
chemical processing of non-
metalliferous minerals. 

Tailings from 
washings 

Separation of unsellable 
mineral following wet 
processing.   

- 

 
The development will see the excavation and storage of approximately 4,000m³ of soils 
adjacent to the quarry void. This soil will be available for use in the final restoration of 
the site and is considered to be unpolluted soil and without the need for further 
processing or treatment and therefore falls outwith the scope of the MWD Regulations 

 
Available site derived restoration fill materials (unsaleable waste from oversize 
processing) will be placed against the worked out quarry faces, and in the quarry voids 
for use in restoration supplemented by soils to create the upper growing medium. 
These materials will be stored within the quarry void prior to reuse to achieve the 
restoration of the site. As a result, they are also classified as a non-waste mineral by-
product and are therefore outwith the scope of the MWD Regulations. 

 
  

Page 101



Appendix B – List of Representees 
 
Objection 
 
Diane Roberts The Old Manse Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 19.11.2020 
Fiona Simpson 27 Meadows Road Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8AF 20.11.2020 
Alanna Morrison No Address Given    20.11.2020 
Robert Sweetman Taigh Mohr Laggan Wood Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 
20.11.2020 
Sarah Nixon 3 Castle Park Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 25.11.2020 
Ray Burgon 3 Sill Green Wigginton Tamworth Staffs 19.11.2020 
Rob Walker The Ferryman's Cottage Crinan Ferry Kilmartin PA31 8QH 23.11.2020 
Sally Lovell Eilean Da Mheinn Crinan Lochgilphead PA21 8SW 23.11.2020 
Freya Aitchison No Address Given    23.11.2020 
Angela Anderson 17 East Montrose Street Helensburgh Argyll and Bute G84 7HU 
22.11.2020 
Rebecca Woodsford 42 Dixon Road Flat 3/2 Glasgow G42 8AY 22.11.2020 
Spencer Gallagher Eastrop Farmhouse Heather Row Lane Up Nately Hampshire RG27 9PS 
25.11.2020 
David Bracken The Old Manse Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 14.12.2020 
Caroline Waterhouse The Lodge Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 22.11.2020 
Board of Trustees Kilmartin Museum Kilmartin House Trust Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll 
and Bute  
Sue Carter Upper Flat 75 Argyll Street Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 24.11.2020 
Alice Adair 8 Castle Park Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll 25.11.2020 
Gerry Fitzgerald 4 Kilmartin Lochgilphead PA31 8RN 25.11.2020 
Denis Barnes No Address Given    25.11.2020 
Joshua Sivarajah No Address Given 02.12.2020 
Roberta Henderson No Address Given 02.12.2020 
Sheelagh Leslie No Address Given 20.11.2020 
Louise Atack No Address Given 20.11.2020 
Aonghais Rowe No Address Given 20.11.2020 
Everett Jaime Dalriada Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead PA31 8QL 20.11.2020 
Anthony Fenlon 32 Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 20.11.2020 
Brittany Singleton 41st Street Jumeirah 2 Dubai UAE 20.11.2020 
Jennifer Jaime Dalriada Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead PA31 8QL 20.11.2020 
Lynn Laws Dunchraigaig Kilmartin 20.11.2020 
Claire Dangerfield-Snaith 6 Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 
22.11.2020 
Suzanne Burgon No Address Given 23.11.2020 
Amelia Gargan 10 Castle Park Kilmartin PA31 8RW 23.11.2020 
Gemma Green No Address Given    23.11.2020 
Alex Collier 18 Church Row West Rainton Durham DH46NR 17.11.2020 
Lotti Collier 18 Church Row West Rainton Durham DH46NR 17.11.2020 
Maisie Kennedy 20 Barrmor View Kilmartin PA31 8UN 23.11.2020 
Bennie Bridgland Drummond House Crinan Harbour Lochgilphead Argyll 23.11.2020 
Siobhan Walsh Honeysuckle Cottage Slockavullin Kilmartin PA31 8QG 23.11.2020 
Martin Waterhouse The Lodge Kilmartin By Lochgilphead Argyll 23.11.2020 
George John Stewart Dove Cottage, 7 Kilmartin Argyll PA31 8RN 23.11.2020 
Rebecca Walker The Ferryman's Cottage Crinan Ferry Kilmartin PA31 8QH   25.11.2020 
Lesley H Sweetman Taigh Mohr Laggan Wood Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 
26.11.2020 
Gill Stewart No Address Given    26.11.2020 
Stephen Carter Tormod Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 20.11.2020 
Stephanie Burgon Kilmartin Castle Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead 19.11.2020 

Page 102



Janet Jardine 26 Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8RN 22.11.2020 
Simon Snaith 6 Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 22.11.2020 
Louise Oppenheimer East Cottage Drimvore Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead 23.11.2020 
Nathalie Shariat PO Box 114642 Dubai UAE 23.11.2020 
Adam Hardy The Willows 122 Tower Road Boston Lincs 23.11.2020 
Gordon Laws Dunchraigaig House Kilmartin PA31 8RG 23.11.2020 
Carole Fitzgerald 4 Kilmartin KY1 1TE 23.11.2020 
Simon Hunt Kilmartin Castle Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead 16.11.2020 
 
Support 
 
Stuart MacDonald 13 Fernoch Crescent Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8AE 
26.11.2020 
Jacinta Malcolm Nether Largie Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 22.11.2020 
Sheila MacCallum Poltalloch Home Farm Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 19.11.2020 
Graeme Brown Kilmichael Glen Lochgilphead   25.11.2020 
Marie Dixon Killinochonoch Farm Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead Argyll 25.11.2020 
Diane McMillan No Address Given    25.11.2020 
Iain Malcolm Nether Largie Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 19.11.2020 
Campbell McKellar 4 Kilkerran Park Campbeltown Argyll and Bute 26.11.2020 
Elson Gamble Minnow House, Manse Brae, Lochgilphead, Argyll, 27.11.2020 
Raymond Aikten 3 Colomba Court, Ardrishaig, PA30 8HZ 27.11.2020 
Karen Wylie 28 Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8AF 27.11.2020 
Pat Marshall 9 Meadows Crescent, Lochgilphead, PA31 8AG 27.11.2020 
Allan Cameron 4 The Avenue Inveraray Argyll And Bute Scotland 27.11.2020 
John MacPhee 19 Cruachan Cresent, PA34 5AS   01.12.2020 
Steven Brown 75 High Bank Park, Lochgilphead, PA31 8NN 01.12.2020 
James Connon 1 Columba Court, Oban, PA34 5BG 01.12.2020 
Steven Plunkett 36 Nant Drive, Oban, PA34 4CA 01.12.2020 
Terrance Lafferty Lafferty 4 Culfail Terrace, Kilmelford   01.12.2020 
George Eason Tigh Na Glinn, Mossfield Ave, Oban 01.12.2020 
Stuart Telford 25 Cruachan Crescent, Oban, PA34 5AS 01.12.2020 
Ryan McInnes 44 Glencruitten Drive, PA34 4EJ   01.12.2020 
Peter Guild 29 Lorn Rd, Dunbeg, PA37 1 QH   01.12.2020 
Gordon Robbie Fuaim Ant Sruith, South Cuan, Oban, PA34 4TU 01.12.2020 
Michael MacQueen 35B Lora View, North Connel, Oban, Argyll, 01.12.2020 
Shaun Fincher Swallow Cottage, Musdale Rd, Kilmore, PA34 4XX 01.12.2020 
Martin Bonar 6 McCall's Terrace, Oban   01.12.2020 
Harry Ross 3 MacIntyre Terrace Lochgilphead PA31 8TF 01.12.2020 
Duncan McLean 126 Sound Of Kintyre, Campbeltown, PA28 6GA 01.12.2020 
Grant Fraser Ardfern, Lochgilphead PA31 8RN 01.12.2020 
Kieran Scott 9 Victoria Terrace, PA30 8HX   01.12.2020 
Colin McWhinnie Stable Cottage, Benderloch, PA37 1QU 01.12.2020 
Karen Dixon No Address Given    25.11.2020 
James Coleman Achnaba Farmhouse Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8RY 25.11.2020 
Andrew Stewart 20 Sinclair Drive Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8NP 25.11.2020 
Mairi Coleman Achnaba Farmhouse Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8RY 25.11.2020 
Alastair Dixon Killinochonoch Farm Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead Argyll 25.11.2020 
Susan King 9 Clos De Charriere Plat Douet Road St Clement Jersey 25.11.2020 
Morgan Jordan 32 Highbank Park Lochgilphead PA31 8NN 25.11.2020 
Jamie Menzies 36 Fernoch Park Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8TG 30.11.2020 
Christian Campbell 65 Crosshill Avenue Campbeltown PA28 6LJ 30.11.2020 
Jimmy Donnelly Achnaba Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8RY 30.11.2020 
Alexander Mason 51B High Street Campbeltown Argyll PA28 6EA 30.11.2020 
Gerald Porter 55D Lochnell Street Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8JL 30.11.2020 

Page 103



John MacIver 12 Meadows Road Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8DF 30.11.2020 
Allan Duff 7 Main St West Inverarary Lochgilphead Argyll 30.11.2020 
Simon Smart Achoras Lerags Argyll PA34 4SE 30.11.2020 
David Guild 29 Lorn Road Dunbeg Oban Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
Andrew Wylie 28 Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, PA31 8AF 02.12.2020 
David Tickell Back Cottage, 75 Argyll St, Lochgilphead PA31 8NE 02.12.2020 
Colin MacInnes Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, PA31 8AF 02.12.2020 
Mhairi Henderson Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, PA31 8AF 02.12.2020 
Peter McMillan Oakhill, Tarbert, PA29 6TB 02.12.2020 
E McGuinness 12 Orchard Park, Ardrishaig, PA30 8EZ 02.12.2020 
Kelly McGuinness 3 MacKintosh Way, Lochgilphead, PA31 8UY 02.12.2020 
Steven Beattie 3 MacKintosh Way, Lochgilphead, PA31 8UY 02.12.2020 
Vivienne Duffy 32 Morvern Hill, Oban, PA34 4NS 02.12.2020 
Jim Deany Dalshaw, North Connel, PA37 1RE 02.12.2020 
James MacLean 5 Benmore View, North Connel, PA371SN 02.12.2020 
Duncan Forriere 1 Longsdale Terr, Oban, PA34 5JS 02.12.2020 
Caitlin Gray 3 Angus Terrace, Oban   02.12.2020 
Gordon Gauld 26 Brodie Crescent, Lochgilphead, PA31 8NW 02.12.2020 
Duncan Robb 10 Easfield, Tarbert, PA28 6JJ 02.12.2020 
C Taylor Gallachoille, Tavyallich, Lochgilphead, PA31 8PG 02.12.2020 
P Graham Marine View, Crinan   02.12.2020 
Allan Duffy 32 Morven Hill, Oban, PA34 4NS 02.12.2020 
K Courtauld Auchenellan Estate, Ford, PA31 8RH 02.12.2020 
F Tew-Street Rowan, Glenmore Rd, Oban 02.12.2020 
Edward Swift 61D Lochnell Street Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8TN 30.11.2020 
Shaun Tooley 10 Creag Ghlas Cairnbaan PA31 8AP 30.11.2020 
Lewis King 2 Victoria Terrace Ardrishaig Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
James Selfridge 4 Macallum Court Lochgilphead PA31 8TB 30.11.2020 
R Todd 5 Roading Cottages Campbeltown PA28 6LV 30.11.2020 
Gordon Ram Cam Loch House Lochgilphead PA31 8SG 30.11.2020 
Ewan Guild 29 Lorn Road Dunbeg Oban Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
Hugh Townsley 10 Burns Brae Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
Heather Brolly 8 Barrmor View, Kilmartin, PA31 UN 30.11.2020 
Janet McNaughton Site 20, Kilmory Industrial Estate, Lochgilphead 30.11.2020 
George McNaughton Site 20, Kilmory Industrial Estate, Lochgilphead 30.11.2020 
N.A. MacNaughton 14 McKelvie Road, Oban Argyll 30.11.2020 
Graham D Richardson Castleton, By Lochgilphead, Argyll 30.11.2020 
James Dow 16 Mossfield Drive, Oban Argyll 30.11.2020 
Tommy Somerville 76 Queen St, Dunoon Argyll 30.11.2020 
William Stewart PO Box 9563, Argyll, PA31 8YH 30.11.2020 
Donald Cunningham 14 Lorn Road, Dunbeg, Oban 30.11.2020 
Alasdair McDougall 7 Slockavullin, Kilmartin, PA31 8QG 30.11.2020 
John Anderson Craisantairbh Mhor, Kilmartin, PA31 8RG 30.11.2020 
Louise McKellar 1 Castle Park, Kilmartin, PA31 8RN 30.11.2020 
Louise MacPhail 1 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Greig MacPhail 1 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Iain MacLean Largie, Kilmartin, PA31 8RQ 30.11.2020 
Susan MacLean Largie, Kilmartin, PA31 8RQ 30.11.2020 
Mary McKellar 16 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Lisa Yuill 23 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Megan Yuill 23 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Doulgas Yuill 23 Kilmartin, PA31 8RN   30.11.2020 
Sarah Lavender 1 Dail Charnaig Kilmartin Lochgilphead PA31 8RQ  
Chris Whelan Asknish Farm Lochgair Argyllshire PA31 8SB 02.12.2020 
Jennifer Mackenzie 12 Victoria Crescent Helensburgh Argyll and Bute G84 7BX 02.12.2020 

Page 104



Stuart G Jackson 9 Kirk Street Campbeltown Argyll PA28 6BL 02.12.2020 
Robert Baxter Whitegates Court Lochgilphead   02.12.2020 
Donna Baxter Whitegates Court Lochgilphead   02.12.2020 
C Charlwood Froickhelm Brackley Park Ardrishaig   
Sandy Gordon Ri Cruin Kilmartin PA31 8QF 02.12.2020 
Mavis Yuill 2 Castle Park Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 02.12.2020 
Eoin Yuill 23 Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8RN 02.12.2020 
D A Colewell Lonan Cottage Glenlonan Oban Argyll and Bute 02.12.2020 
Andy Gatner 2 Coronation Terrace Oban Road Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 02.12.2020 
Duncan Grant 9 Aray Gardens Oban Argyll and Bute PA34 4JX 02.12.2020 
David MacCallum An Calltuin Hazeldean Crescent Oban Argyll And Bute 02.12.2020 
Ian Kinloch 6A Wellington Street Dunoon Argyll and Bute PA23 7LA 02.12.2020 
George Prosser 37 Marine Court Dunbeg Oban Argyll and Bute 02.12.2020 
Duncan Carmichael Flat A 12 Angus Terrace Oban Argyll And Bute 02.12.2020 
Brian Morris 9A Longsdale Terrace Oban PA34 5JS 02.12.2020 
Jonathan Campbell Arden Connel Oban PA37 1PT 02.12.2020 
Peter MacLean 14 Bayview Road Oban PA34 5AY 02.12.2020 
Ross Campbell Arden Connel Oban PA37 1PT 02.12.2020 
Alexander McKellar 1 Castle Park Kilmartin Lochgilphead PA31 8RW 02.12.2020 
Ashleigh Mochrie 8 Brodie Crescent, Lochgilphead, PA31 8NW 03.12.2020 
Charlene Glencross Oakfield Cottage, Lochgilphead, PA31 8NQ 03.12.2020 
A Mcdonald J Plant Hire, Ardshiel, Lochgilphead, PA31 8PY 03.12.2020 
Jamie Miller J Plant Hire, Ardsheil, Bishopton Road, Lochgilphead, 03.12.2020 
John MacPhee Glenappin, 2 Dun Mor, Lochgilphead, PA31 8TP 03.12.2020 
Jean L Kilcolm 25 Dun Mor Ave, Lochgilphead, PA31 8TP 03.12.2020 
Thomas R Kilcolm 25 Dun Mor Ave, Lochgilphead, PA31 8TP 03.12.2020 
David Barnett Innishail 48 Pulpit Road Oban Argyll and Bute 07.12.2020 
Neill Malcolm Nether Largie Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 20.11.2020 
Janey Van-Stone Carloonan Lodge Inveraray Argyll and Bute PA32 8XG 27.11.2020 
Joanne MacGillivray 21 Meadows Road Lochgilphead PA31 8AF 27.11.2020 
J MacGillivray 4 The Steadings Castleton Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 27.11.2020 
K A MacGillivray 4 The Steadings Castleton Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute 27.11.2020 
Stuart Jackson No Address Given    26.11.2020 
Andy John Stewart 20 Sinclair Drive Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8NP 26.11.2020 
Karen Willis Steidhealachd Achahoish Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 27.11.2020 
Lee Buckley Camis Mor Carsaig Tavyallich PA31 8PN 27.11.2020 
Stephen McCormick 1 Dalriada Place Bridgend Kilmichael Glassary Lochgilphead 
27.11.2020 
S A Jones 19 Fernoch Drive Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8PZ 27.11.2020 
Chris McGowan 4 Otter View Minard PA32 8YR 27.11.2020 
Mark Moran 5 Glenfyne Terrace PA30 8HP   27.11.2020 
Lucas Williamson 2 Arran View Kilduskland Road Ardrishaig PA30 8EH 27.11.2020 
Jim Selfridge 27A Union Street Lochgilphead PA31 8JS 27.11.2020 
Hector McNeill 41 MacIntyre Terrace Lochgilphead PA31 8TF 27.11.2020 
Allan M Wardrope 4 Myrtle Avenue Lenzie Glasgow G66 4HP 27.11.2020 
David E Renwick 2 Duntrune Place Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8TT 27.11.2020 
Cameron Gold Asknish Farm Lochgair Lochgilphead PA31 8SB 27.11.2020 
Donald MacInnes 2 Lunga Road Oban PA34 4YD 01.12.2020 
E MacLellan 1 Creag Bhan Village Oban Argyll and Bute PA34 4BF 01.12.2020 
Scott Gilchrist 22D Davaar Avenue Campbeltown PA28 4NG 01.12.2020 
C Scott 24 Linnet Court Ardrishaig PA30 8HX 30.11.2020 
Aileen McGowan 4 Otter View Minard PA32 8YR 30.11.2020 
John Frier F&G Suppliers Kilmory Industrial Estate Lochgilphead PA31 8RR 30.11.2020 
Mark Ferguson 7A Angus Terrace Oban PA34 4EG 30.11.2020 
C Penman 6 Lorne Terrace Lochgilphead PA31 8LS 30.11.2020 

Page 105



Craig Houston 7 Kilduskland Drive Ardrishaig PA30 8HS 30.11.2020 
Callum McGregor Dailuaine Ford PA31 8RH 30.11.2020 
Max Ferguson South Ledaig Farm North Connel PA37 1NY 30.11.2020 
A Kilpatrick 5 Ben Cruachan View Crannaig-a-Mhinister Oban Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
Aiden MacPhee 23 Nelson Road Oban Argyll and Bute PA34 4DQ 30.11.2020 
Kyle W Armstrong 20 MacVicar Court Dunbeg Oban Argyll and Bute 30.11.2020 
Josh Rippon 11G Colonsay Terrace Oban Argyll PA34 4YN 30.11.2020 
Alex Carmichael 21B Corran Brae PA34 5DT   30.11.2020 
Steven Carswell 13 Polvinister Gardens Oban PA34 5TD 30.11.2020 
Daniel Johnstone 7 Achlonan Taynuilt PA34 1JJ 30.11.2020 
Gareth Judson 49 Achlonan Taynuilt PA35 1SS 30.11.2020 
Brian Logan 8 Lunga Road Soroba PA34 4NP 30.11.2020 
Scott J Lewis 11 Ardpatrick Place Lochgilphead PA31 8TN 03.12.2020 
Coille Haulage Coille Haulage Ltd Tom Dow Transport Depot Castleton Lochgilphead Argyll 
and Bute 03.12.2020 
Ross Hodson 20 Dewar Avenue Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute PA31 8NR 26.11.2020 
Alexandra Livingston-Docwra 9A Fettes Row Edinburgh EH3 6SE 26.11.2020 
James Macintyre Croit Na Cailliche Achdalieu Fort William PH33 7NN 26.11.2020 
Adam F Bain 17 Lochnell Street Lochgilphead Argyll PA318JN 26.11.2020 
Donald MacDonald 12 Ellary Place Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8TZ 26.11.2020 
Alex Samborek 5 Dun Mor Avenue Lochgilphead Argyll And Bute PA31 8TP 26.11.2020 
Ian McCallum DA MacDonald Contractors Site 13 A Kilmory Ind Estate Lochgilphead 
26.11.2020 
Lynda McCulloch Bealach An Uran  Dalamall Road  Inveraray PA32 8XG 26.11.2020 
Jody Gillen 11 Ardpatrick Place, Lochgilphead, PA318TN 27.11.2020 
Jason Banfield 8 Walled Garden, By Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8UG 27.11.2020 
Angus Houston Houston 33 Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8AF 27.11.2020 
Anne Houston 33 Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8AF 27.11.2020 
Andrew Willan 21 Meadows Road, Lochgilphead, Argyll, PA31 8AF 27.11.2020 
Scott Campbell 23 MacIntosh Way Lochgilphead PA31 8UG 01.12.2020 
S MacArthur 27 Quebec Argyll Caravan Park Inveraray PA32 8XT 01.12.2020 
Martin Ferguson 31C Kerrera Terrace Dunollie PA34 5AT 01.12.2020 
Andrew Bruce 47 Woodhead Avenue Glasgow G66 3DN 01.12.2020 
Matthew Croft 1 Leacainn Terrace Furnace Inveraray PA32 8XS 01.12.2020 
Mason Monks 11 Fleming Court Lochgilphead PA31 8WF 01.12.2020 
Jamie Duncan 2 Port Ann Lochgilphead PA31 8SE 01.12.2020 
Graham MacPherson 21 Glen Aray View Inveraray PA32 8TW 01.12.2020 
Daniel MacCuish 16 Nelson Road Oban PA34 4DQ 01.12.2020 
Gordon Moore Muile Lochgair PA31 8SB 01.12.2020 
Brian Gallacher Cumlodden Manse Inveraray Furnace PA32 8XU 01.12.2020 
Howard MacAulay 2 Sinclair Drive Oban PA34 4DR 01.12.2020 
Kacper Krawczyk 15 Ross Crescent Lochgilphead PA31 8ZS 01.12.2020 
David Laird 24 Lorn Avenue Dunollie Oban PA34 5AP 01.12.2020 
Peter MacCuish Rothbery 48 Nant Drive Oban PA34 4LA 01.12.2020 
Adam Posnik 3 Upper Achagoyle Minard PA32 8YF 01.12.2020 
Gordon MacDonald 3 Tigh Na Criege Ardrishaig PA30 8DU 01.12.2020 
James Frood Flat 3 Dalriada Glenburn Road Ardrishaig 03.12.2020 
Lena Ferguson Balliemore House Castleton Lochgilphead PA31 8RU 03.12.2020 
Donald Campbell 4 McKelvie Road Oban PA34 4GB 03.12.2020 
Donald Beaton Invercloy Guest House Inverconnell Terrace Oban PA34 03.12.2020 
Jan McCorkindale 72 Crosshill Avenue Campbeltown PA28 6DL 08.12.2020 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



Representation 
 
James Malcolm Courtyard Cottage Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 
12.11.2020 
Richard Adair 8 Castle Park Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 25.11.2020 
Dougie Philand 32 Fernoch Crescent Lochgilphead Argyll PA31 8AE 02.12.2020 
Gilbert Milne No Address Given 23.11.2020 
Warren MacLeod No Address Given 23.11.2020 
Gilbert Milne No Address Given 08.12.2020 
Matthew Croft 1 Leacainn Terrace Furnace Inveraray PA32 8XS  
Mason Monks 11 Fleming Court Lochgilphead PA31 8WF   
Jamie Duncan 2 Port Ann Lochgilphead PA31 8SE   
Graham MacPherson 21 Glen Aray View Inveraray PA32 8TW   
Daniel MacCuish 16 Nelson Road Oban PA34 4DQ   
Gordon Moore Muile Lochgair PA31 8SB   
Brian Gallacher Cumlodden Manse Inveraray Furnace PA32 8XU  
Howard MacAulay 2 Sinclair Drive Oban PA34 4DR   
Kacper Krawczyk 15 Ross Crescent Lochgilphead PA31 8ZS   
David Laird 24 Lorn Avenue Dunollie Oban PA34 5AP  
Peter MacCuish Rothbery 48 Nant Drive Oban PA34 4LA  
Adam Posnik 3 Upper Achagoyle Minard PA32 8YF   
Gordon MacDonald 3 Tigh Na Criege Ardrishaig PA30 8DU   
James Frood Flat 3 Dalriada Glenburn Road Ardrishaig Lochgilphead 
Lena Ferguson Balliemore House Castleton Lochgilphead PA31 8RU  
Donald Campbell 4 McKelvie Road Oban PA34 4GB   
Donald Beaton Invercloy Guest House Inverconnell Terrace Oban PA34  
Gilbert Milne No Address Given     
Jan McCorkindale 72 Crosshill Avenue Campbeltown PA28 6DL   
Simon Hunt Kilmartin Castle Barrmor View Kilmartin Lochgilphead Argyll and Bute 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Argyll and Bute Council 

Development & Economic Growth 
 

Committee Planning Application Report and Report of Handling as required by 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning Permission or 
Planning Permission in Principle 
 

 
Reference No: 20/02353/PP 
Planning Hierarchy: Local 
Applicant: Clachan Village Hall Committee 
Proposal: Alterations and change of use of dwellinghouse to form community 

hub 
Site Address:  Achnaha, Clachan, Tarbert, Argyll And Bute PA29 6XL 
  

  
DECISION ROUTE 
 

Local Government Scotland Act 1973  
 

 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 

(i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission 

 Change of use from dwellinghouse to community hub 

 External alterations 

 Formation of car parking/turning area 

 Alterations to access junction 

 Associated ground engineering works to raise levels 
 
(ii) Other specified operations 

 Removal of trees 
 

 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That planning permission be approved subject to conditions  
 

 
(C) CONSULTATIONS:   
 

 Area Roads – 26.02.2021 – No objections subject to conditions 
 
Transport Scotland – 16.02.2021 – Director does not propose to advise against 
grant of consent 
 
Flood Risk Authority – 26.02.2021 – No objection, however it is suggested that 
flood resistance and resilience measures could be considered at the site, to protect 
the interior of the building during a flood event in line with relevant SPP. 
 
ABC Environmental Services – 08.02.2021 – If it is proposed to prepare food in 
the proposed kitchen area then it must be registered with The Environmental Health 

Page 111 Agenda Item 7



service as a food business and will be liable to routine food hygiene inspections 
according to regulations. This registration can be completed through the Argyll and 
Bute Council website. 
06.04.2021 – With specific regard to potential impact on residential amenities, 
Environmental Services, submitted an additional response suggesting that 
activities/uses of the proposed community hub be restricted to finish no later than 
12am midnight  o Mon.-Sat. and 11pm on Sundays. 
Additionally, Environmental Services has advised that the applicant should apply for 
a public entertainment license for events such as ceilidhs, music events, etc. Any 
such license will stipulate start and end times.  
 
West Kintyre Community Council – 26.02.2021 – No objections but feel that 
the following issues need to be addressed:- 

 Property is within an area known to flood and as such design must be 
required to install flood defence measures; 

 A lift would be preferable to proposed 1st floor meeting room to negate 
discrimination against people with mobility problems; and, 

 Plans don’t indicate a heating ventilation system. Have concerns 
regarding possible noise/nuisance to residents of nearby cottages 
resulting from any proposals for an air source heat pump system. 

 

 
(D) HISTORY:   
 

04/01858/DET – Alterations to provide first floor living accommodation and erection 
of roof on garage - Approved 24.11.2004 
 
04/01859/LIB - Alteration to provide first floor living accommodation and erection of 
roof on garage - Approved 21.02.2005 
 
03/00555/LIB – Formation of roof over existing attached garage – Approved 
14.10.2003 

 

 
(E) PUBLICITY:   
 

 Regulation 20 Advert Local Application – Expired 11th March 2021. 
 
Neighbour Consultation – Period of receipt of representations expired 11th March 
2021. 
 

 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:   
 

(i) Representations received from: 
 

 Objection 

 Joyce Andrews – Reeve Cottage, Clachan PA29 6XL – Objection 

 Mr. Parkhouse – Clachan Cottage - Objection 

 Mrs Parkhouse – Clachan Cottage - Objection 

 Matthew Parkhouse - No address given - Objection 

 Heather Parkhouse - No address given – Objection 

 Anne Parkhouse – No address given - Objection 

 Lee Bastow -10 Long Rigg, Clachan, Tarbert, Argyll And Bute* - Objection 

Page 112



*note – the following names are appended to the above representation: - 
Lee Bastow, Jack Bastow and Jamie Johnstone 

 Mrs. Lee Bastow - 10 Long Rigg, Clachan - Objection 

 Mr Niall Bastow - 10 Long Rigg, Clachan - Objection 

 Maria Rae – No address given – Objection 

 Miss Gemma Rae - 11 Long Rigg, Clachan, Tarbert, Argyll And Bute -  
Objection 

 Mrs Karen Goodchild - Glenralloch Cottage Tarbert Argyll And Bute PA29 
6XX – Objection 

 
Support 

 Malcolm Ward – Luib Cottage, Clachan PA29 6XL – Support 

 Kelvin Moller – The Old Smithy, Clachan – Support 

 Moreen Moller - The Old Smithy, Clachan – Support 

 Catherine Doyle – No address given – Support 

 Cathy MacLean - No address given – Support 

 Linda Howden – Ciaran Cottage Clachan PA29 6XL - Support 

 Angela Heasman – Kinabus, Clachan, PA29 6XL - Support 

 Peter Heasman - Kinabus, Clachan, PA29 6XL - Support 
 

 
(ii) Summary of issues raised: 

 
A total of 20 representations have been received, twelve of which are objections and 
eight offering support. 

 
 

Inadequate supporting information 

 General lack of supporting information to allow full assessment of 
development impact, including:-  
o Specific proposed uses as a “community hub” including hours of 

operation and projected numbers attending at any one time; 
o Impact upon existing established planting; 
o Flood resilience works; 
o Soundproofing measures;  

 
Comment: - The planning authority is satisfied that sufficient information has 
been submitted to allow a full and competent assessment of the proposed 
change of use and associated development. The application will be 

assessed as a Public Hall - Class 10(f) - Town and Country Planning (Use 

Classes) (Scotland) Order 1992. The other issues referred to form part of 
this assessment (below)  

 

 Concern expressed that existing water supply and drainage system may not 
have capacity for resultant increase in demand. 
 
Comment: - Water supply and foul drainage is by means of the existing public 
system. Capacity of this system is a matter for the applicant and the statutory 
undertaker to resolve. I have no reason to believe that the existing 
connections and infrastructure capacity are inadequate for the proposed use. 

 
Impact on residential amenities. 

 Noise from events e.g. private parties and evening pantomimes will detract 
from the quiet residential amenities of nearby residents, particularly at night-

Page 113



time hours especially as such events can include live music till after midnight 
and these events can over-run authorised dead-lines. Previous patterns of 
use of the former village hall included midnight finishes to events and use by 
a long-standing pantomime group sometimes into the ‘wee small hours’. 
Proposal appears to replace double-glazed windows with single-glazed 
which is a retrograde step in relation to noise containment, especially with 
regard to activities such as Ceilidhs, live music and pantomime. 
 

 Loss of residential amenity by reason of disturbance from flashing and 
moving lights (at unsociable hours) associated with music events and stage 
productions. 

 

 Anti-social behaviour in the village late at night. 
 

 Objections relating to anticipated noise levels and anti-social behaviour may 
be due to misunderstanding/based on wrong assumptions. This project will 
be sensitively managed with due care and diligence to neighbouring 
properties. The majority of village activities relate to small local user groups 
e.g the Women’s Rural Group, Tai Chi, Dance Club, the Old Pals Club, 
committee meetings etc. Other traditional community activities e.g 
fundraising coffee mornings, plant & bake sales are conducted within 
reasonable ‘social’ hours. Periodic social events including Ceilidhs and 
pantomimes are usually held once a year at most and finish no later than 
11pm in the contributor’s experience. 

 

 Loss of amenity by reason of direct overlooking into kitchen and bedroom 
windows, at close proximity, of existing houses at the back (south east) of 
the site. 

 

 Loss of residential amenities resulting from cooking odours from the 
proposed kitchen 

 
Comment: - Impact on residential amenities will be considered having regard 
to all relevant Local development Plan Policy, Supplementary Guidance, 
consultee responses and representations received (both objection and 
support) in detail in Section (P) and Appendix A below. 
A public entertainment license will be required to stage events such as 
ceilidhs, music events, etc. Any such license will stipulate start and end times 
in order to protect residential amenities.. 

 
Impact on Visual Amenity/Character 

 Changing the use to anything other than a house will have a negative impact 
on its relationship with its surroundings by taking away the setting of this 
prominent central building. Removal of trees to create parking will impact on 
setting of listed building. 
 
Comment: - Impact on visual amenity and the character and setting of listed 
buildings will be assessed in full in Section (P) and Appendix A below. 
However it is noted that the original purpose of the building was not a house, 
but a church, and this use formed its original relationship with this building 
and its surroundings. I do not accept that the use of the site as a single 
dwellinghouse is the only means of protecting the character of the building 
and its setting. Identification of trees to be retained and those to be removed, 

Page 114



as well as any compensatory new planting can be controlled by means of a 
planning condition. 

 
Parking and Highways 

 Notwithstanding a consultation response of “no objection” from the Council’s 
Roads and Infrastructure Services and an acknowledgement that the on-site 
parking requirements as set out in LDP Supplementary Guidance – Parking 
Standards appear to have been met, it is submitted that the proposed use 
will result in additional vehicles parking along roads through Clachan. 
 

 The nearby public roads do not have no capacity to accommodate parking 
and additional traffic movements generated by various events at the 
proposed community hub. 

 

 Additional on-street parking/congestion generated by the proposed use will 
result in highways hazards from pedestrians in the road navigating parked 
cars, and block local bus route or any other type of large vehicles including 
emergency vehicles/refuse collection vehicles. 

 

 Parking for local residents and their visitors is already difficult. Additional 
demand for on-street parking generated by the propose development will 
make this worse. 

 

 In support of the proposal it is stated that on-site parking for approximately 
10 no. vehicles should be adequate for the majority of user group activities, 
particularly as the walking distance to the proposed community hub will be 
shorter, relative to the former site, for more people. The old village hall 
grounds will serve as overspill parking for the few annual occasions where 
additional parking is required. 

 
Comment: - All issues regarding highways and parking issues will be 
assessed in detail in Section (P) and Appendix A below. 

 
Loss of landscape planting and trees 

 Forming 10 car parking spaces within the garden will result in the loss of 
established natural planting including specimen trees e.g cherry tree at the 
corner. 
 

 Existing trees and shrubs afford privacy for the cottages on the lane. 
Removal of planting will harm the character of the village and spoil the view 
from houses. The planting attracts various birds which will disappear if trees 
and shrubs are removed. 

 

 There should be little or no adverse impact on the natural or built 
environment. Proposals are for repair and renovation in a manner to 
conserve external features. 

 
Comment: - Development impact on trees (and impact on residential privacy) 
is assessed in detail in Section (P) and Appendix A below. Retention of 
existing trees/shrubs and replacement planting for trees that may be lost at 
the northern edge of the site can be adequately addressed by planning 
condition(s). 

 
Positive Community Benefit 

Page 115



 The existing village hall is a 1956 pre-fabricated, concrete and asbestos-
roofed building is no longer fit for purpose and has been closed for over a 
year due to terminal decline. The proposal to acquire the Free Church as a 
replacement is supported by a majority of the community. This will give an 
opportunity to bring a historic and locally important listed building into 
community stewardship. 
 

 It is the very nature of village halls that they are usually located within village 
community settings to make them more accessible by walking and avoid 
vehicle transport to the old hall which is served by a narrow un-made lane. 

 

 Building was originally built as an asset for the village. Bringing the building 
back under the control of the Village Hall Committee, with the funding 
available for the village, is an opportunity not to be missed. 

 

 Opportunity for future community projects and to bring more life to the village. 
Plan is to make the building a welcoming space for Clachan and the wider 
community e.g for coffee mornings, meeting space for local groups, ‘pit-stop’ 
on the Kintyre Way, Art Club, etc. 

 

 Would result in a uniquely designed and iconic building being re-established 
as a community centre in the heart of the village. 

 
Comment: - positive community benefit and opportunity to provide funding 
for the retention and maintenance of a central, prominent building will form 
part of the balanced assessment in Section (P) below. 

 
Infrastructure 

 Would the existing infrastructure, particularly water supply and foul drainage 
infrastructure be adequate to service a community use accommodating up 
to 100 people? 
 
Comment: - There is no reason to determine that the mains water supply and 
public sewage system is inadequate to serve the proposed change of use. 
This is ultimately a matter to be resolved between the applicant and the 
relevant statutory undertaker.  

 
Sustainability 

 This proposal is for a small and expensive space which is less 
environmentally sustainable and energy efficient than replacing the existing 
village hall with a highly-insulated, flexible space. 
 
Comment: - It is  considered that the location is sustainable, being within a 
village centre and accessible by a range of alternative transport options other 
than private car journeys. The re-use of existing buildings, as opposed to 
new buildings with embodied energy in construction materials and 
construction activity, is often considered to have sustainability benefits. It’s 
very unlikely to be more energy-efficient than a new build in relation to 
building services, however a more efficient heating/ventilation system could 
be installed within the listed building. On balance, the proposed development 
is not contrary to sustainable principles such as to warrant resisting the 
application on these grounds. 

 
Accessibility 

Page 116



 Proposed 1st floor meeting room is not readily accessible (by stairs) for 
people with limited mobility. 
 
Comment: - The proposal makes adequate provision to most spaces within 
the building including the addition of an external access ramp and a well-
located and accessible w.c. There will be a ‘net’ improvement in terms of 
accessibility. There would be nothing to prevent a meeting being held in a 
ground floor accessible location should someone with limited mobility be in 
attendance. The provision of a small upstairs meeting room with access by 
stairs does not justify refusal of this application which otherwise makes good 
provision for users with limited mobility. 

 
Miscellaneous 

 The proposed development is causing conflict within the community. 
 
Comment: - The proposed development subject of this application must be 
assessed with regard to material land-use planning considerations. Conflict 
of views, in of itself, is not material to this assessment. However, all material 
planning considerations raised by representations, both in objection and 
support, will form part of my balanced assessment of the proposal. 

 

 The likely refurbishment costs will be close to costs for a new-build on the 
site of the present village hall. 
 
Comment: - The planning authority has a duty to assess the application 
which has been submitted. Construction costs relative to potential alternative 
development elsewhere is not material to this assessment. 
 

 The majority democratic decision by the community is the option of a new-
build on the site of the existing village hall. There is no capacity to introduce 
another public community facility with the village already having a village hall 
(albeit that it needs replacement.) To balance this, a representation has also 
been submitted stating that the outcome of two public consultations 
conducted during 2020 showed approx. 70% of the turnout supporting the 
acquisition of the Free Church to serve a s a replacement village hall. 
 
Comment: - This is a local community/political issue and not a material land-
use planning consideration. It is reported here for completeness but will not 
form part of my assessment. 

 

 Some of the objectors do not live in Clachan, or the near vicinity. 
 
Comment – Notwithstanding proximity of some objectors to the site, or 
otherwise, all representations received, will be registered and considered as 
part of this assessment, insofar as the representations raise material land 
use planning issues. 

 

 
(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Has the application been the subject of: 
 
(i) Environmental Statement: No 

  

Page 117



(ii) An appropriate assessment under the 
Conservation (Natural Habitats) Regulations 
1994:    

No 

  
(iii) A design or design/access statement:    No 

  
(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed 

development eg. Retail impact, transport 
impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage 
impact etc:   

No 

  

 
(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

Is a Section 75 agreement required:   No 
  

 
(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 

31 or 32:  No 
  

  
(J) Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations 

over and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 
(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account 

in assessment of the application. 
 
 ‘Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan’ Adopted March 2015  
 
 LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
 LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
 LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment 
 LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
 LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
 LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
 LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
 
AFA 13/3 – Area for Action – Clachan Village – Local action relating to traffic 
management and environmental enhancement. 
 
‘Supplementary Guidance to the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 2015’ (Adopted 
March 2016) 
 
Natural Environment 
 
SG LDP ENV 1 – Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 6 – Impact on Trees / Woodland 
 
Landscape and Design 
 
 
SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape 
 

Page 118



Historic Environment and Archaeology 
 
SG LDP ENV 16(a) – Impact on Listed Buildings 
SG LDP ENV 17 – Development in Conservation Areas and Special Built 
Environment Areas (SBEAs) 
SG LDP ENV 19 – Impact on Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMs) 
 
Sport, Leisure, Recreation and Open Space 
 
SG LDP REC/COM 1 – Sport, Recreation and Community Facilities 
 
Bad Neighbour Development 
 
SG LDP BAD 1 – Bad Neighbour Development 
 
Sustainable Siting and Design 
 
SG LDP Sustainable – Sustainable Siting and Design Principles 
 
Resources and Consumption 
 
SG LDP SERV 1 – Private Sewage Treatment Plants & Wastewater Systems 
SG LDP SERV 5(b) – Provision of Waste Storage & Collection Facilities within New 
Development 
 
Addressing Climate Change 
 
SG LDP SERV 7 – Flooding and Land Erosion – Risk Framework 
 
Transport (Including Core Paths) 
 
SG LDP TRAN 4 – New & Existing, Public Roads & Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 6 – Vehicle Parking Provision 
 

 
(ii)  List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in 

the assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of 
Circular 3/2013. 

 

 Scottish Planning Policy 

 ABC LDP 2, Proposed November 2019 

 Consultee comments 

 Third party representations raising material planning considerations 

 HEPS 

 Managing Change in the Historic Environment – HES 
 

 
(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental 

Impact Assessment:  No 
  

  
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 

(PAC):  No 
 

Page 119



 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  No 
 

 
(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No 
 

 
(O) Requirement for a hearing:  No – There have only been a total of twelve objections 

with eight submissions in support.  Consideration is therefore required as to whether 
a discretionary hearing would add value to the process.  In deciding whether to 
exercise their discretion to allow respondents to appear at a hearing, the members 
of the PPSL Committee should be guided by : 

 
• Whether the proposal constitutes a justified departure to the local development 
plan, and/or is a Council Interest Application and the degree of local interest and 
controversy 
• The complexity of technical/material considerations raised 
• How up-to-date the Development Plan is, the relevance of the policies to the 
proposed development and whether the representations are on development plan 
policy grounds which have recently (ie. within the 5 year life of the Plan) 
been considered through the development plan process 
• The volume of representations and degree of conflict within the local community  
• The degree of local interest and controversy on material considerations eg. the 
relative size of community affected set against the relative number of 
representations, and their provenance 
• Whether there has been any previous decisions or predetermination hearing held 
covering similar issues/material considerations 

 
The proposal does not constitute a departure from LDP policy.  A total of 20 
representations have been received with 12 objections and 8 in support of the 
proposal.  All issues raised have been addressed by consultees and within the 
Report on Handling and associated proposed conditions.  In these circumstances, it 
is considered that a Hearing would add little value to the determination process. 

  

  
(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

 The site comprises a single dwellinghouse in a generous well-defined curtilage, with 
established landscaping located within the centre of the Key Rural Settlement of 
Clachan as identified in the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan – 2015. The 
building, was originally constructed in 1878 as a free church and is a Category B 
listed building. The building, and the site, has relatively recently been converted to a 
single dwellinghouse. 
 
The proposal is for change of use from a dwellinghouse to a community hub use. 
This includes associated external alterations to the listed building and the formation 
of parking and turning for 10 no. vehicles served by an existing access off of the 
adopted public road. 
 
Having regard to the location of the site within an existing key rural settlement as well 
as the scale of the village hub use relative to the size of the community it serves, 
officers are satisfied that the proposal is a sustainable form of development, 
consistent in principle with the LDP Settlement and Spatial Strategy as established 
by policies LDP STRAT 1 and LDP DM1. 
 

Page 120



The site comprises a ‘managed’ residential curtilage within a village centre area. The 
proposed parking will result in the loss of several mature trees adjacent to the 
northern boundary of the site. However, these trees and understorey vegetation will 
not have an undue impact on the natural environment including species habitat, and 
any low-scale impact can be adequately mitigated by replacement planting secured 
by means of a planning condition. The proposed development is therefore in 
accordance with the provisions of policy LDP 3; SG LDP ENV 1 and ENV 16. 
 
The proposed community use and minor external alterations will enhance the 
historical and architectural character and features of the building and its traditional 
setting. Whilst not part of this application, the associated removal of internal sub-
dividing partitions will to a significant extent, restore the original spatial character of 
this Category B listed former church building. There is a separate, category C listed 
church gate within the boundary wall and a category B listed lodge adjacent to the 
north of the site. It will not be affected by the proposed development. There is also a 
category B listed parish church located some 175 metres to the south east. The 
associated churchyard is a scheduled ancient monument (SAM). There is another 
SAM, Balinakill House Cross, located some 120 metres due west on the other side 
of the A83 trunk road. Given the low-impact and acceptable nature of the proposed 
works, in conjunction with the distance of separation between these identified historic 
assets and intervening built development, there is very little ‘inter-visibility’ with the 
application site. Officers are satisfied that the proposed change of use and 
associated works will have, at worst, a neutral impact on the historic environment in 
accordance with policy LDP 3, SG LDP ENV 16(a) and ENV 19. 
 
The site is located with a Special Built Environment Area (SBEA) as designated in 
the LDP wherein there is a general policy presumption against development that 
does not preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the SBEA. Officers 
consider that the proposed development, whilst modest in scale and nature, is high 
quality and will respect and enhance the architectural and other qualities that give 
rise to the SBEA designation and otherwise reflect HES guidance all in accordance 
with policy LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV 17. Whilst the proposed community use will 
generate more activity on and around the site, this is not necessarily detrimental to 
the SBEA village character.  
 
Notwithstanding concerns of some people who have made representations of 
objection on grounds of traffic congestion and road safety hazards directly resulting 
from the proposed change of use, officers consider that the day-to-day community 
type uses typical of a village community hall, will be of such modest scale as to have 
minimal impact on the public/private road infrastructure. In addition, the central 
village location will offer an opportunity for users to travel to the hall by foot or bike 
as opposed to a very short car journey. It is noted that off-street car parking provision 
meets the adopted Council car parking standards. The occasions where the hall will 
be used to its absolute capacity are very likely to be occasional and at such times it 
has been proposed that overspill parking be provided nearby. Officers do not 
consider that the proposed nature of the community use of a centrally located facility 
will generate such levels of additional traffic as to exceed the operational capacity of 
the public road regime. This assessment is consistent with the consultee response 
from the Council’s Area Roads Engineer. As such, the proposal accords with policy 
LDP 11; SG TRAN 4 and TRAN 6. 
 
Notwithstanding the other issues raised by representations, it is officers’ 
interpretation that the issue which has raised most concern relates to the potential 
impact of some of the uses typical of a community hub/hall facility in close proximity 
to houses. It is assessed that this is a prominent building with a status that is 

Page 121



appropriate to a community type of use. Officers consider that the significant majority 
of village community activities including meetings, activity and social clubs, coffee 
mornings etc. are capable of taking place within a residential area without detriment 
to residential amenities by reason of undue noise or disturbance. Officers have also 
take into account the representations of support which refer to a sense of community 
activity and vitality within the village as a positive effect. However, potential impacts 
are acknowledged on residential amenities of those residents living very close to the 
site in relation to concerns over activities such as pantomimes, live music and dance 
events traditionally held in the evening up until midnight (or potentially beyond). In 
order to address this specific concern it is recommended, on the basis of advice from 
Council Environmental Services that hours of operation be restricted to up to 12am 
midnight Mon. – Sat. and to 11pm on Sundays. This can be secured by a planning 
condition. It should also be noted that a public entertainment license will be required 
in order to stage events including ceilidhs, music events, functions, etc. This licensing 
process will also assess impact on residential amenities and may stipulate start and 
end times. It is not uncommon for village halls to be located within the centre of rural 
communities and officers’ assessment is that these events will be occasional, and as 
such that the level of noise and disturbance experienced would not cause such 
undue level of impact upon amenities to those residents, as to warrant refusing this 
application. It is therefore concluded that the proposal adequately protects local 
residential amenities consistent with policies LDP 9 and SG on Sustainable Siting 
and Design principles. 
 
In the interests of balance, officers have also taken into account those 
representations which support the proposed use on the grounds of social community 
benefit and vitality and vibrancy. There is a policy presumption that operates in favour 
of new or improved recreational facilities, provided that they do not result in unduly 
detrimental impact on other relevant planning considerations, including residential 
amenities. As such, it is considered that the application can be supported with regard 
to the provisions of policy LDP 8 and SG LDP REC/COM 1. 
 
Having regard to relevant consultee responses, and SEPA standing guidance and 
SPP, officers are satisfied that the proposed use will not result in undue flood risk to 
property or people, also bearing in mind that the proposed use falls within a lesser 
flood risk category than the existing residential use. Notwithstanding the above, the 
Council’s Flood Risk Assessor has suggested that flood resistance and resilience 
measures could protect the interior of the building during a flood event. This 
suggestion is advisory as opposed to a requirement and as such it will form part of 
an advisory note to the applicant. 
 
There are no identified infrastructure constraints to the proposed use. It is therefore 
concluded that the proposed development can be adequately served by the public 
water supply and sewer drainage. 

 

 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan: Yes  
 

 
(R) Reasons why Planning Permission or Planning Permission in Principle Should 

be Granted: 
 

 Having regard to all material considerations, it is considered that the proposed 
change of use and associated development will provide for a replacement community 
hall facility to serve the village in accordance with all relevant provisions of the Local 

Page 122



Development Plan and will not give rise to any material consideration that warrant a 
departure from these provisions. 

 

 
(S) Reasoned justification for a departure to the provisions of the Development 

Plan 
 

 Not applicable. It is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with 
the provisos of the Local Development Plan. 

 

 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers or Historic Environment Scotland: 

No 
 

 
Author of Report: Norman Shewan Date: 31st March 2021 
 
Reviewing Officer: David Love Date: 1st April 2021 
 
Fergus Murray 
Head of Development and Economic Growth 

 

  

Page 123



CONDITIONS AND REASONS RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REF. NO. 20/02353/PP 

 
1. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details specified on the 

application form dated 22nd February.2020, supporting information and, the approved 
drawings listed in the table below unless the prior written approval of the planning 
authority is obtained for an amendment to the approved details under Section 64 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 
 

Plan Title. Plan Ref. No. Version Date Received 

Location and Site 
Plan 

20.02.01 - 20.01.2021 

Existing Plans and 
Elevations 

20.02.02 a 25.03.2020 

Proposed Plans 
and Elevations 

20.02.03 a 25.03.2021 

Window Details 20.02.04 - 20.01.2021 

 
Reason: For the purpose of clarity, to ensure that the development is implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1, no development shall be commenced 
until full details of access junction and highways improvements have been submitted 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority in consultation with Council 
Roads and Amenity Services. Such details shall include: - 
 

i) The proposed access layout designed in accordance with the Council’s Roads 
Standard Detail Drawing SD 08/002 rev. a: 

ii) Visibility splays of 2.40 metres to point X by 42.0 metres to point Y from the 
centre line of the proposed access; 

iii) Final wearing surface finishes for the access, parking and turning areas; 
iv) Formation of a new section of public footpath to an adoptable standard from 

the existing public footpath to the north of the site to the vehicular access point. 
 
The access shall be surfaced with a bound material in accordance with the stated 
Standard Detail Drawing. Prior to work starting on site the access hereby approved 
shall be formed to at least base course standard and the visibility splays shall be 
cleared of all obstructions such that nothing shall disrupt visibility from a point 1.05 
metres above the access at point X to a point 0.6 metres above the public road 
carriageway at point Y. The formation of the new section of public footpath shah be 
completed in accordance with the approved details and the final wearing surface on 
the access shall be completed prior to the development first being brought into use 
and the visibility splays shall be maintained clear of all obstructions thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 
 

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1, no development shall commence until 
full details of the layout and surfacing of a parking and turning area to accommodate 
8 no. vehicles within the application site have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with the Council’s Roads Engineers, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing. The duly approved scheme shall be implemented 
in full prior to the development first being occupied and shall thereafter be maintained 
clear of obstruction for the parking and manoeuvring of vehicles. 
 
Reason: In the interest of road safety. 

Page 124



4. No development shall commence until a scheme of boundary treatment, surface 
treatment and landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall comprise a planting plan and schedule which 
shall include details of: 
 

i) Existing and proposed ground levels at the northern end of the site (where the 
new parking/turning area is proposed) in relation to an identified fixed datum; 

ii) Existing landscaping features and vegetation to be retained (relating to the 
whole application site); 

iii) Location design and materials of proposed walls, fences and gates; 
iv) Details of the final wearing surface for the parking/turning area; 
v) Proposed compensatory landscaping planting works to the northern boundary 

including the location, species and size of every tree/shrub to be planted; 
vi) A programme for the timing, method of implementation, completion and 

subsequent on-going maintenance. 
 
All of the hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved scheme unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
 
Any trees/shrubs which within a period of five years from the completion of the 
approved landscaping scheme fail to become established, die, become seriously 
diseased, or are removed or damaged shall be replaced in the following planting 
season with equivalent numbers, sizes and species as those originally required to be 
planted unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To assist with the integration of the proposal with its surroundings in the 
interest of amenity. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1, the activities and use of the site as a 
community hub, hereby permitted shall not take place after hours of 12.00 midnight on 
Mondays to Saturdays (inclusive) and no later than 11.00pm on Sundays and Bank 
Holidays. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of occupiers of residential properties within the 
surrounding area.. 
 

6. The development shall be implemented with final finished floor levels as existing or 
higher. 
 
Reason: In order to secure an acceptable relationship between the development and 
its surroundings. 

  

 

  

Page 125



NOTE TO APPLICANT 
 

 The length of the permission: This planning permission will last only for three years 
from the date of this decision notice, unless the development has been started within 
that period [See section 58(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
(as amended).] 
 

 A Road Opening Permit under the Roads (Scotland) Act 1984 must be obtained from 
the Council’s Roads Engineers prior to the formation/alteration of a junction with the 
public road. 
 

 The access shall be constructed and drained to ensure that no surface water is 
discharged onto the public road. 

 

 The applicant should be aware that a Public Entertainments License is required from 
the Council for staging any public entertainment events at the application property, 
including music events; ceilidhs, private functions, pantomimes, etc. This planning 
permission does not in any way prejudice the assessment of any such license 
application. 

 

 It is advised that the applicant give serious consideration to implementing flood 
resistance and resilience measures as part of the works to protect the interior of the 
building in a flood event as suggested in the consultee response by the Council’s Flood 
Risk Manager dated 22nd February 2021. Specific measures are suggested within this 
consultee response. The response is available for inspection on the Council’s web-site: 
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/find-and-comment-planning-
applications 

 

 The applicant should be aware that any works required in relation to flood protection and 
resilience measures may require Listed Building Consent where the works will result in 
a material change to the character or appearance of the listed building. In the event of 
the applicant being unsure as to whether such requires statutory consent my advice is 
to contact the local planning authority for further guidance. 
 

 In order to comply with Section 27A(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997, prior to works commencing on site it is the responsibility of the developer to 
complete and submit the attached ‘Notice of Initiation of Development’ to the Planning 
Authority specifying the date on which the development will start.  
 

 In order to comply with Section 27B(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997 it is the responsibility of the developer to submit the attached ‘Notice of Completion’ 
to the Planning Authority specifying the date upon which the development was 
completed. 

 

  

Page 126

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/find-and-comment-planning-applications
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/find-and-comment-planning-applications


APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/02353/PP 
 
PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

The site lies within the key rural settlement of Clachan as identified in the LDP. Policy 
LDP STRAT 1 encourages the principles of sustainable development. This includes 
maximising the opportunity for local community benefit; supporting communities and 
maximising the use of existing infrastructure and services; utilising public transport 
corridors; conserving/enhancing the natural and built environment including built 
heritage resources; respecting the character of settlements; and avoidance of flooding. 
The proposed development will utilise an existing building. The site is sustainably 
located within an existing village community with relatively good transport links. It is 
considered that the sensitive alterations to this listed building required to provide a 
replacement community hall for the village complies with the principles of sustainability 
set out in policy. As such the proposed development is consistent with the principles 
of LDP STRAT 1. 
 
Within key rural settlements, policy LDP DM 1 (B) encourages up to and including 
medium scale developments on appropriate sites. SG LDP REC/COM 1 does not 
define the scale of community facilities in the way that other forms of development are 
defined, rather there should be a more flexible approach where the scale of a particular 
facility should reflect the size of the settlement or community that it serves. Officers 
consider that the scale of the proposed community hub does reflect the size of the 
village/community that it is proposed serve. The site is centrally located within the 
village and as such I consider that it is an appropriate site in terms of the principles of 
the LDP settlement and spatial strategy established by policy LDP DM 1. 

 
However, the propose development still requires careful and balanced assessment 
with regard to all other relevant material considerations, as follows. 

 
B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

The site is roughly rectangular in shape and comprises 1.04 hectares located within 
the centre of the Key Rural Settlement of Clachan as identified in the Argyll and Bute 
Local Development Plan 2015 (LDP). 
 
It comprises a Category B Listed Building, formerly the Kilcalmonell Free Church and 
its walled churchyard. The gateway into the site from the public road, located towards 
the south western tip of the site is listed separately as a Category C listed building. The 
building has been converted into a dwellinghouse around the turn of this century. 
 
The north west boundary of the site fronts directly onto the C59 public road which runs 
through this part of the village. It has a junction with the A83 Tarbet to Campbeltown 
Trunk Road to the south west of the site. This village road also loops around to the 
north of the site where there is another junction onto the A83 trunk road. 

 
The site lies within a predominantly residential area comprising for the most part, 
terraced groups of single-storey cottages fronting directly onto the road, or a private 
track. There are a couple of detached houses set back from the road adjacent to the 
north of the site. 
 
It is proposed to change the use of the site from a single dwellinghouse within its 
residential curtilage to a ‘community hub.’ For the avoidance of doubt, the planning 

Page 127



authority will assess the ‘community hub’ use (as given on the application forms) as 
falling within Class 10(f) – Public Hall - of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Scotland) Order 1992. This use-class includes for the range of community 
activities which would traditionally be carried out in a community/village hall. It is 
submitted that the proposal will effectively replace a 1950’s pre-fabricated village hall 
building elsewhere within the village, which is no longer considered fit for purpose and 
which has been closed. 
 
An existing vehicular access onto the public road will serve a total of 8 no. surfaced 
parking spaces and turning area to be created adjacent to the northern edge of the 
site. This will require localised land-raising as well as the loss of several established 
trees adjacent to the northern boundary of the site. 
 
External alterations to the main building are minimal in scale and nature. A level 
platform with new steps will be formed outside of the main front door with a ramp to 
the side to improve access for people with limited mobility. It is also proposed to 
remove existing aluminium-framed double-glazed units and replaced with bespoke 
timber framed units. 

 
Internal alterations comprise removal of domestic partitions and a first floor intervention 
to effectively re-open up the main interior space of the former church. New partitions 
will enclose a new kitchen area, store and accessible w.c. at the front of the main 
space. An attached volume on the rear of the church, currently used as a garage, will 
be converted to provide w.c’s at ground floor level with stairs to a meeting room over. 
Plant will be accommodated within an existing addition at the rear of the main building. 

 
C. Natural Environment 
 

The site comprises a residential curtilage within a central village location and as such 
the proposed alterations will have a negligible impact upon the natural environment in 
terms of protection of habitat and biodiversity. 
 
Although the planning application forms state that there are no trees on or adjacent to 
the application site, this is clearly not the case. Trees and shrubs form a substantial 
border along the north western and southern edges of the site, behind the stone walls. 
This established natural planting makes a positive contribution to the visual amenity of 
the area and the setting of the site, as well as providing some visual screening to the 
cottages to the south. The proposed change of use and associated works will not 
directly prejudice the retention of the existing natural boundary planting along these 
boundaries. 
 
The formation of 8 no. car parking spaces adjacent to the northern boundary, shared 
with “Balinkill Lodge” will however require the felling of several mature trees and 
established shrubbery. Whilst the trees are not of significant value in terms of amenity 
or species value, they do nonetheless provide an appropriate form of boundary 
treatment with the residential property directly adjoining to the north. It is not 
considered that the loss of these trees would warrant a refusal of the proposed 
development however, officers do consider that replacement landscape planting will 
be required to protect the character of the local area, the setting of the listed building, 
and the amenities of the adjoin residential property particularly given the formation of 
new car parking. The applicant should note that this may require a relocation of the 
parking bays away from the boundary to provide an adequate planting border. This can 
be satisfactorily achieved by means of planning condition. 

 

Page 128



On this basis, it is considered that the propose development will not have an 
unacceptable level of impact upon the natural environment, including impact on trees, 
consistent with policy LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV 1 and ENV 6. 

 
D. Built Environment 
 

The main building, currently a house, and formerly a free church is a Category B Listed 
Building. The gateway in the (former) churchyard wall, located towards the south west 
corner of the site is covered under a separate category C listed building. Balinkill 
Lodge, located directly adjacent to the north of the site, is also a category C listed 
building. The Kilmalmonell and Kilberry Parish Church and Churchyard is located 
approximately 100metres to the south west of the site. The church building is a 
category B listed building and the churchyard is a scheduled ancient monument (SAM.) 
 
The proposed external alterations are minor in scale and otherwise appropriate in 
terms of detailing and materials relative to the architectural and historic character of 
this very attractive and prominent building. The proposed works will result in a positive 
enhancement to the character and appearance of the building and the internal 
alterations and community use will reflect the historic character of this heritage asset 
more successfully than the domestic use. The proposed change of use and associated 
alterations will protect and enhance the architectural and historic character and setting 
of this listed building, and that of the separately listed church gate and the listed 

building adjacent to the north, known as “Balinkill Lodge”. The Category B listed Parish 

Church and its churchyard (SAM) is approximately 100 metres from the site with 
intervening residential development. The external works to the listed building (subject 
of this application) are discreet in terms of scale and nature. By reason of distance and 
intervening built development there is little direct visual inter-relationship between the 
application site and the listed building and SAM at the parish Church. As such it is 
considered that the proposed development will enhance or protect the historic 
environment, with specific regard to the character and setting of nearby listed buildings 
and scheduled monuments in accordance with all material considerations including 
national policy, LDP policy and relevant Historic Environment guidance. 

 
The site is located within a Special Built Environment Area (SBEA) designated by the 
LDP. These are defined as “…areas which do not have the presence, continuity or 
quality of ‘conservation areas’ but which exhibit special built and landform 
characteristics which should be safeguarded and promoted when considering 
development potential and proposals”. A combination of policy LDP 3 and SG LDP 17 
serves to establish a general presumption against development that does not preserve 
or enhance the character or appearance of….an SBEA. As stated above the proposed 
community use of an historic church in of itself, and the necessary external changes, 
at minimum will protect the built character of the area. Officers do not consider that the 
resultant intensification in demand for on-street parking will have a materially 
detrimental visual impact upon the character of the SBEA. 

  
E. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters. 
 

The existing private/public road regime has capacity to serve the proposed 
development without any detrimental impact on highways grounds, in accordance with 
the provisions of LDP11 and SG LDP TRAN 4. 
The proposed off-street car parking provision complies with the Council’s adopted car 
parking standards. Officers have taken into account that the site is in a central location 
and for a community use, and as such that a significant amount of resulting journeys 
will be by foot. Significant intensification of demand for on-street car-parking on nearby 

Page 129



public streets will be infrequent and will not result in increased highway hazards or 
congestion. 

 
This view is supported by the consultee response by the Council’s Roads and 
Infrastructure Services. 

 
F. Infrastructure 
 

The adequacy of the public water supply and drainage system is a matter for 
assessment by the relevant statutory undertaker, however there is no evidence to 
suggest the water supply and drainage infrastructure provided originally for use as a 
church is inadequate for a community hall use. 

 
G. Other Key Policy Matters 
 

Impact on Residential Amenity 
The site is located within the centre of the village characterised primarily by residential 
development. The Kilmalmonell and Kilberry Parish Church is located approximately 
100 metres to the south west of the application site and the village primary school 
approximately 60 metres to the North West. 
 
The closest residential properties comprise a terraced group of single-storey cottages 
which front onto a private lane directly adjacent to the southern boundary of the site. 
These houses are approximately 4 metres from the site boundary comprising a stone 
wall with intermittent shrub and tree planting behind it. The closest house to the 
application building is approximately 6.8 metres at the closest point. The houses on 
the northern side of the village road are approximately 10.5 metres from the walled 
boundary of the site and the closest of these houses is approximately 18.0 metres from 
the building (subject of this application) at the closest point. 
 
A key element of the assessment is the inter-relationship between residential 
properties and the application site and the level and nature of impact that proposed 
village hall activities will have on the residential amenities of nearby residents. 
 
The proposed change of use to a village hall will involve some uses listed in Schedule 
2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (Scotland)  
Order 1992, referred to as “Bad Neighbour Development.” As such, it is proposed to 
assess this application having regard to policy LDP 8 and SG LDP BAD 1. 
 
It is considered that a village/community hall use is generally appropriate within a 
village centre location and that traditional village hall uses are not necessarily 
incompatible with residential amenities. Many of the day-to-day activities/clubs will 
involve relatively low numbers of participants and low levels of noise and disturbance 
which will not be unduly detrimental to residential amenities. Traditional community hall 
uses such as fundraising coffee mornings and plant/bake sales are likely to be 
relatively infrequent and restricted to daytime hours. I consider that the relatively 
infrequent and low-impact nature of such activities would be in keeping with a village 
centre character and would not unduly impact upon residential amenities. The 
proposed village/community hall does is not one of the specific land-uses set out in 
Schedule 2 - ‘bad neighbour development’ of “the Order” however it does share some 
of the characteristics listed, principally in that it would cause activity and noise between 
the hours of 8pm-8am and/or affect residential amenity by reason of fumes, noise, 
vibration or artificial lighting, during those times when the hall would be used for 
pantomimes, live music events or functions. It is noted that “music halls, licensed 
premises and theatres” are included in Schedule 2 of the Order, however this relates 

Page 130



to a permanent, dedicated use, as opposed to occasional/ infrequent community use 
incidental to the village hall use. Officers accept that activity, noise and artificial lighting 
generated by uses including pantomimes, ceilidhs and live music events will impact 
upon residential amenities of those properties closest to the site by reason of noise 
during evening/night-time hours, however, on balance it is considered that the 
community nature and infrequent pattern of these type of events will not have an unduly 
detrimental impact on residential amenity, and that infrequent community hall evening 
uses are compatible with nearby residential amenities. 
 
However, whilst not objecting to the proposed change of use, Council Environmental 
Services has suggested that hours of operation be restricted to up to 12am midnight 
Mon. – Sat. and to 11pm on Sundays in order to address concerns of local residents. 
This can be secured by a planning condition. It should also be noted that a public 
entertainment license will be required in order to stage events including ceilidhs, music 
events, functions, etc. This licensing process will also assess impact on residential 
amenities in more specific terms relative to these types of use, and may stipulate start 
and end times. 
 
Officers do not consider that nearby residential amenities will be affected in relation to 
loss of privacy by reason of direct overlooking of windows to habitable rooms any more 
than would be the case with a residential use of the building. Additionally, there is 
natural planting feature comprising shrubs and small trees along the site boundaries 
which is an effective visual screen. 
 
Having regard to all material considerations, including representations of objection, I 
consider that a community hall use is not out of keeping with the character of the area 
and will not be unduly detrimental to nearby residential amenities consistent with 
policies LDP 8, LDP 9, SG LDP BAD 1 and SG – Sustainable Siting and Design 
Principles. 
 
A license will be required from the local authority for use as a licensed premises for 
live music/dance events. Restriction hours and frequency of evening events will be 
considered as part of the licensing process. 
 
Promotion of Sport, recreational and Community Facilities 
Policy LDP 8 and SG LDP REC/COM 1 aim to support the strength of our communities 
and establish a presumption in favour of new community facilities, such as community 
halls, where scale development proposals reflect the scale of the village; and otherwise 
respect the townscape character and amenity of the surrounding area; are located 
close to where users who will use the facility live; are readily accessible by a means of 
transport options; and is otherwise consistent with all other LDP policy. Officers 
consider that the proposed development accords with all relevant policy assessments 
and as such that the proposed community facility should be supported unless there 
are any other material considerations to warrant otherwise. 

 
It is noted that several objectors have commented on relative advantages (in their view) 
of providing a new community hall by means of a completely new building on the site 
of the former village hall, located in a more open setting approximately 150 metres (as 
the crow flies) to the north east of the site. The planning authority must assess the 
planning merits (or otherwise) of the development proposal forming part of the 
application submission without comparison to alternative proposals, not subject of the 
application, on a completely different site. 
 
Flooding 

Page 131



The proposal is for a change of use from a dwellinghouse to a community hub, 
therefore the land-use classification is becoming less vulnerable with reference to 
Table 1 - SEPA Flood Risk and land use Vulnerability Guidance 2018. Having regard 
to the above, it is considered that the existing finished floor levels (FFLs) are 
acceptable. 
 
As the site is located completely within the 1:200-year  fluvial flood event, it is 
suggested that flood resistance and resilience measures could be considered at this 
site, to protect the interior of the building during a flood event (in line with Scottish 
Planning Policy 2014, p.59. 
 
An advisory note to this effect will be appended to the decision notice. 
 

Page 132



Page 133



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC GROWTH   
                           
PLANNING, PROTECTIVE SERVICES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE      21 April 2021 
 
______________________________________________________________________________                                                                                                                      
 
REFERENCE:  2100166/MPLAN 
 
Land West Of Hazel Cottage, Scalasaig, Isle of Colonsay: PDA 8/1 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. Summary 

 

The site is largely located within the settlement boundary of the minor settlement of Scalasaig 
on the Isle of Colonsay within Potential Development Area (PDA) 8/1.  The PDA schedule 
within the LDP allocates this site for a mixed density housing site with 25% affordable 
requirement.   
 
The proposal is largely within the PDA boundary with the exception of three houses and 
partially a fourth.  Equally, an aspiration has been indicated for phase 2.  This does not form 
part of the officer assessment and we are only considering phase 1.  Should the applicant 
wish to realise their ambitions across phase 2 then this will need a separate submission and 
assessment.  The slight deviation from the existing PDA boundary is a result of ground 
investigation works.  The northern portion of the PDA is largely boggy and offers potential for 
corncrake habitat.  Equally, it forms a natural SuDS basin.  It is important to keep unimpeded 
views of the listed church and hotel to the west as gateway view on arrival at the ferry 
terminal.  With this in mind the proposal is considered a minor departure to policy LDP DM 1 
and the PDA but can be considered acceptable on grounds of site specifics and landscape 
impacts.   

 
The proposal is made up of 12 units.  Of these this there are six houses to be retained by the 
applicant, three self-build plots and three Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs).  The self-
build plots are designed for detached properties and the details will be considered in separate 
proposals.  Of the remaining units there are three house types with type A forming a single 
detached unit and a further pair of semi-detached.  House types B and C form two pairs of 
semi-detached with a further semi-detached pair made up of type B.   
 

 Type A is a detached HMO with accommodation in the roof space offering three 
bedrooms. It is expected that no more than six unrelated people will be resident in 
these units at any one time therefore the units are not classed as dwelling houses.  It 
will be finished in render with a metal roof cladding.  Volumetrically is a rectangle of 
traditional proportions.  There are three of these within the site. 

 

 Type B is a semi-detached house of which there are four of them.  They will form a 
pair with house type C.  Type B is a two bed four person property over a single level.   

 

 Type C forms the other half of the semi-detached range and is taller and narrower 
providing a variety in roof height.  This type also offers a timber porch on the front 
elevation.   

 

Ownership of the properties is split into the HMOs being retained by MOWI, the fish farm 
company, and the remainder by the Colonsay Community Development Company (CCDC).  
The proposal is a partnership approach by the fish farm operator and the community to address 
a long standing problem of a lack of housing on the island.  Both organisations intend to retain 
control of their units.  The finer method of this is yet to be determined but can be secured 
through suspensive planning conditions.  It is likely to take the form of MOWI retaining 

Page 135 Agenda Item 8



 

 

complete ownership of the HMOs with the CCDC likely offering a shared ownership scheme.  
Such an approach has been done in other remote island communities.   
 
The applicant is proposing an access perpendicular to the main road whilst the portion of the 
PDA to the east can still be accessed by the private road through the site.   Officers are satisfied 
that, in land use terms, the adjacent land can still be delivered.  It will be up to the relevant 
parties to agree the finer details of the access arrangements.  
 
Landscaping is minimal as is the character of the area but the dry stone walling will be retained 
to add a sense of place and a landscaping condition will be attached to any planning decisions 
to ensure some element of planting of trees and shrubs.     
 
The applicant intends to connect to public services.  However, the waste water will be dealt 
with by means of a private system and a surface water soakaway will process any run off.   
 
There have been no objections from consultees.  No objections from third parties.   
 
The Masterplan is considered in detail below.   

 
2.   RECOMMENDATION 
 

Officers consider that the components of the proposed Masterplan are compatible with the 
envisaged development of PDA 8/1 despite being a minor departure.  It is accepted that the 
Masterplan might require some refinement in some locations but this can be secured via the 
submission of planning applications.  It is considered that there is sufficient detail to assess 
the proposed development of the PDA and that it meets with the expectations and 
requirements of the LDP and technical working note on Masterplanning.  
 
It is therefore recommended that Members approve the current Masterplan submission as a 
minor departure to the provisions of the LDP.   

 

3.   ASSESSMENT 
 
PDA 8/1 at Scalasaig is designated in the adopted Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan 
(LDP) for a development of mixed density housing with a 25% affordable provision.   
 
PDAs are areas identified by the Council where they can contribute to economic development 
and environmental improvement and where a comprehensive approach to prospective 
development is warranted in order to avoid unplanned piecemeal development.   
 
PDAs are defined in the LDP as areas of land within which opportunities may emerge during 
the period of the LDP for infill, rounding off, redevelopment or new development.  Such 
opportunities, as were identified, were not fully resolved at the time of the adoption of the 
development plan, which requires constraints to be overcome in terms of the ‘mini development 
brief’ accompanying these PDAs before development opportunities within the PDA area can 
be realised and be supported by the LDP.  It is standard practice to require a Masterplan 
approach when considering development within such designated areas.  Masterplans help the 
Council assess at an early stage in the development process, the interrelationships of layout, 
design, access, existing transport infrastructure and sustainable modes of travel, landscape 
and ecology, open space provision and integration of a proposed development with existing 
communities.   
 
The Scottish Government most commonly refers to Masterplans as being ‘a plan that describes 
and maps an overall development concept, including present and future land use, urban design 
and landscaping, built form, infrastructure, circulation and service provision.  It is based upon 
an understanding of place and it is intended to provide a structured approach to creating a 
clear and consistent framework for development’ (PAN 83).  The Scottish Government 

Page 136



 

 

endorses the use of Masterplanning in general, but considers that it is especially useful for 
large sites and in areas / sites which are going to undergo substantial change, have multiple 
users, or are sensitive in environmental or landscape terms.     
 
The council’s Technical Working Note on Masterplanning requires a consultation period of a 
minimum of 21 days for public comment.  In this instance we have received no public comment.   
 
Should Members approve the submission the Masterplan will be regarded as a material 
consideration that will provide a context for deciding any future planning application within the 
masterplan area. It should be noted however, that all Masterplans are indicative and not 
prescriptive in nature. 
 

4. CONSULTATIONS  
 
Scottish Water, 12th March 2021 – No objection.   
 
Historic Environment Scotland 18th March 2021 – No comment to make.   
 
ABC Roads, 12th March 2021 – No objection subject to conditions to be attached to any future 
permission.   
 
ABC Environmental Health, 5th March 2021 – No objection subject to a condition relating to 
working hours being attached to any planning permission.   

 
ABC Biodiversity Officer, no response at time of writing this report but the applicant has 
provided a preliminary ecological report focusing specifically on the northern portion of the site 
which may offer some limited opportunity for corncrakes.   
 
ABC Education, No response 
 

5.   PUBLICITY 
 

The Masterplan was advertised in The Oban Times 18th March 2021, expiry date 8th April 
2021. 

 
6. REPRESENTATIONS  
 

None 
 
7. ASSESSMENT 

  
List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account in assessment of 
the masterplan. 

 
‘Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan’ Adopted March 2015  
 
LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our Environment 
LDP 5 –Supporting the Sustainable Growth of our Economy 
LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
 
Local Development Plan Schedule 
 

Page 137



 

 

‘Supplementary Guidance to the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 2015’ (Adopted March 2016) 
 
Natural Environment 
SG LDP ENV 1 – Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 7 – Water Quality and the Environment 
SG LDP ENV 10 – Geodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 11 – Protection of Soil and Peat Resources 
 
Landscape and Design 
SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape 
 
Historic Environment and Archaeology 
SG LDP ENV 20 – Impact on Sites of Archaeological Importance 
 
General Housing Development 
SG LDP HOU 1 – General Housing Development Including Affordable Housing Provision 
SG LDP HOU 2 – Special Needs Provision in Housing Developments 
 
Housing Greenspace 
SG LDP HOU 3 – Housing Green-Space 
 
Sustainable Siting and Design 
SG LDP Sustainable – Sustainable Siting and Design Principles 
 
Resources and Consumption 
SG LDP SERV 2 – Incorporation of Natural Features / SuDS 
SG LDP SERV 5(b) – Provision of Waste Storage & Collection Facilities within New 
Development 
 
Transport (Including Core Paths) 
SG LDP TRAN 4 – New & Existing, Public Roads & Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 6 – Vehicle Parking Provision 
 
List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in the assessment 
of the application, having due regard to Annex A of Circular 4/2009. 

 

 Scottish Planning Policy (SPP), 2014 

 Creating Places- A Policy Statement on Architecture and Place for Scotland 

 Designing Streets – A Policy Statement for Scotland  

 Planning History 

 A&B –Design Guide 

 A&B Technical Working Note: Masterplanning 

 Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultee Comments 

 The Argyll and Bute Proposed Local Development Plan (LDP2), November 2019 

A. Development Plan Context 
 

The Masterplan applies largely to land within the boundary of PDA 8/1 as defined in the 
adopted Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan 2015. The PDA proposals for this specific 
location are an expression of the Local Development Plan’s objectives for the site and 
advocate the development of a mixed density residential scheme. The LDP also requires a 
25% affordable housing component of the development.   
 
The proposal seeks to utilise only a portion of the site.  This is after discussion with officers 
and therefore is likely to fall short of the volume aspirations of the LDP.  However, it is important 
to consider site conditions and officers consider that the area to the north adjacent the public 

Page 138



 

 

road is best left undeveloped to retain the long distance views and setting of the two listed 
buildings nearby, the church and the hotel.  Equally, this area is boggy and acts as a natural 
SuDS basin.  Developing this area would require extensive engineering works making potential 
projects unviable.  The area in the north west corner provides some potential for limited 
Corncrake (crex crex) habitat.  It is currently not well utilised but opportunities exist for its 
enhancement.  The land to the east could be developed but has been retained by the Colonsay 
Estate.  They have been involved with the development of the Masterplan and attended 
meetings between officers and the CCDC.  There are no detailed proposals for this portion of 
land but the applicants’ proposals clearly show this portion of the PDA could be accessed 
through the site under consideration.  The applicant has demonstrated that their proposals will 
not sterilise this area and could be delivered by the land owner in future.  This is an approach 
that has been utilised elsewhere.  Phase two is not under consideration at this time.  It is an 
area of aspiration by the applicant who has been advised to pursue this extension to the PDA 
through the LDP process as opposed to development management.  Should the applicant wish 
to realise their ambition then they will need to do so under separate submission.   
 
Given officer advice to reduce the area available for development it has been accepted that 
some works could occur outwith the PDA boundary to facilitate the development and go some 
way to meeting community and LDP aspirations.  To this end some units are just outwith the 
PDA boundary.  Although this extension of the settlement boundary is not normally acceptable 
on this particular site it works well with the topography and natural features of the wider area.   
 
The proposal is considered a minor departure to the PDA designation but one that can be 
justified through housing need and design.   

 
B. Settlement Strategy 

 
Under Policy LDP DM 1 – Development Within the Development Management Zones  in minor 
settlements and villages such as Scalasaig, encouragement is given to development serving 
a local community of interest, including ‘medium scale’ development on appropriate infill, 
rounding-off and redevelopment sites.  Medium scale development is defined in the Local 
Development Plan as development of between 6 and 30 dwellings. In exceptional cases, ‘large 
scale’ development may be supported if it helps to counter population decline in the area, 
would help to deliver affordable housing, or else meet a particular local housing need. Large 
scale development is defined in the LDP as development exceeding 30 dwelling units.  
 
Under Policy SG LDP HOU 1 – General Housing Development Including Affordable Housing 
Provision, there is a general presumption against ‘large scale’ housing development in minor 
settlements.  Exceptions apply where there is a deliberate attempt to counter population 
decline, to develop affordable housing, or else meet a particular housing need. However, within 
PDA’s these constraints are removed and the issue becomes the assessment of the site based 
criteria. This proposal represents medium scale development.  There is, therefore, a general 
presumption in favour of this development in terms of the ‘Argyll & Bute Local Development 
Plan’. 

 
C. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

The Masterplan / PDA site is currently open grazing land with a gently undulating topography 
and no distinguishing geographical or topographical features. The site represents the southern 
part of the wider glen with the proposal seeking to mirror that on the northern side.  The 
masterplan area is bounded by substantial stone dyke walls and post and wire fencing.  The 
main road is to the north.   Immediately south the landform rises steeply providing a natural 
end point to the settlement.  To the east is the ferry terminal and some operational buildings 
including a café and information point.  The land rises to the west further enclosing the site.   
 
The Masterplan / PDA area is within the ownership of separate parties. The community own 
the section highlighted in red on the submitted plans whilst the estate retains the remainder.  

Page 139



 

 

There has been no objection from Colonsay Estate and they have been involved with the 
delivery of the Masterplan.    
 
The proposal is made up of six houses to be retained by the applicant, three self-build plots 
and three HMOs.  There are three house types with type forming a single detached unit and a 
further pair of semi-detached.  House types B and C form two pairs of semi-detached with a 
further semi-detached pair made up of type B.   

 

 Type A is a detached HMO with accommodation in the roof space offering three 
bedrooms. It will be finished in render with a metal roof cladding.  Volumetrically is a 
rectangle of traditional proportions.  There are three of these within the site. 

 

 Type B is a semi-detached house of which there are four of them.  They will form a 
pair with house type C.  Type B is a two bed four person property over a single level.   

 

 Type C forms the other half of the semi-detached range and is taller and narrower 
providing a variety in roof height.  This type also offers a timber porch on the front 
elevation.   

 

Ownership of the properties is split into the HMOs being retained by MOWI and the remainder 
by the Colonsay Community Development Company (CCDC).  The proposal is a partnership 
approach by the fish farm operator and the community to address a long standing problem of 
a lack of housing on the island.  Both organisations intend to retain control of their units.  The 
method of this is yet to be determined but can be secured through suspensive planning 
conditions.  It is likely to take the form of MOWI retaining complete ownership of the HMOs 
with the CCDC likely offering a shared ownership scheme.   
 
It is considered that there is no requirement for formal playspace provision as there is an 
existing play park within walking distance of the site and the wide open areas provide sufficient 
space for older children to explore.  Given the small community, quiet roads and access to an 
existing facility it is better to see the current playspace invested in rather than two spaces of a 
lower standard.  LDP policy SG LDP HOU 3 – Housing Green-Space requires that any 
residential development of 20 dwelling units or more are required to provide a minimum of 12 
square metres of casual play space per unit plus a minimum of 6 square metres of equipped 
children’s play space per unit. 
 
Supplementary Guidance SG LDP HOU 3 requires developers to provide casual open space  
and equipped children’s play space including provision for under 5 year olds for developments 
of 20 dwellings units or more.  
 
Housing numbers do not require this policy assessment but given the development is a large 
one for the island it is appropriate for officers to consider the ‘spirit’ of the policy.  Should phase 
two come forward then it is likely officers will seek some form of developer contribution for the 
nearby play park but such expectation for the current proposal development would not be 
reasonable in the face of the policy threshold.     

 
D. Natural Environment 
 

Policy SG LDP ENV 1 – Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity of the LDP states 
that development which impacts on wildlife sites or other nature conservation interests, 
including sites, habitats or species at risk will be assessed on its acceptability balanced with 
social and economic considerations.  It also notes that enhancements to nature conservation 
issues are encouraged.  There are no protected sites within the masterplan area. 
 
The Masterplan specifies that although there are no nature designations covering the site they 
are minded to undertaken pre-commencement walkover surveys for the presence of ground 

Page 140



 

 

nesting birds and other species.  Appropriate mitigation will be provided at that time and 
discussed with planning officers.   
 
A small section of the lower portion of the site does provide some limited opportunity for 
Corncrake (crex crex) but a survey report stated there is little chance for Corncrake to take up 
this option given the land to the north is far more suitable.  Planning conditions could secure 
walkover surveys of the site with a buffer zone to ensure do damage to breeding / nesting 
birds.   

 
E. Landscape Character 
 

The acceptability of the current proposal will be largely dependent on the successful integration 
of the development in its landscape context through design, layout and landscape planting. 
The proposal mirrors the development pattern on the northern side of the settlement with the 
land to the south and west rising creating a bowl effect and framing the proposals.  It is 
considered that it is a natural and logical extension to the settlement in landscape terms.    
 
It is important to retain as much of the existing stone dyke boundary walls as possible. These 
walls should be relocated where necessary and set back behind any access visibility splays. 
This retention/replacement can be secured by planning conditions attached to any future 
planning applications.   

 
F.     Historic Environment 
 

The West of Scotland Archaeology Service (WOSAS) have not commented on the Masterplan 
but have provided feedback on the associated planning application.  Given the overlap 
between the proposals it is appropriate for officers to consider their response.  The proposal 
lies in an area populated with recorded archaeological remains.   

 
Whilst there is no objection to the principle of development as indicated by this masterplan on 
grounds of material harm to the historic environment, WOSAS have strongly recommended 
that no planning permissions be granted until such time as a preliminary archaeological 
investigation has been carried out in order to assess the likelihood of the presence of buried 
remains within the masterplan area and in order to properly evaluate how any development 
might impact upon the archaeology of the area and how any such remains might be best 
preserved and/or recorded. 
 
A planning condition can be used to secure these works through the submission of planning 
applications.  The use of such a planning condition would require an archaeological evaluation 
of the site and afford an opportunity to properly record/remove any important remains, whilst 
not being a precursor to the granting of planning permission and thus allowing other works 
towards the provision of further phases of the development to proceed without undue delay. 

  
G. Affordable Housing  
 

The site is being brought forward through a partnership approach with the CCDC and MOWI.  
MOWI intend to take control of the HMOs and provide housing for those employed to work on 
their fish farm.  This will free up already overcrowded existing housing stock.  The CCDC will 
retain control of the remaining units and offer to those resident full time on the island.  The 
details of this mechanism has not been provided but can be secured as a suspensive planning 
condition to ensure the planning authority agree to the method of retention prior to the 
occupation of the housing.  It is likely that the mechanism will be one of shared ownership 
allowing CCDC to retain an element of control whilst assisting island residents to own their 
property.   
 
Given the public funding streams for this development and the lead role CCDC are taking it is 
not considered unreasonable to expect this information at a later date and a grant of permission 

Page 141



 

 

at this time to allow works to proceed given the tight project timescales.  However, the applicant 
has been reminded that this is an important element to the proposal and has been encouraged 
to submit these details sooner rather than later.   

 
H. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters. 
 

The masterplan shows the whole site being served via a single access point from the public 
road that runs along its northern boundary. This single access is included within the current 
planning application and aims to serve the remainder of the site.   
 
It is proposed to take an access point perpendicular from the public road.  This will then be to 
an adopted standard with a non-adopted standard serving the final units on the eastern side 
and potentially providing access beyond the site to allow the adjacent land owner to potentially 
meet their own aspirations.   
 
Adequate vehicle parking and turning will be provided to meet the Council’s required 
development standards. 
 
The council’s Area Roads Engineer has raised no objection subject to a set of conditions being 
attached to any future planning application approval.   
 

I. Water and Sewage Capacity. 
 

The proposed development of the Masterplan area will be served by the existing public water 
supply and the mains sewage system. Scottish Water have confirmed that there are currently 
no capacity constraints or off-site infrastructure issues that would prevent the development 
being brought forward in the manner proposed. 

    
J.     Conclusion 
 

PDAs are defined in the adopted LDP as areas of land within which opportunities may emerge 
during the period of the LDP (5 to 10 years) for infill, rounding-off, redevelopment or new 
development. Such opportunities as were identified were not fully resolved at the time of the 
adoption of the plan, which requires constraints to be overcome in terms of the ‘mini 
development brief’ accompanying these PDAs before development opportunities within the 
PDA area can be realised and be supported by the LDP. 
 
The Council supports developments that contribute to the economic vitality of the area. Both 
the Scottish Government and the Council places the delivery of sustainable economic growth 
as its number one objective.   
 
The Masterplan, whilst indicative, gives all interested parties and statutory consultees sufficient 
detail to assess the future development of the site. Assessed against Development Plan policy 
and other material considerations the components of the phased housing development 
scheme are considered to be compatible with PDA 8/1 and the potential constraints to 
development acknowledged within its accompanying schedule. As such the masterplan is 
considered fit for purpose. It is recommended that the masterplan be approved and endorsed 
as a material consideration in the assessment of any future planning applications on the site.    
 
As has been previously clarified. The proposed Masterplan is also in accordance with emerging 
LDP2 which is a material planning consideration at this time.  
 
 

 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 Policy:                         None 
 Financial:                    None 

Page 142



 

 

 Personnel:                  None 
 Equal opportunities:    None 

 
     Author of Report: David Love                     Date: 7/4/21 
     Reviewing Officer: Peter Bain                     Date: 7/4/21 

 
Fergus Murray 
Head of Development and Economic Growth 

 
 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Argyll and Bute Council 

Development & Economic Growth   
 

Delegated Planning Application Report and Report of Handling as required by 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2013 relative to applications for Planning Permission or 
Planning Permission in Principle 
 

 
Reference No: 21/00064/PP 
Planning Hierarchy: Local 
Applicant: Colonsay Community Development Company 
Proposal: Erection of 6 dwellinghouses and 3 houses of multiple occupation, 

formation of vehicular access and installation of sewage treatment 
system 

Site Address:  Land West Of Hazel Cottage, Scalasaig, Isle of Colonsay 
  

  
DECISION ROUTE 
 

Local Government Scotland Act 1973 (delete as appropriate) 
 

 
(A)  THE APPLICATION 
 

(i) Development Requiring Express Planning Permission 

 Erection of six dwelling houses; 

 Erection of three houses of multiple occupancy; 

 Formation of new vehicular access; 

 Installation of sewage treatment system 

 Change of use of land from improved grassland / agriculture to facilitate 
residential development 

 
(ii) Other specified operations 

 Installation of SuDS; 

 Hard and soft landscaping; 

 Connection to services 
 

 
(B) RECOMMENDATION: 
 

It is recommended that the application is approved as a minor departure subject to 
the conditions appended below. 
 

 
(C) CONSULTATIONS:   
 

 ABC Area Roads Engineer, 5th March 2021 – No objection subject to conditions.   
 
ABC Environmental Health, 19th March 2021 – No objection but requests a planning 
condition with respect to working hours during construction.   
 
Scottish Water, 16th Feb 2021 – No objection.   

Page 147 Agenda Item 9



 
West of Scotland Archaeology Service, 25th Feb 2021 – No objection subject to a 
planning condition.   
 

 
(D) HISTORY:   
 

21/00166/MPLAN – Associated Masterplan submission demonstrating the potential 
development of the wider PDA – pending determination.   

 

 
(E) PUBLICITY:   
 

 Regulation 20 advert expiry 18th March 2021 
 

 
(F) REPRESENTATIONS:   
 

(i) Representations received from: 
 

 None 
 

 
(G) SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Has the application been the subject of: 
 
(i) Environmental Statement: No  

  
(ii) An appropriate assessment under the 

Conservation (Natural Habitats) Regulations 
1994:    

No  

  
(iii) A design or design/access statement:    Yes 

  
(iv) A report on the impact of the proposed 

development eg. Retail impact, transport 
impact, noise impact, flood risk, drainage 
impact etc:   

Yes – Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment 
(PEA)   

  

 
(H) PLANNING OBLIGATIONS 
 

Is a Section 75 agreement required:   No  
  

 
(I) Has a Direction been issued by Scottish Ministers in terms of Regulation 30, 

31 or 32:  No 
  

  
(J) Section 25 of the Act; Development Plan and any other material considerations 

over and above those listed above which have been taken into account in the 
assessment of the application 

 

Page 148



(i)  List of all Development Plan Policy considerations taken into account 
in assessment of the application. 

 
 ‘Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan’ Adopted March 2015  
 
 LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
 LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
 LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our 
Environment 
 LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
 LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
 LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
 LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
 
Local Development Plan Schedules 
 
‘Supplementary Guidance to the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 2015’ (Adopted 
March 2016) 
 
Natural Environment 
 
SG LDP ENV 1 – Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity 
 
Landscape and Design 
 
SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape 

 
General Housing Development 
 
SG LDP HOU 1 – General Housing Development Including Affordable Housing 
Provision 
 
Housing Greenspace 
 
SG LDP HOU 3 – Housing Green-Space 
 
Departures from the Local Development Plan 
 
SG LDP DEP – Departures from the Local Development Plan 

 
Sustainable Siting and Design 
 
SG LDP Sustainable – Sustainable Siting and Design Principles 
 
Resources and Consumption 
 
SG LDP SERV 1 – Private Sewage Treatment Plants & Wastewater Systems 
SG LDP SERV 2 – Incorporation of Natural Features / SuDS 
SG LDP SERV 5(b) – Provision of Waste Storage & Collection Facilities within New 
Development 

 
Transport (Including Core Paths) 
 
SG LDP TRAN 4 – New & Existing, Public Roads & Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 6 – Vehicle Parking Provision 

Page 149



 
 

(ii)  List of all other material planning considerations taken into account in 
the assessment of the application, having due regard to Annex A of 
Circular 3/2013. 

 

 Scottish Planning Policy 

 ABC LDP 2, Proposed Nov 2019 

 Consultee comments 

 ABC Technical Working Note – Houses in Multiple Occupancy 
 

 
(K) Is the proposal a Schedule 2 Development not requiring an Environmental 

Impact Assessment:  No  
  

  
(L) Has the application been the subject of statutory pre-application consultation 

(PAC):  No 
 

 
(M) Has a sustainability check list been submitted:  No  
 

 
(N) Does the Council have an interest in the site:  No  
 

 
(O) Requirement for a hearing:  No  
  

  
(P) Assessment and summary of determining issues and material considerations 
 

 The application seeks to deliver the aspirations of the LDP and the community for 
PDA 8/1 at Scalasaig on the isle of Colonsay.  The submission consists of: 
 

 Erection of six dwelling houses; 

 Erection of three houses of multiple occupancy (proposals are for three bed 
properties therefore it is expected that no more than six unrelated people in 
the property.  Where six unrelated people share a house this is regarded in 
planning terms as an HMO and does not fall within Class 9 Houses). 

 Formation of new vehicular access; 

 Installation of sewage treatment system 

 Change of use of land from improved grassland / agriculture to facilitate 
residential development 

 
The community will retain ownership of the dwelling houses whilst MOWI will take 
control of the HMOs.  There are no formal details as to the arrangement to ensure 
the units remain available for permanent island residents or temporary staff but 
officers are satisfied that this can be conditioned.  This approach has been achieved 
elsewhere to support fragile rural populations.   
 
Scalasaig sits within a large glen running east to west.  The northern portion of the 
settlement has grown to include housing and commercial units.  The southern has 
been limited thus far to the ferry terminal.  This proposal seeks to balance the 

Page 150



development pattern by mirroring the northern side of the glen whilst keeping the 
floor clear of development. 
 
Officers have been in discussions with the applicant to ensure all material 
considerations have been addressed.  After initial site investigations large parts of 
the PDA were deemed inappropriate for development including that area adjacent 
the road.  This needs to be kept clear as part of the land offers some limited potential 
habitat opportunity for corncrake and ensures that views of the listed church and 
hotel remain uninterrupted.  This means that the houses need to be pushed back into 
the site but this ensures the development is back dropped by the steep rising 
southern side of the glen.   
 
There have been no objections from consultees.  Conditions are proposed for 
ecology, ownership, materials and access.  
 
There have been no third party comments and all land owners have been involved 
in discussions.  The proposal is subject to public funding and the work of the 
Colonsay Community Development Company.  Officers are keen to support the 
community aspirations especially when they will assist in addressing the decline of 
this fragile community.   

 

 
(Q) Is the proposal consistent with the Development Plan: No 
 

 
(R) Reasons why Planning Permission or Planning Permission in Principle Should 

be Granted: 
 

 The proposal is considered to be a minor departure to the policies LDP DM 1 and 
PDA 8/1 schedule of the Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan 2015.   
 
The application seeks to deliver the LDP aspirations of PDA 8/1 as well as much 
needed housing on the island for families and incoming / temporary workers.  The 
proposal is consistent with the provisions of the Masterplan recently endorsed by 
elected Members of the PPSL committee.  The application provides for an 
appropriate level of housing whilst taking a sensitive approach to design and layout 
ensuring minimal impact on the wider setting of the listed church and hotel buildings.  
In doing so however it does result in a minor departure to policy LDP DM 1.  This is 
considered acceptable given the topography, appropriate layout and community 
benefit.   
 
Appropriate access can be achieved and does not sterilise potential delivery of 
further housing within the PDA should the relevant land owner seek to make a 
submission.   

 
The application is otherwise consistent with the relevant provisions of the Local 
Development Plan and there are no material considerations that would warrant a 
negative decision.   

 

 
(S) Reasoned justification for a departure to the provisions of the Development 

Plan 
 

 The proposal by virtue of layout is acceptable is as a minor departure to policy LDP 
DM 1 insofar as the policy would not normally support the extension of a settlement 

Page 151



boundary.  However, given the limited land suitable for development within the PDA 
and the nature of the landscape officers consider it appropriate to allow for the minor 
departure given the aspirations of both the applicant and the planning authority with 
respect to the designation can be accommodated without adversely impacting on the 
character of the settlement.   

 

 
(T) Need for notification to Scottish Ministers or Historic Environment Scotland: 

No   
 

 
Author of Report: David Love Date: 30th March 2021 
 
Reviewing Officer: Peter Bain Date: 7th April 2021 
 
Fergus Murray 
Head of Development and Economic Growth 

 

  

Page 152



CONDITIONS AND REASONS RELATIVE TO APPLICATION REF. NO. 21/00064/PP 

 
1. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details specified on the 

application form dated 14/1/21 supporting information and, the approved drawings 
listed in the table below unless the prior written approval of the planning authority is 
obtained for an amendment to the approved details under Section 64 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997. 
 

Plan Title. Plan Ref. No. Version Date Received 

Location and Site 
Plan 

2035 PB01 B 18th January 2021 

Road Elevations 2035 PB08 A 18th January 2021 
Type A MOWI 
Housing 

2035 PB04 A 18th January 2021 

Type A MOWI 
Housing 

2035 PB05 A 18th January 2021 

Type B and C 
Houses 

2035 PB06 A 18th January 2021 

Type B Houses 2035 PB07 A 18th January 2021 
 
Reason: For the purpose of clarity, to ensure that the development is implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 

2. Pursuant to Condition 1. - no development shall commence until a scheme for the 
provision of affordable housing (as defined below) has been submitted to and 
approved by the Planning Authority. The scheme shall: 
 

a) Provide that a minimum of 25% of the approved dwellings are affordable 
homes;  

b) Define those properties to be used as affordable homes; 
c) Establish the timing of their provision relative to the phasing of the 

development, which shall ensure that the last 25% of the dwellings within the 
development are not commenced until the affordable housing phase has been 
completed for occupation; 

d) Establish the arrangements to ensure the affordability of the affordable homes 
for both initial and subsequent occupiers (including any discount rate 
applicable in terms of (ii) below); 
 

For the purposes of this condition ‘affordable homes’ are defined as being either: 
 

i) Social housing (rented or shared ownership or shared equity) managed by a 
registered social landlord (a body registered under part 3 chapter 1 of the 
Housing (Scotland) Act 2001, or any equivalent provision in the event of the 
revocation and re-enactment thereof, with or without modification); 

ii) Discounted low cost sale housing (subject to a burden under the Title 
Conditions (Scotland) Act 2003), or any equivalent provision in the event of the 
revocation and re-enactment thereof, with or without modification). 

iii) Housing for sale or rent without subsidy, which is designed to be affordable 
and to meet the housing needs of the majority of those households identified 
as in housing need in the Local Housing Strategy or Housing Market Study i.e. 
one or two person households on average income, with conditions attached to 
their missives to prevent further extension, thereby helping to ensure that they 
are likely to remain affordable to subsequent purchasers. 

 

Page 153



The development shall be implemented and occupied thereafter in accordance with 
the duly approved scheme for affordable housing.  
 
Reason:  To accord with the provisions of the development plan in respect of 
affordable housing provision. 
 

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 1, the details of the proposed access with 
the public road shall be agreed with the planning authority in consultation with the 
Roads Authority.  The access shall incorporate visibility splays of 75 metres to point X 
by 2.4 metres to point Y from the centre line of the proposed access and shall 
incorporate a bus bay. Prior to work starting on site the access hereby approved shall 
be formed to at least base course standard and the visibility splays shall be cleared of 
all obstructions such that nothing shall disrupt visibility from a point 1.05 metres above 
the access at point X to a point 0.6 metres above the public road carriageway at point 
Y. The final wearing surface on the access shall be completed prior to the development 
first being brought into use and the visibility splays shall be maintained clear of all 
obstructions thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 
 

4. Prior to the commencement of works the applicant shall submit all details of the parking 
and turning arrangements for the approval of the planning authority in consultation with 
the Roads Authority.  The works shall then be implemented as per the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the planning authority. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety.   
 

5. The applicant shall provide a replacement passing place, to be agreed with the Roads 
Authority, prior to the commencement of works.  Such details shall include location, 
construction details and timescale for delivery.  Once agreed the development shall 
implemented as per the approved details. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety.  
 

6. Prior to the occupation of the houses or the HMOs the applicant shall ensure 
pedestrian warning signs are installed between the junction to the development off the 
public road and the ferry terminal in location as agreed with the Roads Authority. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety.   
 

7. Notwithstanding the effect of Condition 1, no development shall commence until 
written details of the type and colour of materials to be used in the construction of the 
residential units have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be completed using the approved 
materials or such alternatives as may be agreed in writing with the Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to integrate the development into its surroundings. 
 

8. No development or other work shall be carried out on the site until a pre-
commencement survey for the presence of ground nesting and breeding birds has 
been carried out by an appropriately qualified person and has been submitted for the 
written approval of the Planning Authority. In circumstances where species of interest 
are identified as being present, or at risk from construction works, the survey shall 
further provide suggested avoidance and or mitigation measures, including timing 

Page 154



constraints, to address such presence or risk. The development shall be implemented 
in accordance with the measures identified in the duly approved scheme.  
 
Reason:, In order to establish that the circumstances of the site have not changed 
significantly between approval and implementation of the development for the purpose 
of protecting natural heritage assets in the interest of nature conservation 
 

9. No development or ground breaking works shall commence until a method statement 
for an archaeological written scheme of investigation has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with the West of Scotland 
Archaeology Service. 
 
The method statement shall be prepared by a suitably qualified person and shall 
provide for the recording, recovery and reporting of items of interest or finds within the 
application site.  
 
Thereafter the development shall be implemented in accordance with the duly 
approved details with the suitably qualified person being afforded access at all 
reasonable times during ground disturbance works. 
 
Reason: In order to protect archaeological resources.  

 
NOTE TO APPLICANT 
 

 The length of the permission: This planning permission will last only for three years 
from the date of this decision notice, unless the development has been started within 
that period [See section 58(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 
(as amended).] 
 

 In order to comply with Section 27A(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997, prior to works commencing on site it is the responsibility of the developer to 
complete and submit the attached ‘Notice of Initiation of Development’ to the Planning 
Authority specifying the date on which the development will start.  
 

 In order to comply with Section 27B(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 
1997 it is the responsibility of the developer to submit the attached ‘Notice of Completion’ 
to the Planning Authority specifying the date upon which the development was 
completed. 
 

 Detailed information on making a House in Multiple occupation licence application are 
available at hmo-gn-1_guidance_note_competion_of_application_hmo_licence.pdf 
(argyll-bute.gov.uk) 
 
 
 
 

 

  

Page 155

https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hmo-gn-1_guidance_note_competion_of_application_hmo_licence.pdf
https://www.argyll-bute.gov.uk/sites/default/files/hmo-gn-1_guidance_note_competion_of_application_hmo_licence.pdf


 
APPENDIX A – RELATIVE TO APPLICATION NUMBER: 21/00064/PP 
 
PLANNING LAND USE AND POLICY ASSESSMENT 
 
A. Settlement Strategy 
 

The site is largely located within the settlement boundary of the minor settlement of 
Scalasaig on the Isle of Colonsay within Potential Development Area (PDA) 8/1.  The 
PDA schedule within the LDP allocates this site for a mixed density housing site with 
25% affordable requirement.   
 
The proposal is largely within the PDA boundary with the exception of three houses 
and partially a fourth.  This is a result of ground investigation works.  The northern 
portion of the PDA is largely boggy and offers potential for corncrake habitat.  Equally, 
it forms a natural SuDS basin.  It is important to keep unimpeded views of the listed 
church and hotel to the west as you depart the ferry terminal.  With this in mind the 
proposal is considered a minor departure to policy LDP DM 1 and the PDA but can be 
considered acceptable on grounds of site specifics and landscape impacts.   
 
The proposal is considered a minor departure to policy LDP DM 1 and the PDA 
schedule reference 8/1.   

 
B. Location, Nature and Design of Proposed Development 
 

The site is located in the south of the settlement on an undeveloped location west of 
the ferry terminal.  The location mirrors the north side of the settlement.  Scalasaig 
cradles the main road with development north adjacent the foot of the rising topography 
whilst the land to the south tends to form a nucleus around the ferry terminal spreading 
south to where the land starts to rise.  This site would mirror the development pattern 
on the northern side of the settlement.  The application seeks to realise the ambitions 
of PDA 8/1 and to address some of the housing shortage on the island. 
 
The development forms a curve running north to east through south.  There will be two 
pairs of semi-detached houses on the northern side with two pairs of semi-detached 
and a single detached property on the southern.  All units will be accessed off a single 
road.   
 
The planning application is made up of six houses and three HMOs.  There are three 
house types with type A forming a single detached unit and a further pair of semi-
detached.  House types B and C form two pairs of semi-detached with a further semi-
detached pair made up of type B.   
 

 Type A is a detached HMO with accommodation in the roof space offering three 
bedrooms. It will be finished in render with a metal roof cladding.  Volumetrically 
is a rectangle of traditional proportions.  There are three of these within the site. 

 

 Type B is a semi-detached house of which there are four of them.  They will 
form a pair with house type C.  Type B is a two bed four person property over 
a single level.   

 

 Type C forms the other half of the semi-detached range and is taller and 
narrower providing a variety in roof height.  This type also offers a timber porch 
on the front elevation.   

Page 156



 
Garden space is provided around and to the rear of each property with parking to the 
side of each property.   
 
In terms of design the site follows the general contours of the rising ground to the 
south.  The development avoids areas that offer the most natural benefit such as that 
to the northern edge adjacent the road.  This is a natural SuDS basin and offers some 
limited scope of corncrake habitat.  Regardless it is not prime development area so 
best avoided.  It is important to maintain views along the glen floor from the ferry 
terminal to the listed buildings of the church and hotel to the east west.  By avoiding 
the lower portion of the PDA this allows these views to be maintained and the area 
allowed to function as a surface water basin.  This means that part of the PDA is not 
developable.  Officers consider the minor deviation from the settlement boundary to be 
appropriate on the grounds that it forms a sensible rounding off within the landscape 
character and realises the ambitions of the PDA and the community in an 
environmentally sensitive manner.   
 
The eastern portion of the PDA does not form part of this application and remains in 
the ownership of the estate.  The road layout allows for future access into this area.  
Currently on Colonsay up to ten dwelling are permissible off a private road.  In this 
regard the adjacent site could be served by a lesser standard of access.  Regardless 
there is sufficient room to allow an upgrade is this was required at a later date.   
 
The proposal is considered an acceptable minor departure to policies LDP DM 
1, LDP 9, SG LDP HOU 1 and SG LDP Sustainable.   

 
C. Natural Environment 
 

The applicant has submitted a preliminary ecological assessment report with the 
application. This identified several habitat types and species but nothing of great note.  
Habitat types are summarised below: 
 

 Scattered scrub  

 Unimproved acid grassland  

 Unimproved neutral grassland  

 Marshy grassland  

 Marshy grassland/Scattered bracken mosaic  

 Continuous bracken  

 Acid flush  

 Basic flush  

 Running water  

 Boundary (wall/fence)  

 Fence and wall (boundary).  
  
The report does specifically say there are iris beds that are important for corncrakes, 
although these areas are sparse and patchy.  There was no evidence of corncrake use 
on site. 
 
Although there are limited findings of mammals and birds on the site it is still 
recommended that a pre-commencement condition requires a walkover survey to be 
undertaken during the bird breeding season for nesting birds and for mammals.  The 
lower portion of the PDA, outwith the application site, does provide some potential for 
limited Corncrake (crex crex) habitat.  However, an ecology survey identified very 

Page 157



limited potential as there is far more suitable and extensive habitat to the north and the 
birds are unlikely to venture over the road to this portion which is of lesser quality.   
 
Considering the above the proposal is consistent with the provisions of policies 
LDP 3, SG LDP ENV 1 and the Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP).    
 

D. Built Environment 
 

The site is bare of development but has been extensively grazed and there is evidence 
of field boundaries including post and wire fencing and a dry stone dyke.  The nearest 
existing development is to the east where there a range of operational buildings 
including a café.   
 
On the opposite side of the glen a near mirror image development cluster exists.  The 
proposal seeks to bring forward the southern side of the glen in a manner consistent 
with the development pattern established to the north.   
 
It is not expected that the proposal will have an adverse impact on existing built 
environment.   

  
E. Historic Environment 
  

 There are no scheduled ancient monuments (SAMs) or listed buildings on the site.  
However, the area is well known for archaeological finds and this regard WoSAS has 
requested a planning condition for a written scheme of investigation (WSI).   
 
There are two listed buildings to the west.  Their setting has been protected by the 
developer not utilising the land adjacent the land and maintaining the views up the glen 
from the ferry terminal.   
 
The application is considered consistent with the provisions of policies LDP 3, 
SG LDP ENV 16(a) and SG LDP ENV 20.   

 
F. Landscape Character 
 

The site forms part of the Island Mixed Farmland landscape character type.  Its key 
characteristics are summarised below: 
 

 Undulating, uneven landform with rocky outcrops on the lower margins of the 
upland moor. 

 Indented rocky coastline with some small sandy bays. 

 Diverse patchy mix of moorland, grassland, peaty marsh and woodland. 

 Typically geometric fields, divided by broken stone walls on upper slopes and 
wire fences or straight drainage ditches on the glen floor. 

 Some conifer plantations and deciduous woodland associated with larger farms 
and estates on sheltered glen slopes. 

 Many scattered small settlements and isolated farms and cottages. 

 Archaeological sites. 
 
The proposal seeks to keep the steep rising land as a backdrop to the houses and 
essentially allows the tops of the glen to frame the settlement.   
 
It is considered that the proposal is consistent with the provisions of policies 
LDP 3 and SG LDP ENV 14.   

Page 158



 
G. Affordable Housing 

 
Policy LDP DM 1 requires those developments of eight or more units to provide for 
25% affordable housing provision.  The PDA schedule also requires a provision of 
affordable units.  To this end the six housing units detailed in this submission will be 
retained and managed by the CDCC.  The mechanism for maintaining these units for 
community use into the long term is yet to be finalised but examples of similar 
proposals exist in other such remote communities and this proposal follows an 
established model.  A planning condition requires the details of the affordable housing 
mechanism prior to the commencement of works.   
 
The proposal is considered consistent with the provisions of the affordable 
housing requirements of policy SG LDP HOU 1.   

  
H. Road Network, Parking and Associated Transport Matters 
 

The access will be taken from the B8086 public road that serves the island in a loop 
road.  It is proposed that the access from the road to the edge of the housing 
development will be built to adopted standards with the first five units being served by 
this.  A non-adoptable road will then serve the final four units.  It is clear from the plans 
that the land to the east could be accessed from this non-adopted road should the 
landowner wish to bring this forward for development in the future.  It is understood 
that the land beyond the access road cannot be used as a ransom strip as part of the 
land deal.  Furthermore the applicant has demonstrated an aspiration for further 
development to the west and the road layout allows for this to be brought forward at a 
future date.   
 
There is sufficient room at each plot for car parking commensurate with the size of 
each property.   
 
The Area Roads Engineer has not raised any objection to this proposal subject to 
conditions.  There are no concerns from the planning authority in this respect. 
 
The application is consistent with the provisions of policies LDP 11, SG LDP 
TRAN 4 and SG LDP TRAN 6.   

 
I. Infrastructure 
 

There are a number of electricity lines crossing the site therefore these will need to be 
re-routed as appropriate.  The applicant intends to install a private sewage treatment 
system in the north eastern portion of the site with associated soakaway.  Otherwise 
the proposal will connect to public utilities.   

 

 

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                 Argyll and Bute Council 
 Development and Economic Growth   

 
 
PROPOSAL OF APPLICATION NOTICE  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
  
Reference: 21/00448/PAN 

Applicant: Ardfin Estate Ltd, C/O 5 Atholl Crescent, Edinburgh 
 
Proposal: Proposal of Application Notice for the formation of new private pitch and putt 
 
Site Address:  Ardfin Estate, Jura House, Craighouse, Isle of Jura 
 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

A proposal of application notice (PAN) has been submitted for an additional leisure offering 
at the Ardfin Golf Course on Jura which will provide pitch and putt facilities for guests and 
their families.  The PAN is required as a result of the proposal qualifying as a major 
application through the Town and Country Planning (Hierarchy of Development) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2009.   
 
The normal expectation of planning officers would be for a consultation process involving 
face to face meetings with local stakeholder groups and an open event for members of 
the public.  The current COVID-19 pandemic and rules on social distancing has meant 
that a public meeting and ‘drop in’ session has not been possible.  However, the Scottish 
Government has introduced flexibility to the method of public consultation through the 
Chief Planner’s letter dated 3rd April 2020 and updated 29th May 2020.  This 
correspondence accepted the difficulties with respect to public gatherings but still placed 
the onus on the applicant to conduct stakeholder consultation.  In this regard the applicant 
set up a meeting using the Zoom platform on 16th March 2021. Details of this were 
advertised in the Oban Times and Jura Jottings, the adverts placed at least 7 days before 
the event on the 25th and 27th February 2021 respectively. The session which was 
attended by one respondent included a question and answer session.   
 
There are no relevant neighbouring properties which are not under the ownership and/or 
control of the applicant.  
 
Officers consider that the proposed measures meet with the requirements as set out in 
Scottish Government Circular 5/2009 taking account of the aforementioned Chief 
Planner’s letter.   

 
2.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 
 

The site is located in the south of the island along the A846 which serves the communities 
of Jura from the Feolin Ferry to Lussagiven. The proposed location of the pitch and putt is 
to the north of the golf course and west of the club buildings.  
 

Page 163 Agenda Item 10



The site extends to an area of around 4.5 hectares and is bounded to the north by the 
A846 and 350m south by the raised beaches of the approaches to the Sound of Islay. The 
proposed site is at around 50m on moderately sloping land. Access will be afforded via 
the existing infrastructure at Ardfin.    
 
The site is characterised by grazing land with no peat depth and sits between higher 
ground at around 80m within a 1.5km arc around the site.  

 
3.0 DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 
 

These submissions are not planning applications and therefore do not require to be 
evaluated and determined in accordance with Section 25 of the Planning Act against the 
Development Plan and its policies at this stage. In considering the merits of the PAN a 
number of Development Plan Policies will inform the assessment of any future detailed 
application as set out below: 

 
‘Argyll and Bute Local Development Plan’ Adopted March 2015  
 
LDP STRAT 1 – Sustainable Development 
LDP DM 1 – Development within the Development Management Zones 
LDP 3 – Supporting the Protection Conservation and Enhancement of our Environment 
LDP 5 –Supporting the Sustainable Growth of our Economy 
LDP 8 – Supporting the Strength of our Communities 
LDP 9 – Development Setting, Layout and Design 
LDP 10 – Maximising our Resources and Reducing our Consumption 
LDP 11 – Improving our Connectivity and Infrastructure 
 
‘Supplementary Guidance to the Argyll and Bute Local Plan 2015’ (Adopted March 
2016) 
  
Natural Environment 
SG LDP ENV 1 – Impact on Habitats, Species and our Biodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 6 – Impact on Trees / Woodland 
SG LDP ENV 7 – Water Quality and the Environment 
SG LDP ENV 10 – Geodiversity 
SG LDP ENV 11 – Protection of Soil and Peat Resources 
 
Landscape and Design 
SG LDP ENV 12 – Impact on National Scenic Areas (NSAs) 
SG LDP ENV 14 – Landscape 
SG LDP ACE 1 – Area Capacity Evaluation (ACE) 
 
Historic Environment and Archaeology 
SG LDP ENV 20 – Impact on Sites of Archaeological Importance 
 
Support for Business & Industry: General 
SG LDP BUS 2 – Business & Industry Proposals in the Countryside Zones 
SG LDP BUS 5 – Economically Fragile Areas 

 
Sustainable Siting and Design 
SG LDP Sustainable – Sustainable Siting and Design Principles 

Page 164



 
Resources and Consumption 
SG LDP SERV 1 – Private Sewage Treatment Plants & Wastewater Systems 
SG LDP SERV 2 – Incorporation of Natural Features / SuDS 
SG LDP SERV 3 – Drainage Impact Assessment 
SG LDP SERV 5(b) – Provision of Waste Storage & Collection Facilities within New 
Development 
SG LDP SERV 6 – Private Water Supplies and Water Conservation 
 
Addressing Climate Change 
SG LDP Sust Check – Sustainability Checklist 
 
Transport (Including Core Paths) 
SG LDP TRAN 4 – New & Existing, Public Roads & Private Access Regimes 
SG LDP TRAN 6 – Vehicle Parking Provision 

 
4.0 POTENTIAL MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

In addition to the adopted Local Development Plan (March 2015) the planning authority 
will need to consider the following potential material considerations.  Furthermore, 
depending on the timing of the submission there may need to be a formal assessment 
against the policies proposed within LDP 2.    

 

 Scottish Planning Policy 

 Planning history 

 Statutory and non-statutory consultee responses 

 Potential third party representations that raise material planning considerations 

 Local Development Plan 2 Proposed November 2019 
 

5.0 CONCLUSION 
 

This report sets out the information submitted to date as part of the PAN. The policy 
considerations, against which any future planning application will be considered as well 
as potential material considerations are noted above. The list is not exhaustive and further 
matters may arise as and when any planning application is received, and in the light of 
public representations and consultation responses.  

 
6.0  RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that Members have regard to the content of the report and submissions 
and provide such feedback as they consider appropriate in respect of the PAN to allow 
any matters to be considered by the applicant in finalising any future planning application.  

 
Author of Report: Derek Wilson    Date: 23rd March 2021  
 
Reviewing Officer: David Love     Date: 31st March 2021 

 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at 11.00 am
	3b Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at 2.00 pm
	3c Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at 2.30 pm
	3d Planning, Protective Services and Licensing Committee 17 March 2021 at 3.00 pm
	4 PEARSON PROPERTY PROMOTIONS LIMITED: SITE FOR THE ERECTION OF OFFICE DEVELOPMENT (CLASS 4) AND PUBLIC HOUSE (SUI GENERIS)/FOOD AND DRINK (CLASS 3) WITH ACCESS AND ASSOCIATED WORKS: LAND TO THE NORTH AND WEST OF IONA STABLES, CARDROSS (REF: 20/00911/PPP)
	Appendix B - Iona Stables Appropriate Assessment
	Location Plan 2000911

	5 ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL: EXTENSION TO EXISTING CAR MARSHALLING AREA AND FORMATION OF VEHICULAR ACCESS: LAND NORTH WEST OF THE PIER, CRAIGNURE, ISLE OF MULL (REF: 20/00940/PP)
	Location Plan 2000940

	6 MACLEOD CONSTRUCTION LIMITED: NORTH EASTERN EXTENSION TO EXISTING SAND AND GRAVEL QUARRY, KILMARTIN QUARRY, KILMARTIN (REF: 20/01794/MIN)
	Location Plan 2001794MIN

	7 CLACHAN VILLAGE HALL COMMITTEE: ALTERATIONS AND CHANGE OF USE OF DWELLINGHOUSE TO FORM COMMUNITY HUB: ACHNAHA, CLACHAN, TARBERT (REF: 20/02353/PP)
	Location Plan 2002353PP

	8 COLONSAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY: MASTERPLAN TO PDA 8/1 FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT AS IDENTIFIED IN THE ADOPTED ARGYLL AND BUTE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN: LAND WEST OF HAZEL COTTAGE, SCALASAIG, ISLE OF COLONSAY (REF: 21/00166/MPLAN)
	Location Plan 2100166MPLAN

	9 COLONSAY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY: ERECTION OF 6 DWELLINGHOUSES AND 3 HOUSES OF MULTIPLE OCCUPATION, FORMATION OF VEHICULAR ACCESS AND INSTALLATION OF SEWAGE TREATMENT SYSTEM: LAND WEST OF HAZEL COTTAGE, SCALASAIG, ISLE OF COLONSAY (REF: 21/00064/PP)
	Location Plan 2100064PP

	10 ARDFIN ESTATE LTD: PROPOSAL OF APPLICATION NOTICE FOR THE FORMATION OF A NEW PRIVATE PITCH PUTT: ARDFIN ESTATE, JURA HOUSE, CRAIGHOUSE, ISLE OF JURA (REF: 21/00448/PAN)
	Location Plan 2100448PAN


